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brought into Italy by Demaratus about
GOO years before the Christian era. The
material of the Nolan vase is a pale yel-
low clay; the figures are painted in
maroon, some of the accessories are
marked with a crimson pigment, the in-
ner markings and details being frequent-
ly picked out with the point of a graver.
Nola has also enriched the cabinets
of numismatists with an immensequan-
tity of coins, most of which bear the
epigraph NQAAIQN, a sufficient proof
that the city was founded by a Greek
colony. In the 5th century Nela be-
came celebrated for the discovery of
church bells, which are said by Poly-
dore Vergil and others to have- been
invented by Paulinus, bishop of the
city. From this circumstance the church
bell is supposed to have acquired the
names of Nolzand Campane in low La-
tinity, the latter derived of course from
the province of Campania, in which
the city is situated. We must not
omit to record that Nola was the birth-
place of Giordano Bruno, the Domeni-
can philosopher, who fled to England
after he had become dissatisfied with
his own church, and afterwards to
Helmstadt, where he was protected by
the Duke of Brunswick. On his return
to Italy he was arrested at Padua,
and burnt at the stake at Rome, in
1600, on the charge of heresy and
atheism. Two of his works, including
his very rare Satire on Mythology,
entitled ““ Spaccio della Bestia Trion-
fante,” were dedicated to Sir Philip
Sidney,

VESUVIUS.

The ascent of Vesuvius is usually
commenced from Resina, the village
which adjoins Portici on the east ; but
on somé occasions, when the lava takes
the course of the Bosco Reale, asit did
in the great eruption of 1850, the as-
cent from Torre dell' Annunziata is
preferred, as affording a finer view of
the current. Resina is about 5 miles
from Naples. The traveller may pro-
ceed to it either by the railway or by
a private carriage. The latter is the
best mode, as the railway station at

EXCURSIONS FROM NAPLES.— VESUVIUS.

Sect. 1.

Resina is inconveniently situated at a
distance from the town, and is infested
by self-called guides, pretended mineralk
dealers, and padroni of horses and
mules, who are most importunate in
their offers of services, which are too
frequently both dear and worthless.
A carriage with two horses will convey
the traveller from Naples to Resina, for
6 carlini, in less than an hour. At
Resina there are several guides who
let horses and chairs for ‘the ascent ;
but, to avoid imposition, the traveller
should endeavour to secure the services
of Vincenzo Gozzolino, the only guide
who has any scientific knowledge of the
mountain, and who has had the advan-
tage of attending Baron Humboldt, M.
Von Buch, M. Abich, Dr. Daubeny,
Professor Forbes, and most of the other
geologists of our time. In fact, his qua-
lifications are so well known that there
are numerous imposters ready to per- <
sonify him, and the only way to avoid

this deception is to go direct to his 2

residence in the main street of Resina,
or to write before-hand to secure him.
His charges are 12 carlini for himself;

4 carlini for each horse or donkey, 20
carlini for a carriage to convey the <

party to the Hermitage of S, Salvatore,
to which there is an excellent road of
recent construction, and 30 carlini for a
portantina with 12 bearers to ascend the
cone, —the latter however is required
only for delicate ladies and invalids.
A great coat or cloak, and a warm
neckerchief, to put on as soon as the
ascent is made, a strong walking stick,
and stout boots, may be mentioned as
the desiderata of the excursion. It is
no longer necessary to take provisions
from Naples on ordinary occasions, as
supplies may always be had at the
Hermitage, or from the people of Re-
sina who follow parties with baskets'
of bread, e, wine, and fruit, on the ™
chance of finding customers. It is -
different, however, during an eruption,
when hundreds of people besiege the
Hermitage, clamorous for refreshment.
At such a time each party should
take its supplies from Naples. When
a stream of lava is rolling slowly down
the mountain, the kettle is boiled on

oy
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¢ its crevices.  Coins also are usually

dropped into the lava, which is then
detached fromn the mass and preserved
as a reminiscence.

The drive from Resina to the Her-
mitage occupies about 2 hours. From
that point we proceed on horses or
donkeys for about half an hour further
to the depression between Monte
Somma and Vesuvius, known as the
“ Atrio del Cavallo,” whence the ascent
of the cone must be performed on
foot. This ascent over the loose scoriz
generally occupies about an hour, va.
rying of course with the state of the
cone. At times it is necessary for the
guides to assist the traveller, which
they do by strapping a long leathern
belt round his waist, and pulling him
up the steep incline by main force.

Vzsuvius, the 7o opov Obecoliov of
Strabo, the Vesévus of the Romans,
though one of the smallest, has been
for many centuries one of the most
active volcanos in the world. It is
situated in the great plain of Cam-
pania, about midway between the Se-
beto and the Sarno, and is surrounded
on all sides, except the west and south
by tai of Ap
On the west it is open to the plain of
Naples, on the south its base is washed
by the Mediterranean. It is about 30
miles in its extreme -circumference.
‘Within this circuit the mountain rises
by a gentle elevation to what is called
the first plain, which is about halfa mile
above the level of the sea and about
5 miles in diameter. This plain is
the basis of Monte Somma, or as it
was called in the last century, Monte
Vecchio. Punta Nasone, the highest
point of Monte Somma, according to
Baron Humboldt's- barometric mea-
surement, is 3747 feet above the sea.
Monte Somma extends for about 2 miles
in an irregular icircle d the
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20 years it has varied from 4200 ta
3400 feet,

For more than 300 years Vesuvius
has been the only crater among the
volcanic group of the Bay of Naples
which has been in active eruption.
That group includes Ischia, Procida,
the Solfatara district, Monte Nuovo,
and Vesuvius; in connection with
which we may mention the extinct in-
land craters of Rocca Monfina, Monte
Volture, and the Pool of Amsanctus
which liesin a directline between Monte
Volture and Vesuvius. Before the
Christian era, Ischia and the Solfatara
appear to have been the most recent
safety valves for the whole district of
Southern Italy ; for although AEtna is
known to have been in eruption nearly
500 years before the birth of Christ,
Ischia and the Solfatara are the only
Italian craters which are mentioned
as having been active within the period
of recorded history, until Vesuvius re-
kindled its long dormant fires in the
reign of Titus. Having mentioned
Z/Etna, we may here remark, in refer-
ence to the volcanic group of the island
of Sicily, that Stromboli, 'the most
northern of the Lipari islands, is the
only permanently active volcano in
Europe, and has been so from a period
so far beyond historical record that the
Greek poets called it “the lighthouse
of the TyrrheneBea.” It lies about 70
miles north of Atna, about 120 miles
S.E. of Vesuvius, and about the same
distance S.W. of the extinct volcano
of Monte Volture, between which
and /tna it lies almost in a direct
line.” Volcano, the most southern of
the Liparis, is a semi-extinct erater,
which has not been in eruption within
the historic period, but is still active
in the production of boracic acid, se-
lenium, and sulphur. As Vesuvius
belongs to the class of intermittent

north and east of what is now called
Vesuvius, the two mountains being
separated by the deep semicircular
valley called the Atrio del Cavallo. The
height of Vesuvius itself varies with
the condition of the cone after the
eruptions have ceased ; during the last

, we shall not further allude
to Stromboli ; but we shall have con-
stant occasion to refer to /Etna, as
illustrating the alternate action of the
group of the Two Sicilies.

To understand thoroughly the geo-
logical structure of Vesuvius, and to
comprehend the varied phenomena of
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its eruptions, there is no mode so
effectual as to trace the changes it has
undergone at each eruption, and in the
iutervals of its activity. Those who
would study the subject on the spot
will still find many of the ancient lavas,
the dates of which are perfectly ascer-
tained ; and those who are fortunate
enough to visit Naples while an erup-
tion is in progress will compare, with
lively i t, the phenor they
may witness with the details of those
which former observers have recorded.
In fact, these details are thle bes:fu‘:d
surest exponents of the geology of the
mountainl:o We shall proceed therefore
to collect into a connected narrative, as
briefly as the subject ‘will allm‘v. such
details of the ve eruptions as
have been recorded by the t his~
torians, and by the contemporary ob-
servers of later times. By this means
we shall be able to take a general view
of the volcanic action of the whole
district, and so obviate the necessity of
repetition hereafter. .
Before the time of Titus, Vesuvius
showed no signs of activity during the
historic period, though several writers
of the Augustan age, as we shall have
occasion to show, were aware of its

danlt
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the present Monte Somma, from (i
Somman, “the obscure,” or ““the shady ;"
and that of Stabia, from N Seteph
or Sheteph, «the overflow,” or the in-
undated,” a root from which, in Mar-
torelli’s opinion, the Italians have also
obtained the words “stufa” and “stufa-
jolo.”  From this early period, down
to the establishment of the Roman do-
mination in Campania Felix, the moun-
tain appears to have been known as
the Mons Summanus, and to have been
crowned by a temple appropriately
dedicated to Jupiter Tonans. In the
“ Syntagma Inscriptionum " of Reine-
sius, and in the Benedictine * Expli-
cation des divers Monumens ” will be
found inscriptions to “ Jupiter Sum-
maunus;” that given by Reinesius com-
mences “Jovi. O. M. Summano. Ex-
svperantissimo ;” and Zedler, in his
great Lexicon, mentions that an in-
scription was found in the last century
at Capua, with the words “ Jovi Vesurio
sacrum, D.D.” The classical scholar
will be reminded by these facts of a
beautiful passage in the “De Divina-
tione” of Cicero (r 10), which our
space will not allow us to quote.

The ancient geographers recognised
the volcanic ck r of Vesuvius from

volcanic origin. There is no y
however, tlugt it was active both before
and after the Pheenician colonisation,
for there is scarcely sm ancient site in
its vicinity which does not bear a
Pheenician name having reference to
fire. [t appears indeed that that won-
derful people, in all their colonies in
Southern Italy, as in our own county
of Cornwall, conferred upon the rivers,
the mountains, the headlands, and the
cities which they founded, names ap-
propriately expressive of some local
peculiarity. Thus the name of Vesu.
vius itself was derived from the Syriac
2'2% 13 Vo Seveer, the place of flame;
or, more literally, “in it, ame:” the
name of Herculaneum from nmn
Horoh Kalie, “pregnant with fire;”
that of Pompeii from 71'D DI Pum
Peeah, “the mouth of aburning fur-
nace;” that of Summanus, one of the
surnames of Jupiter, perpetuated by

the analogy of its structure to that of
ZEton, which several of them had ex-
amined. Their descriptions, therefore,
though brief and often incidental, sup-
Ply us with some instructive facts
which will materially aid us in tracing
the history of the mountain. Diodorus
Siculus, who wrote in the reign of
Julius Caesar, was the first writer who
described Vesuvius as volcanic. Barn
at Agyrium, on the very flanks of
ZEtna, he must from his earliest youth
have been acquainted with the pheno-
mena of volcanos, especially as that
mountain was twice active during the
period in which he flourished. On
examining Vesuvius, therefore, he found,
as he tells us, many signs that it had
been active in ancient times. Vitru-
vius, who lived in the reiga of Augus-
tus, mentions that a tradition was cur-
rent in his day that the mountain had
emitted flames.  Strabo, who wrote a



Naples.

few years later, describes it as having a
truncated cone, for the most part flat,
but with a barren and ashy aspect,
“ having cavernous hollows in its cine-
ritious rocks, which look as if they
had been acted on by fire." From
these observations he inferred that the
mountain had formerly been a volcano,
with “craters of fire” which had be-
come extinct from a failure of their
materials. Seneca, who wrote in the
time of Nero, almost repeated this
opinion in the remark that Vesuvius jn
former times had given out more than
its own volume of matter, and had fur-
nished the channel, not the food, of the
internal fire ; “in ipso monte non ali-
mentum habet sed viam.” Plutarch,
in his Life of Crassus, written in the
time of Trajan, describes Spartacus and
his gladiators &s having encamped in
the crater and succeeded in escuping
over the flanks of the mountain when
they were besieged there by the Ro-
man army under Clodius. In this
description he incidentally supplies us
with an interesting aceount of the con-
dition of the mountain at that period.
He states that the rocky concave basin
on the sammit, which Strabo had de-
scribed as nearly flat at the bottom, was
completely filled with wild vines, and
that it was accessible only by one very
steep and narrow passage on the side
opposite to Naples. When Spartacus
and his followers had entered this pass
and encamped in the plain of the crater,
Clodius besieged him in bis retreat by
occupying the pass and catting off, as
he supposed, the only means of escape.
The gladiators, however, made ladders
of the vine boughs,  like ship-ladders,
of such a length and so strong that
they reached from the top of the hill
to the very bottom. With these they
all descended except one, who remain-
ed to throw down their armour to his
companions and then descended him.
self, last of all. The Romans having no
suspicion of this movement, were as-
sailed in the rear by the gladiators who
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had marched round the mountain, and
were put to flight with the loss of
their whole camp.”

From these facts it is certain, inde- |
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pendently of geological evidence, that
Monte Somma, which now forms the
northern peak of the mountain, was a

{ part of the wall of the original crater,

lled

and that the valley,
the Atrio del Cavallo, which intervenes
between it and the present cone of
Vesuvius, is the remains of the pass
by which Spartacus penetrated into the
interior. In fact, the most cursory
examination of the crest of rocks com-
prising Moote Somma is sufficient to
show that it is the segment of a circle:
and it has been proved by careful mea-
surements that this circle, if continued
d the , would includ
the whole of Vesuvius within its ares,
and give a centre which corresponds
exactly with the site of its cone. Monte
Somma, therefore, and the mountain
of which it formed a part, was the Ve-
suvius described by the ancient geo-
graphers from the reign of Casar to
that of Trajan. At that time, as we
have already remarked, its flanks were
covered with luxuriant vegetation,
and Pompeii and Herculaneum were
flourishing cities at its base, though
they were built on streams of lava
which had flowed from the mountain
at some former, but unrecorded period.
“ Talem dives arat Capua, et vicina Vesevo
jugo, et vacats Clanius mon equus
Acerris. Vi86. Georg. il. 224.
In the 63rd year of our era, during
the reign of Nero, the mountain began
for the tirst time to give signs that the
volcanic fire was returning to its an-
cient channel. On the 5th February
the whole plain of the Sarno was con-
vulsed by an earthquake which did
great damage to all the cities in its
neighbourhood, and, as Sencea records,
threw down a considerable part of
Pompeii and Herculaneum. In the
following year another earthquake oc-
curred, which injured Naples and
threw down the theatre which Nero,
who had been acting on its boards,
had left only a few minutes before.
These earthquakes, which were the
precursors of the greatest event in the
history of the mountain, continued at
intervals for 16 years.
1. The 1st eruption occurred on the
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24th August in the year 79, during ! stances, he proceeded to Stabix, where

the reign of Titus, It is memorable
not only as the eruption which de-
stroyed Pompeii and Herculaneum,and
caused the death of Pliny the naturalist
at Stabis, but also as having had the
good fortune to have his , the

he perished during the night in the
house of his friend Pomponianus, as
we have already mentioned in our ac-

| count of Castellammare. (P. 222.) In

the second letter, Pliny describes more
minutely the phenomena which at-

younger Pliny, for its bistorian. In
his two well-known letters to Taci-
tus, describing the death of his uncle,
Pliny says, that about one in the after-
noon his mother called the attention
of his uncle, who was then stationed
with the Roman fleet at Misenum, to
a cloud (of vapour) which appeared
over the plain of Naples, of a very un-
usual size as well as shape. “ It was
not,” he says, “at that distance dis-
cernible from what mountain this cloud
issued, but it was found afterwards
that it had ascended from Vesuvius.
I cannot give a more exact description
of its figure than by likening it to that
of a pine tree, for it shot up a great
height in the form of a trunk, which
extended itself at the top into the
form of branches; occasioned, I ima-
gine, either by a sudden gust of air
which impelled it, the force of which de-

d as it ad d upwards, or the
cloud itself being pressed back again
by its own weight, expanded in this
manner; it appeared sometimes bright,
and sometimes dark and spotted, as it
became more or less impregnated with
earth and cinders. This extraordinary
phenomenon cxcited my uncle’s philo-
sophical curiosity to take a nearer view
of it.” He then proceeds to describe
his uncle’s embarkation in one of his
light vessels, with Rectina the wife of
Bassus, who had a villa at the foot of
Vesuvius, and bad no means of reach-
ing it but by sea. As he approuached
the coast, “the cinders, which grew
thicker and hotter the nearer he ap-
proached, fell into the ships, together
with pumice-stones and black pieces
of burning rock: they were likewise
in danger not only of being aground
by the sudden retreat of the sea, but
also from the vast fragments which
rolled down the mountain and ob-
structed all the shore.” Finding it
impossible to land under these circum-

tended the eruption:—¢There had
been, for many days before, some shocks
of an earthquake, which the less sur-
prised us as they are extremely fre-
quent in Campania ; but they were so
particularly violent that night, that
they not only shook everything about
us, but seemed indeed to threaten total
destruction. . . . Though it was now
morning, the light was exceedingly
faint and languid; the buildings all
around us tottered, and though we
stood upon open ground, yet, as the
place was narrow aund confined, there
was no remaining there without dan-
ger: we therefore resolved to quit the
town. The people followed us in the
utmost consternation; and as to a
mind distracted with terror, every sug-
gestion seems more prudent than its
own, they pressed in great crowds
about us in our way out. Having
got to a convenient distance from the
houses, we stood still, in the midst of
a most dangerous and dreadful scene.
The chariots which we had ordered to
be drawn out, were so agitated back-
wards and forwards, though upon the
most level ground, that we could not
keep them steady, even by supporting
them with large stones. ‘The ses
seemed to roll back upon itself, and
to be driven from its banks by the
convulsive motion of the earth; it is
certain at least that the shore was con-
siderably enlarged, and that several sea
animals were left u itt. On the
other side, a black and dreadful cloud,
bursting with an igneous serpentine
vapour, darted out a long train of fire,
resembling flashes of lightning, but
much larger. . . . Soonafterwards
the cloud seemed to descend and cover
the whole ocean ; as indeed it entirely
hid the island of Capres and the pro-
montory of Misenum, My mother
strongly conjured me to make my
escape, which, as I was young, I might
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easily do: as for herself, she said, her
age and corpulency rendered all at-
tempts of that sort impessible. How-
ever she would willingly meet death,
if she could have the satisfaction of
seeing that she was not the occasion of
mine. But I abeolutely refused to
leave her, and taking ber hand I led
her on: she complied with great re-
luctance, and not without many re-
proaches to herself for retarding my
flight. The ashes now began to fall
upon us, though in no great quantity.
I turned my head, and observed be-
hind us a thick smoke, which came
rolling after us like a torrent. I pro-
posed, while we had yet light, to turn
out of the high road, lest she should
be pressed to death in the dark by the
crowd that followed us. We had
scarce stepped out of the path, when
darkness overspread us, not like that
of a cloudy night, or when there is no
moon, but of a room when it is shut
up and all the lights are extinct. No-
thing there was to be heard but the
shrieks of women, the screams of
children, and the eries of men ; some
calling for their children, others for
their parents, others for their husbands,
and only distinguishing each other by
their voices; one lamenting his own
fate, another that of his family; some
wishing to die from the very fear of
dying ; some lifting their hands to the
gods ; but the greater part imagining
that the last and eternal night was
ecome which was to destroy the gods
and the world together. Among these
were some who augmented the real
terrors by imaginary ones, and made
the frightened muititude falsely believe
that Misenum was actually in flames.
At length a glimmering light appeared,
which we imagined to be rather the
forerunner of an approaching burst of
flames, as in truth it was, than the
return of day. However, the fire fell
at a distance from us. Then again we
were immersed in thick darkness, and
a heavy shower of ashes rained upon
us, which we were obliged every now
and then to shake off, otherwise we
should have been crushed and buried
in the heap. . . . At last this dread-
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ful darkness was dissipated by degrees,
like a cloud of smoke; the real day
returned, and even the sun appeared,
though very faintly, and as when an
eclipse is coming on. Every object
which presented itself to our eyes,
which were extremely weakened,
seemed changed, being covered over
with white ashes, as with a deep snow.
We returned to Misenum, where we
refreshed ourselves as well as we could,
and passed an anxious night between
hope and fear—though indeed with a
much larger share of the latter, for the
earthquake still continued, while se-
veral enthusiasts ran up and down,
heightening their own and their friends’
calamities by terrible predictions.”
This description is not only interesting
in itself, but is valuable as affording
the evidence of an eye-witness as to
the nature of the eruption, On this
point the statement of Pliny is entirely
oconfirmed by scientific observations on
the materials which cover the buried
cities. It appears from all these testi-
monies that no lava flowed from the
crater on this occasion, the ejections
consisting solely of ashes, red-hot
stones, and loose fragments of volcanic
materials. Many of the stones which
have been found at Pompeii are not less
than 8 Ibs. in weight, while those which
fell upon Stabie, about 5 miles further
distant from the mountain, weigh only
a few ounces. In addition to these
fragmentary matters, the crater sent
out enormous volumes of steam, which
fell upon the country around in tor-
rents of heated water, charged with the
dry light ashes which were suspended
in the air. This water, as it reached
the soil, carried with it in its course
the cinders which had fallen, and thus
deluged Pompeii and Herculaneun:,
as we shall hereafter see, with a soft,
pasty, volcanic mud or alluvium, which
penetrated into places which neither
scorize nor stones could have reached,
and did far more damage than any
other product of the eruption.

“Hie ?)“i pampineis viridis modo Vesvius um-

Tis,

Presserat hic madidos nobilis una lacus H
Hec juga, quim Nisse colles, plus Bacchus

amavit,
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.. Hoc nuper Satyri monte dedere choros ;
Heec Veneris sedes, Lacedemone gratior illi;
» Hic locus Herculeo nomine clarus erat :
Cuncta jacent lammis, et tristi mersa favilld,
. Nec Superi vellent hoc licuisse sibi.”
MarTiAL, Epig. iv. xliv.

The effect of this eruption was to
destroy the entire side of the mountain
nearest to the ses, leaving, as the only
remnants of the ancient crater, the
little ridge on the southern flank now
called La Pedamentins, and that por-
tion of the northern wall which, under
the modern name of Monte Somma,
encircles about one-balf of the new
cone which the eruption had thrown
up from the central plain, described
by Strabo and by Plutarch. That
cone is of course the present Vesuvius,
There is reason to believe that the
eruption left it much higher than it
has ever been since, and, in fact, that
it has becn diminishing more or less
down to our own time. It has, how-
ever, continued to be, with two or
three exceptions, the exelusive channel
of eruption, while Monte Somua, as
we now see it, in all probability pre.
sents the same external features which
were seen by Pliny.

2. After this great expenditure of
strength, Vesuvius remained inactive
for 124 years, the 2nd eruption baving
occurred in the year 208, during the
reign of Septimius Severus. This erup-
tion is described by Dion Cassius and
by Galen, the former of whom availed
himself of its occurrence to compile
from the traditions of the inbabitants
his well .knowa record of the destruc-
tion of Pompeii. From the details
given of this eruption it appears that
it was of the same character as the
first, consisting of scorise and lapilli.
It is important to remark that &itna,
which had been in eruption 39 years
before the first outbreak of Vesuvius,
remained dormant until 48 years after
the second ; in other words, from a. n.
40 to a.p. 251, being an interval of
201 years; while Jechia, which was in
eruption 170 years before the first
eruption of Vesuvius, was dormant
until A.p. 1302, an interval of 1393
years.

8. In the year 472, aler baving
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been tranquil for 969 years, Vesuvius
was again in action. This eruption is
described by Ammiaous and by Pro-
copius, who says that it covered Europe
with ashes, which fell even at Con-
stantinople end at Tripoli. It is aleo
supposed to be the eruption which
destroyed the villages which the poorer
iobabitants of Heroul m and Pom-
peii erected on the site of those cities
after their destruetion in 79.

4. The 4th eruption occurred in 512,
being 40 years after ghe third. It is
supposed to be the catastrophe de-
scribed by Theodoric, king of the Goths,
in his letter to Faustus, which Cas-
siodorus has preserved in his ¢ Epistolee
Variz,” and in which the king com-
missions Faustus to ascertain the da-
mage sustained by the people of Naples
and Nola, and to make a proportionate
reduction in the tribute payable by
those cities. It is also mentioned by
Sigonius and by Procopius, who says
that the ashes, as in the eruption of
472, were carried as fur as Tripoli.

5. After a pause of 173 years, the
mountain was again in eruption in 685.
We are not aware that it is described
by any contemporary writer. It figures,
bowever, conspicuously in the legends
of S. Januarius, and i1s mentioned by
Platina and other authors of the 15th
and 16th century, but they do not give
the authority for their statement.

6. The long interval of 308 years
elapsed between the 5th and the 6th
eruptions ; but in the meantime Ema,
which had been slumbering for more
than five centuries and a half, burst
into activity. ‘The eruption of Ztna
occurred in 812; and 181 years later,
in the year 993, Vesuvius was in action.
This eruption is mentioned by the
Benedictine Rodolph Glaber, whose
Chronicie will be found in the collec-
tions of Baronius, Duchesne, and
Pithou.

7. After the lapse of ouly 43 years,
the 7th eruption occurred in 1036. It
is remarkable as having been accom-
panied by what is supposed to have
been the first ejection of lava from the
cone formed in79. There is, however,
a passage in Procopius .which is con-
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sidered to be clearly a description of
lava; and if tbis fact be admitted, the
4th eruption must be regarded as that
which produced the first flow of lava
from the erater.  This 7th eruption is
described in a8 well-known chronicle
by an anonymous monk of Monte
-Casino, who says that the lava issued
from the sides as well as from the
summit of the mountsin, and reached
the sea, It is also worthy of remark
that the monks had taken advantage
of the volcanic phenomena to rep

the mountain as peopled with devils,
-who snmounced the approaching death
of the Prinee of Capua and other
-enemies of the Church.

8. In 1049, 18 years later, an crup-
tion occurred which is incidentally
mentioned in the “ Chronicon Cassi-
nense” of Cardinal Leo Marsicano,
Bishop of Ostia (Leo Ostiensis).

9. After a pause of 90 years, the

was again in action in 1139.
This eruption is mentioned in the
chronicle of the anonymous monk of
Monte Casiuo already quoted, and in
the curious chronicle of the 12th cen-
tury written by Falco of Benevento,
the secretary of Innocent 1I., and in-
<luded by Muratori in his collection.
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| enjoyed uninterrupted rest; but the
adjacent coast, as we shall see here-
after, was destined to become, two
centuries later, the scene of one of the
most memorable events in the whole
history of European volcanos. .

10. The 10th eruption occurred in
1306, 4 years after that of Ischia, the
interval between it and the 9th being,
as we have already said, 167 years. It
is described by Leandro Alberti, the
Domenican, in his “ Descrizione di
Tutta I'Italia,” printed at Bologna in
1550. After this eruption it remained
dormant for another long period of
194 years; but in this interval the
whole of the central and northern pro-
vinces of the kingdom, for many miles
on either side of that line of volcanic
action which we have already men-
tioned as exatending from Ischia to
Monte Volture, were convulsed by
one of the most violent earthquakes
on record. It ooccurred on the Sth
December, 1456, in the reign of Al-
fonso I. of Aragon. Many churches,
towers, and houses were thrown down
at Naples and upwards of 20,000 per-
sons buried in the ruins; while from
Aversa and Benevento to Campobasso
and Ascoli on the north, and from
Avellino and Nocera to Brindisi on

-From this period to the
of tbe 17th century, Vesuvius was only
six times in action. 167 years elapsed
before the oecurrence of the first of these
six eruptions,in 1306, making the10th in
point of time; but in this interval £txa,
which had again been dormant for 357
years, was three times in eruption, and
the volcanie fires of the Neapolitan
district again returned to their ancient
channel in Ischia and the Phlegrean
Fields. In the latter the Solfatara
poured out a stream of lava in 1198,
the year in which the Emperor Fre-
derick II. succeeded to the throne of
Naples, on the death of his father
Henry V1.; and in 1302, during the
reign of Cbarles 11. of Anjou, Ifchia,
which bad been at rest for at least 14
oenturies, discharged into the sea a
lava stream of great size from a new
vent in the N. k. point of the island,
but without producing any cone. From
that peried to the present, Ischia has

ment

the south of the line, every town was
more or less affected ; the total loss of
life amounting, it is said, to the almost
incredible number of 100,000 souls.
During these two centuries of in-
action in Vesuvius, FEtua exbibited
unusual activity, six eruptions of that
mountain being vecorded, two of which
occurred in the 14th and four in the
15th century.

11. The next eruption, which oc-
curred in 1500, is described by Am-
brosio Leone of Nola, from personal
observation. It appears to have been
a slight eruption, leaving, however, a
crater 5 miles in circumference,
1000 paces deep. Thirty-six yearsafter-
wards, in 1536, the volcanic district
west of Naples was disturbed by earth-
quakes, which continued with alarming

uency for two years, during which
Vesuvius showed no sign of activity
whatever, while KEtna was in, erup-
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tion from 1535 to 1537. On the 29th
September, 1538, after the earthquakes
bad convulsed the Phlegrean Fields
for a day and a night, a new mountain,
called Monte Nuovo, was thrown up in
48 hours near Pozzuoli, partly on the
ancient site of the Lucrine Lake, and
partly on that of the little town of
Tripergola, which was buried under
it. We shall not stop to describe the
phenomena which accompanied this
event, as they will be more properly
noticed in our general account of the
western district; it will be sufficient
in this place to record the fact as
illustrating the connection and alter-
nate action of the volcanic group of
the Two Sicilies. By this upheaval
of Monte Nuovo, the eruptive forces
of the Phlegrzan Fields appear to have
exhausted themselves. For more than
three centuries no explosion has oc-
curred in any part of the district,
which now presents no other indica-
tions of its origin than the exhalation
of gases and warm vapour from various
vents hereafter to be described. The
internal fires of Vesuvius appear also
to have been temporarily extinguished
by the same effort; for no less than
131 years elapsed from the date of the
eleventh eruption before they showed
any sign of having returned to their
old channel. During this penod of
tranquillity the mountain
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in action between the upheaval of
Monte Nuovo and the close of the
16th century ; and six small eruptions
occurred in rapid succession at the
commencement of the 17th century
before Vesuvius gave any visible mani-
festation of returning life.

12. This long inaction, the last we
shall have to record, terminated sud-
denly on the 16th December, 1631.
On that day an eruption occurred, re-
markable not only as one of the greatest
of modern times, but as the first since
the days of Pliny which had the good
fortune to obtain a contemporary his-
torian. Giulio Cesare Braccini whom
we have already mentioned, and La-
nelfi of Naples each made it the sub-
ject of a separate work,— the former
under the title ¢ Dell’ incendio fattosi
nel Vesuvio a 16° di Decembri, 1631 :*
the latter under the title “Incendio
del Vesuvio,” both works appearing at
Naples in 1632. In the same year
Pietro Castelli published at Rome his
account of the eruption, under the title
of “Incendio del Monte Vesuvio.”
Vincenzo Crucio also, in the same city
and about the same time, mvaugat«l
the physical condition of the in
and the causes of its internal fire, leav-
ing, in his “ Vesuvius Ardens,” a strik-
ing proof of the active spirit of inquiry
which had been excited by the novel

henomena of this eruption. Twe

covered with vegetation, that at the
commencement of the 17th century
Braccini found the sides of the crater,
which was 5 miles in circumference,
completely overgrown with brushwood
and forest trees, amidst which wild
boars made their coverts. At the
bottom was a plain upon which cattle
grazed ; and in the middle of this plain,
as Magliocco tells us, was a narrow
ravine or fissure in the floor of the
crater, through which a winding path
led down for about a mile among
rocks and stones to another and a
larger plain, which was covered with
ashes and had three small pools of
warm brackish water in different parts
of its surface. _&Etna, on the contrary,
exhibited, throughout the whole period,
extraordinary activity; it was twice

yean later a further proof of this was
afforded by the appearance of the
“ Vesuviani Incendii Historiz,” by the
Jesuit philosopher, Salvatore Varo.
In the very interesting and intelligent
work of Braccini, we find a description
of the mountain before, during, and
after the eruption. After describing
what we have already stated respecting
the vegetation which had clothed the
mountain during the previous century,
be proceeds to say that about mid-
summer the plain of the Sarno was
convulsed by an earthquake, which
occurred so repeatedly during the
six following months that many per-
sons from Naples ascended the moun-
tain to ascertain whether any change
had taken place in the interior. They
found the crater so completely filled
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with volcanic matter that it was no
longer concave but perfectly level with
its margin, while noises like the roar-
ing of a stormy sea were heard L th
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which intervene between it and Avel-
lino, The eruption did not entirely
cease till February 1632, when it was
ascertained ement that the

the surface, on which they could walk
with impunity. This state of things
continued to the 16th of December,
when, at early dawn, the cone poured
out from its S.W. flank a column of
vapour so loaded with ashes as to
have the appearance of black smoke,
and which, like that observed by
Pliny in 79, assumed the form of a
pine tree, followed by discharges of
stones and flashes of volcanic fire. The
column of vapour was carried over
very nearly 100 miles of country, and
was charged with such an abundance
of electricity, that several men and
animals were killed by the ferilli or
flashes of volcanic lightning which con-
tinually darted from it in its course.
These were succeeded by a tremendous
earthquake, during which the sea re-
tired to a distance of half a mile
from the shore, and then returned
with such violence that it covered the
land thirty paces beyond its former
Kmit. At the same moment the
summit of the cone poured out seven
streams of lava, one of which took the
direction of Torre dell’ Annunziata,
where it formed the beds which are
now visible on the west of the town,
another destroyed two thirds of Torre
del Greco; another destroyed Resina,
which had arisen on the site of Hercu-
laneum ; another destroyed the village
of Granatello and part of Portici, where
it flowed into the sea and formed the
bed on which the Royal Palace and La
Favorita, the villa of the Prince of
Salerno, were subsequently built. Not
less than 4000 persons are said to have
perished in this catastrophe. The
ashes were carried by the wind to the
shores of the Adriatic, to the Greek
islands, and to Constantinople; and
the eruption was followed by discharges
of vapour and hot water which fell in
the form of torrents of rain upon the
slopes of the mountain, killed great
numbers of persons at Portici and
Torre del Greco, and inundated the
country as far as Nola and the hills

cone had lost so much of its height,
that it was 1530 feet lower than Monte
Somma. Twelve months after Vesu-
vius had become tranquil, Etna, which
bad been dormant for 9 years, burst
into activity ; and was again active in
1645 and in 1654.

18. In July 1660, after a rest of 29
years, Vesuvius was again in eruption.
From the “ Giornale del Incendio
published by Giuseppe Carpano at
Rome in the same year, it appears that
the crater did not throw out any lava
on this occasion, the discharge being
confined to showers of ashes, which
cleared out the crater to an immense
depth and left its walls so precipitous
that the interior was inaccessible.
From the margin, however, three small
orifices could be seen in action at the
bottom of the gulf, corresponding pre-
cisely in their position with the three
pools which had been observed by
Braccini 30 years before. In 1676
also, according to Ignazio Sorrentino,
the crater threw up a perpendicular
column of lava like that which made
the great eruption of 1779 remark-
able. Although unimportant as com-
pared with the eruptions which had
preceded them, these were the pre-
cursors of a rapid series of eruptions,
which have continued, at intervals of a
few years, down to our own time. In
1669, £tna, which had been dormant
for more than a century, was the scene
of another great eruption, by which the
Monte Rossi was formed and Catania
overwhelmed by the lava which it
emitted. It was again in action in
1682, the year in which Vesuvius ex-
hibited for the first time that tendency
of the volcanic force to prolong its
action from one eruption to another,
which has been so often witnessed in
recent times, and which has silently
effected in the intervals of the erup-
tions such important changes within
the interior of the crater.

14, The next eruption, which took
placeon the 12th August, 1682, entirely
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changed the internal as well as the ex-
ternal aspect of the m i In the
interior, it filled up a considerable por-
tion of the great gulf we have described,
and from the centre threw up a small
cone having on its summit a little
crater which discharged ashes. So
rapidly did this cone increase, that in
1685 it was visible from Naples, but
the large crater in which it stood eould
then be entered to the bottom. In 1689,
a succession of small discharges had
very nearly filled up the large crater,
which was two miles in circumference ;
and the central cone, enlarged by its
crust of lava and ashes, bhad increased
so considerably in bulk that the two
cones when seen from a distance pre-
sented the appearance of one large and
unbroken mountain. The summit how-
ever was lower, by about 1200 feet,
than Monte Somma, showing that it
bad gained 830 feet in height since
1632.

d
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goods, and that on the fiRh day the
viceroy (the Duke de Medina Celi)
ordered a deep trench to be cut a mile
from the sea, in order to intercept it.
This expedient was sful ; the lava
ran into the trench, and after a lapse
of eight days consolidated in it. Dr.
Connor adds, that the current varied
from 20 to 150 paces in breadth, from
15 to 80 paces in depth, and was 4 miles
in length.

16. In September, 1696, an eruption
occurred, by which a considerable por-
tion of the cone was bhlown away on
the side nearest Torre del Greco; at
the same time a stream of lava issued
from the breach, dividing shortly after-
wards into two branches, which lost
themselves in the ravines of the moun-
tain.
17. The next eruption, which like
the former was very feeble, was de-
scribed from personal observation by
Antonio Bulifon, the Annalist, in his

15. This eruption com on
the 12th March, 1694. _Etna began
to discharge ashes in the same month
and continued to do so till December,
and it had been twice previously in
action in the interval between the pre-
sent and the last eruption of Vesuvius.
In the begining of April, several
streams of lava flowed slowly for five
entire days from the summit of Ve-
suvius; some took the direction of
S. Giorgio a Cr , a little hamlet

“ Compendio Istorico del Monte.” It
occurred in May, 1698, when a stream
of lava flowed from the summit of the
cone towards Resina. From this time
throughout the whole of the 18th
century the eruptions were very fre-
quent, seldom occurring at longer in-
tervals than ten years, and sometimes
as often ae twice within a few months.
Twenty-one eruptions are recorded
during the century, and the number

north-west of Portici, and others took
that of Torre del Greco which had
again risen from the destruction caused
by the eruption of 1631; but both
streams were arrested before they
reached the towns. The historian of
this eruption was an Irishman, the
learned Dr. Bernard Counor. physician
to John Sobieski, King of Poland. He
wrote two descriptions of it: the first
was published at Rome in 1694; the
second account appeared at Oxford, in
1698, entitled * Dissertations Medico
Physicee de antris Lethiferis ; de
Montis Vesuvii Incendio,” &c. In the
latter work he tells us that the people

ight be increased if we included the
minor explosions within the ecrater
itself.

18. Onthe 2nd July, 1701, an erup-
tion occurred which lasted till the 15th
of the month. Two streams of lava
flowed from the cone, one of which
destroyed the vineyards of Prince
Ottajano, in the village of that name;
the other flowed towards Vialo, but
without reaching it. . Etsa was in
action in March of the following year,
and then remained dormant for 2L
years.

19. The next eruption commenced
on the 20th May, 1707, and continued
till the August of that year. It had

of Torre del Greco were so frightened
at the approach of the lava current that
they removed themselves and their

been preceded by such frequent re-
currences of earthquakes, accompanied
by such numerous but feeble explosions
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of ashes, and was followed by so many
others in quick succession, that the
local writers sometimes describe the
eruption as having begun in 1704 and
ended in 1708. Signor Valetta, who
witnessed all the phenomena of this
eruption, has described them in an
interesting Latin letter, which he ad-
dressed to the Royal Society of London.
From his account, confirmed by those
of Sorrentino and of the Prince of Cas-
sano, we learn that the eruptions which
immediately preceded the great one of
1707 had been so frequent and con-
tinual that they were almost innumer-
able: hardly a month passed, much
less a year, without one of more or less
violence. The volcanic action apy
to have reached its climax in the latter
end of July, when internal bellowings
were heard in the very centre of the
mountain, but without the appearance
either of smoke or flame. These were
followed by emissions of smoke and
volcanie ﬁre, which at night illuminated
all Camp ied by such
terrible noises that “the reports of the
largest guns could scarcely be com-
pared with them.” The crater then
ejected such enormous quantities of
ashes that the whole country, as far as
Castellammare, Nola, and Acerra, and
even the sea, was covered with them,
These clouds of ashes were accom-
panied, on the third or fourth day, by
loud peals of thunder and flashes of
forked lightning proceeding from the
mouth of the crater, a phenomenon
which, Sig. Valetta remarks, had not
been observed for several ages before. A

prodigious shower of stones was next
emitted, which destroyed both men and
cattle. After this a stream of lava
flowed from the lip of the crater, de-
scended slowly down the declivity of
the , and almost reached the
sea. On the 2nd of August. at 4 in
the afternoon, the crater again ejected
over Naples a shower of ashes of such
demsity that the rays of the sun were
lntercepted and the city was involved
in darkness like that of midnight, re-
calling to the mind of the scholar the
eventful night described by Pliny in
79. It was impossible to recognise

S

-EXCURSIONS FROM NAPLES. — VESUVIUS.

287

either persons or objects’in the streets,
and those who ventured abroad without
torches were obliged to return home.
Every part of the city was filled with
the shrieks of women; the magistrates
and clergy carried the relics of 8t.

rius in pr ion to the Porta Ca-
puana; and the churches were crowded
with people who desired to spend a
night of so much terror in devotion
and prayer. At length, about 2 hours
after sunset, the wind shifted and
the athes were driven seaward, but
the following day was somewhat dark
by reason of the remains of the cloud
of ashes which were still suspended in
the air. The city and suburbs were
for many days covered with ashes in all
directions. On the fifteenth day the
eruption ceased.

20. The 20th eruption, like the
preceding one, has been made to in-
clude several others, though nothing
can be more distinct in their characters
and effects than those which occurred
at intervals from 1712 to 1730. The
eruption of 1712 commenced on the
18th of February, and continued with
out a day's intermission to the 8th of
November, when a pause of five
months occurred. In the April fol.
lowing, a stream of lava of great size
flowed from the cone towards Viulo,
following the exact course of the
stream of 1701, which it of course
covered.

21. After a pause of 5 years the
mountain was again in action on the
7th June, 1717, and was not entirely
tranquil until the 18th of that month.
This eruption was preceded, for about
two months, by those internal move.
mentswhich are the sure precursors of an
eruption on a large scale. Dr. Berkeley,
Bishop of Cloyne, who was residing at
Naples at the time, made observations
on the state of the mountain from
the 17th April to the 18th June,
which he communicated to the Royal
Society in the same year. These ob-
servations are extremely curious, as
they anticipated, by more than a cen.
tury, the interesting details which the
German geologist, Hoffman, has pub-
lished on the operation of the subter-




288

ranean forces in the craters of volcanos,
founded upon his elaborate explora-
tions of Stromboli in 1831 and 1832,
It appears, from Bishop Berkeley's
paper, thatin the month of Aprilthe cra-
ter was of large size and full of smoke,
while it emitted from its inmost depths
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charged with electricity producing those
flashes of forked lightning and peals
of thunder which are mentioned by
so many writers. Upon this cloud the
reflection of the molten lava within
the crater and in the stream itself,
hofs it 1idatod d A ‘h‘t

o variety of ds, ti r
bling the roaring of the sea and some-
times the reverberation of thunder and
the discharge of cannon. When the
smoke was cleared away by the wind,
the floor of the crater was seen to be
flat, having two small orifices, almost
contiguous, in its surface. One of these,
about 8 yards in diameter, glowed with
red flame and threw up red-hot st

ppearance of fire, which was long sup-
posed to be real flame. On the 10th
Bishop Berkeley examined the lava-
current which had then descended to
within 4 or 5 miles from Torre del
Greco. In his progress he was covered
with the falling ashes, and he describes
the in as r ding with loud
and horrible noises, and throwing up
vast quantities of red-hot stones which

which fell back again into the gulf In
the following month these lapilli had
accumulated so much around the ori-
fice as to form a cone in the middle of
the crater, which was a mile in cir-
cumference and 100 yards deep. This
new cone had two mouths, correspond-
ing in position with the orifices before
observed. One mouth, at the summit,
threw up every 8 or 4 minutes with
« 3 dreadful bellowing ” a vast number
of red-hot stones to the height of 300
feet above the margin of the crater,
and as these stones fell back perpendi-
cularly, they of course increased the
bulk of the cone. The other mouth
was lower in the side of the cone and
was filled with lava, “red-hot liquid
matter like that in the furnace of a
glass-house, which raged and wrought
like the waves of the sea, causing a
short abrupt noise,” which has been
noticed by many subsequent observers.
This matter sometimes overflowed and
ran down the convex surface of the
cone. On the 7th June, about 2 hours
before night, the eruption began with
an earthquake which shook the win-
dows and in some parts the houses of
Naples. A stream of lava was emitted
from the mouth in the southern flank
of the cone, while the other mouth
at the sumwit sent forth occasional
showers of ashes, the sky above the
stream of lava being filled with a quan-
tity of “ ruddy smoke,” which we now
know to be aqueous vapour loaded
with fine ashes and sand, and highly

resembled rockets in their fall. He
calculated that the height to which these
stones were projected was 1000 feet
perpendicular above the orifice from
which they issued. The lava was roll-
ing down like “a vast torrent of liquid
fire, and with irresistible fury bearing
down and consuming vines, olives, fig-
trees, houses, in short everything that
stood in its way. This mighty flood
divided into different channels, accord-
ing to the inequalities of the mountain.
The largest stream seemed half a mile
broad at least, and 5 miles long.” On
the following night the mountain ap-
peared from Naples to throw up in-
cessantly a vast body of fire and great
stones. On the 12th, in the morning,
the atmosphere was so charged with
ashes and smoke that it caused a kind
of eclipse, and some of the ashes reached
Naples. At night, the crater again
threw up flames, as on the 11th. On
the 13th, a pillar of black smoke was
seen rising perpendicularly from the
crater to a prodigious height. On the
14th, a thick black cloud concealed the
mountain from the view, and the streets
and houses of Naples on the next
morning were covered with ashes. At
night, this cloud reflected the fires of
the volcano so as to produce again
the appearance of flames issuing from
the crater, and on the 18th, after the
cloud had discharged its electricity in
several flashes of lightning, the moun-
tain became perfectly tranquil. The
lava of this eruption is said to be that
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which is still visi#® in the “ Fosso
Bianco.”

22. The next eruption occurred
in May and June, 1720. It was an
eruption of ashes without lava, the
effect of which, as in former instances,
was to clear the crater of fragmentary
matter preparatory to the formation of
a new cone, Three years afterwards
/Etna was again in action,

23. Oo the 26th July, 1728, an erup-
tion took place which was remarkable
for the production of a new cone
within the crater of the old one, the
summit of the inner cone being as
high as the lip of the old crater.

24, The 24th eruption, which was
a very small one compared with that
which followed it, took place on the
14th March, 1730. The weather, ac-
cordiog to the account of Dr. Cyril-
lus, had been so severe for some days
that the neighbouring mountains were
covered with snow. On the evening
of the 14th the crater appeared to emit
fire to a vast height, and threw out
huge stones to almost half the perpen-
dicular height of the mountain. “ Pum-
mice-stones red hot, of 2 or more
ounces weight, weredriven several miles
fike a shower of hail, and frightened
away the birds, In about an hour’s
time the height of the flame was some-
what lessened; and through the middle
of the thick smoke, flashes of lightning
were often seen.” On the four follow-
ing days the ashes were carried by the
wind to a great distance, sometimes
over the sea, sometimes over the moun-
tains on the north, and sometimes over
Naples which was covered with them
on the last day of the eruption. Five
years later, after another pause of
nearly 20 years, there was an eruption
of Ltna, the two mountains during
the whole of the 18th century appear-
ing to alternate in their action, some-
times at intervals of five, sometimes of
three, and sometimes of only one year,
while on three occasions they were in
operation together.

25. Two years after this eruption
of Ztna, Vesuvius was again in full
activity on the 20th May, 1737. The
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mountain had been disturbed from the
beginning of the month, tometimes
emitting large quantities of smoke, and
at others stones and ashes. On the
17th the declivities of the mountain
were covered with such a mass of white
ashes that from Nuples it had the ap-
pearance of being clothed in snow, as
if in winter. On the 19th some slight
earthquakes and volumes of black
smoke from the crater gave notice of
the great explosion which took place
on the following day. The first shock
occurred about 9 in the morning and
was felt at a distance of 12 miiles,
showing how great an effort was mak-
ing by the subterranean forces to
remove the accumulated matter which
confined the elastic vapours of the vol-
cano. Vast clouds of smoke intermixed
with ashes rose to a great height from
the crater until an hour after sunset,
when the flanks of the cone opencd a
little above the first plain, and poured
out from this new vent a stream of
lava of such vast bulk, that before it
reached the edge of the plain, it had
become very nearly a mile wide and
had advanced 4 miles in 8 hours,
its solid contents being estimated at
33,587,058 cubic fect. The Prince of
Cassano, who made minute obser-
vations on this lava-current, and after-
wards analysed the ejected matter at
the request of the Academy of
Sciences of Naples, tells us that about
midnight the current had ¢reached
the end of the plain and the foot of the
low hills situate to the south. Butas
these hills are rugged with rocks, the
greater part of the torrent ran down
the declivities between these rocks and
into two valleys; falling successively
into the other plain which forns the
basis of the mountaiu ; and after unit-
ing there, it divided into four lesser
torrents, one of which stopped in the
middle of the road, a mile and a half
distant from Torre del Greco; the
second flowed into a large valley
(where it destroyed part of the mo-
nastery of the Carmelites and closed
up the high road to Salerno); the third
ended under ‘Torre del Greco near the
o
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sea (where as we may still see, it became
prismatic) ; and the fourth ended at a
small distance from the new mouth.

The matter of the second torrent ran |

like melted lead ; in 8 hours it ad-
vanced 4 miles. The trees which the
torrent found in its way took fire
on the first toueb, and fell under the
weight of the watter. The torrent
which ran behind the convent of the
Carmelites, after setting the little door
of the church on fire, eatered not only
by it, but also through the windows of
the vestry and into two other chambers.
In the refectory, it burnt the windows;
and cven the glass vessels that stood
on the tables were melted into a paste
by the violent heat of the fire. Six-
teen days afterwards the matter con-
tinued hot and was very hard, but it
was broken by repeated blows.” Si-
multaneously with this eruption from
the flanks of the mountain, the crater
at the summit poured out a stream of
lava which separated inte wumerous
branches, and ran down the sides of the
mountain in different directions, One
took a course towards the Hermitage ;
another flowed towards Somms, where
it destroyed a convent of nuns; another,
and the most destructive, took the
direction of Ottajano where it did im-
mense damage to the farms. The
ashes which accompanied this eruption
were scarcely less destructive. We
are told by an English traveller, who
visited the spot at the time, and em-
bodied the results of his observations
in a paper which was read before the
Royal Society in the same year,
that “all the trees, vines and hedges
bent under the weight of these ashes;
several arms and even bodies of trees
were broken with the weight ; so that
in some narrow roads we had diffi-
culty to pass. Within a mile or two
of the Prince of Ottajano’s palace, one
can scarcely form to oneself a sight
of greater desolation; ten succesgsive
northern winters could not have left it
in a worse condition ; not a leafon a
tree, vine, or bedge was to be seen all
the way we went, and some miles
furtber, as we weie informed.” These
statements are confirmed by the learned
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Dr Serae, who Published a work de-
scriptive of this eruption. The Prince
of Cassano also describes the ashes on
the ground at Ottajeno ss 4 palms
high, and adds, that many houses were
crushed by their weight. Twenty
days after this eruption, the Prinee
observed that cald damp vapours, called
“ moffette” issued from the fissures
and cavities, not of the new lava current
but of the older ones of the plain.
| «They issued out of the fissures with
| the appearance of a cold wind, and rese
| about S palms high ; then they moved
! along tbe surface of the ground, and,
after a progress of some paces, disap-
pesred. Apimals which happened to
graze where they passed were all killed
by it; and likewise a Teresian friar,
who inadvertently breathed the va-
pour of one of these dampa.” From
this description it is probable that this
vapour was carbonic acid gas, mixed
with sulphuretted hydrogen. On the
21st the eruption ceased, and on the
next day all the lava streams bhad con-
solidated at their surface. The Prinoe
of Cassano noticed in this eruption that
peculiar structure of the lava-curreat
which Sir William Hamilton and Dr. *
Clarke described more fully about half
a century later. We mean the remark-
able difference between the surface of
the current and the more solid mass
beneath it. The extraordinary cohe-
sion of running lava, which surpasses
that of all other liquid matter, causes
the surfuce to flow more rapidly than
that portion which has to pass over the
inequalities of the ground. The sur-
face, therefore, as it loses the state of
perfect solution, is cracked, by the
evolution of vapours from the mass
and by the action of the external air,
into innumerable fragments or sco-
rie which sometimes bridge over the
stream of lava below, at others fall
dowa its sides and form a sort of chan-
nel through which it runs, or roll over
the advancing stream and pave, as it
were, the road over which it passes.
This will explain the reason why the
surface of a current generally presents
the appearance of a river of ashes.
After this scene of energetic action
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Vesuvius made the longest pause which
bas occurred in the history of the vol-
cano since 1631, having remained
entirely dormaut for 14 years. In the
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been in action during the eruption of
1787, sunk down with about a third of
the bottom of the crater, leaving an
immense gulf to be filled up by the

meantime &Eina, after an intermissi
of 12 years, suddenly burst into erup-
tion in 1747, and remained in action,
with occasional intervals, till Vesuvius
recovered its activity.

26. The next eruption commenced
on the 25th October, 1751, and conti-
nued for 25 days. The lava issued
from the side of the mountain in the
Atrio del Cavallo and in the space of
6 hours ran 4 miles into the plain,
where it covered a large traet of culti-
vated country and destroyed many
villas, farm houses, and vineyards. We
have two accounts of its progress, ene
from the observations of Mr. John
Parker, an English painter at Rome,
whose description was published in the
« Philosophical Transactions.” He
found that the stream varied in breadth
from 60 yards to half a mile, and was
about 5 miles in breadth at the point
where it consolidated. He says that it
filled up a ravine 60 feet deep, and
raised within it a hill of scorie 50 feet
in height. He noticed what has been
remarked by many subsequent obsery-
ers, that as the stream rolled slowly
along it presented the appearance of
the soorie of an iron-foundry, eaused
of course by the cooling of the mass,
which then cracks at its surface into

next expl
27. Three years only elapsed before
this was accomplished by an eruption
which occurred on the 3rd December,
1754. From the notes made upon the
spot by Mr. Isaac Jamineau, the Bri-
tish Consul at Naples at that time, it
appears to have been preceded fur
many months by a succession of small
explosions within the crater, which at
length become filled with an accumu-
lation of scori. In April, firc was
seen issuing from one end of a crescent
which was doubtless the remains of the
old cone which sunk down in 1751.
In September this er had become
a small cone in the centre of the great
crater. In October the bottom of the
crater had been raised 30 feet by the
accumulating scoriee, beneath which
the lava was seen in motion. In No-
vember the crater was filled with boil-
ing lava to within 25 feet of its lip.
In the night of the 2nd December, the
eastern side of the crater opened, and
poured out, in the direction of Bosco
del Mauro, a stream of lava which was
60 feet broad at the upper part and
upwards of 100 yards broad as it
traversed the plain. At the same
moment another stream was ejccted
from the S.E. side of the crater, which
ted into numerous sluggish

inn ble fragments, producing that
rattling noise which so many have
noticed and described. Both these
accounts of eye-witnesses confirm the
popular opinion of the general impe-
netrability of the surface. One ac-
count says that although it was red
hot “no weighty body would sink in
it, nor did a sharp heavy iron instru-
ment, thrown at it with great force,
make the least impression on it.” Mr.
Parker says that while the lava ran
red hot, a man threw a mass of the
cool lava from a height upon it, which,
far from sinking into it, rebounded like
aball. The motion was as slow as the
common walk of a man.” After this
ejection of lava from the flanks of the
mountain, the central cone, which had

streams; all of these flowed towards
Bosco-tre-Case, and were in motion for
49 days. After a pause of 5 years,
Ltna was in action in March of the
following year, 1755, a year remark-
able for the great earthquake of Lisbon,
and for others which were felt, with
more or less severity, in Turkey, in
Barbary, in Spain, in Switzerland, in
Piedmont, in Holland, in Eungland, in
Scotland, in Madeira, and in various
parts of North America.

28. The mnext eruption occurred
on the 24th January, 1758. Signor
Paderni, who was at the time super-
intending the excavations at Hercu.
laneum, tells us that the mountain
during the whole day and night

o2
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threatened again to swallow up the
country. The little cone which Mr.
Jamineau had noticed four years before,
had increased so much at the com-
mencement of this year, that it had
risen above the crater. The present
eruption entirely destroyed this cone
and threw out, by violent explosions,
immense quantities of lapilli, lava,
ashes and fire. During the night
vapours charged with ashes and illu-
minated by the fires of the crater,
producing when seen from a distance
the appearance of fl burst out
with greater vehemence; the explo-
sions were so frequent and so violent
that the houses of Portici shook con-
tinually; many of the inhabitants
fled to Naples for safcty, and * the
boldest persons trembled.” The crater
continued in violent action during
the next day, and exhausted itself
by a few subsequent discharges of
ashes., _Etna was in eruption in the
following year, after another pause of
5 years.

29. On the 24th December, 1760,
an eruption took place which was one
of the most remarkable on record,
having proceeded not from the crater
‘dbut from several cones which opened
suddenly at the base of the mountain,
only one mile above the Camaldoli
and about midway between the crater
and the sea, lower down, in fact, than
‘had ever been known before. For four
days previously there had been several
-violent carthquakes, one of which af-
fected the whole country for 15 miles;
and no less than five occurred on the
‘23rd before the central crater had
emitted a particle of vapour. Sir
Francis Eyles Stiles, who was residing
at Naples at the time, communicated
two papers to the Royal Society on
the subject of this eruption. He states
that on the 23rd at noon when the
earthquakes had ceased, “the mountain
threw up on a sudden a vast quantity
of black smoke, which rose to a very
considerable height ; and before it had
diffused itself made a splendid and
glorious appearance, as the sun, which
was then shining, gilded the supcrior
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and covered all the mountain, and a
great portion of the sky in that quarter.
The ashes that fell from it resembled
the falling of a heavy shower, seen at
a distance.” At the same time two
large columns of smoke were seen
rising from the S.E. declivities of the
mountain now called Le Piane, fol-
lowed by violent "explosions which
were felt at Naples, These explosions
proceeded from fifteen small conical
craters, pouring out vast quantities of
ashes, In the afternoon of the 24th
two of these craters threw out, with a
dreadful noise, torrents of burning lava,
which uniting shortly afterwards flowed

! down towards the sea in one vast

current, destroying plantations, ham-
lets and farms, and spreading terror on
all sides. The current was at last
arrested, about 200 paces from the
shore, by some rising ground which it
was unable to pass over, but which
caused it to spread, according to Mr.
Mackinlay’s statement, to the breadth
of 400 yards and to hecome 17 palms
in depth. During the eruption Sir
Eyles Stiles visited the mountain to
get a nearer view of this lava-current.
Midway between Torre del Greco and
Torre dell’ Annunziata, he was stopped
by the lava which had already crossed
the road and was making towards the
sca, although the vents from which it
issued were a mile and a half distant.
The Abate Bottis, who drew up an
account of this eruption from personal
observation, by order of the Cardinal
Archbishop of Naples, ascertained that
the stones projected by these small cra-
tersattained such aheight that they took
8 seconds in falling to the ground ; that
a stone estimated to weigh 260lbs. was
thrown 90 paces and a lighter one 390
paces. He found that the ashes which
the craters had expelled bad fallen at
Nola, Nocera, Sarno, and other places
12 miles distant, and that from various
parts of the plain which the Java bad
traversed noxious gases were evolved
for many months, which caused great
alarm. These exhalations or mﬁuc
killed men and animals, and i
the water as well as the air.

One of

part of it; but soon after it dispersed | the craters was again in action in July,
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1761, but it emitted only smoke and
flame. Three of the craters were
sufficiently large to be visible from
Naples during the eruption. They
still exist under the name of Bocche or
Voccole, but have never since been
active; the smallest has a cavity 40
feet deep. The outlines of some of
the others may also be traced at the
foot of the mountain.

80. The eruption of the 28th
Mareh, 1766, has been described from
personal observation by Sir William
Hamiiton, and by Dr. Morgan of
Philadelphia, who published his ac-
count of it in the “ Transactions of the
American Society.” During the pre-
ceding 6 months the crater bad been
filled with very white aqueous vapour,
from the midst of which columns of
black ke, or rath p black-
ened by the cinders with which it was
charged, were occasionally shot up to a
considerable height. While the moun-
tain was in tiis state, Sir William Ha-
milton visitzd it, and found that the
walls of the crater were incrusted with
* salts and minerals of various colours”
and that the fissures of the sides were
pouring out “ sulphureous steams,” one
of which in the course of a month threw
up “a little hillock of sulphur, nearly
6 feet high, with a light blue flame
constantly issuing from its top.” From
this description it appears that the
erater was discharging large quantities
of hydro-sulphurie acid gss, which the
atmosphere was rapidly
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In the evening of the 24th March,
after a slight earthquake and a dis.
charge of ashes and lapilli, the lava
overflowed the lip of the crater. The
current as it flowed divided into two
branches, which ran down the mountain
side in the direction of Portici, hut
soon lost themselves in a ravine. Sir
William Hamilton estimnated the rate
of this current at a mile an hour. He
ascended the cone during the eruption,
and observed the lava boiling in the
interior like the liquid metal in a glass-
house, precisely as Bishop Berkeley
had described it in 1712, while large
scorix or cinders were floating and
rolling on its surface. On the 3Slst
he observed that a little cone had been
formed by the accumulated stones and
scoriee in the centre of the crater, from
which beautiful girandoles of red hot
stones, “far surpassing the most as-
tonishing artificial fire-works,” were
thrown up every minute to an immense
teight. This cone increased so rapidly
that in April it was visible from
Naples. On the 10th of Apﬂl the
flank of the
Torre dell' Annunziata, about a mile
below the lip of the crater, and poured
out with great violence an immense
stream of lava, which flowed with such
unusual velocity that Sir William
Hamilton estimated it as being quite
as rapid for the first mile as the Severn
is at the passage near Bristol. This
stream subsequently divided into three

into its bases, hydrogen and mlphur,
a process which is more frequently seen
in the semi-extinct vol From

hes, which ignited the cinders of
former ernpnons in their course, so
that as they descended to the plain they

November, 1765, to the end of March,
when the eruption of which all these
were the indications occurred, the
smoke couatinued to increase and to
become more and more charged with
arhes which did serious injury to the
vineyards in the neighbourhood: dur-
ing the night it was illuminated by the
reflection of the molten-lava which
was rapidly rising to the lip of the
- erater. A few days before the eruption
the smoke shot up in the form of a pine
tree, precisely as Pliny observed it in
79, and as Braccini observed it in 1631,

presented the of a magoi-
ficent sheet of fire 4 miles long and in
some places 2 miles broad. In two
places, the lava, whose mrface, as
usual, was covered with scorix, en-
tively disappeared in some subtcerranean
fissures, and emerged again at a lower
level perfectly free from scorie. On
reaching the plain the stream became
a mass of scorie rolling over cach
other, forming a kind of rampart 10 or
12 feet high, and advancing slowly at 8
rate of about 30 feet in an hour. After
this the crater discharged considerable
quantities of ashes and pumice, which
o3
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did great damage to the vineyards in
the neighbourhood. The mountain was
not entirely tranquil until December.
— On the 27th April, about a fortnight
after the great eruption of Vesuvius,
/Etna, which had been inactive for 8
years, discharged two streams of lava
from a new mouth about 12 miles
distant from its summit, and then took
another rest of 14 years.

81. The next eruption occurred
on the 19th October, 1767. After the
last eruption, a plain, resembling the
Solfatara, formed within the crater at a
depth of only 20 feet below the rim.
In the centre of this plain was a small
cone which, from the beginning of the
present year, threw up such an sbun-
dance of ashes and Japilli that in May
its summit was visible above the lip of
the old crater. In August, it began
to discharge lava, which gradually
filled up the valley between it and the
old crater, and in September over-
flowed the lip and ran down the
mountain in small streams in various
directions. At the same time the
central cone projected masses of red
hot stones to a height cstimated by
Padre Torre at 100 feet. These streams
of lava suddenly ceascd on the 18th of
October. On the following day the
ancient precursor of a great eruption
appeared at 7 in the morning, in the
form of a dense column of black
smoke, which assumed the form of a
pine tree, and was ultimately carried by
the wind to Capri. In less than an
bour, the flank of the mountain opened,
about 300 feet below the margin of
the old creter, on the side towards
Ottajano. From this point the vio-
lent rush and extreme liquidity of the
lava, which is now knotn to be its in-
variable characteristic when it issues
from a lateral vent, was observed by
Sir William Hamilton, who thus de-
scribed the phenomenon in a letter to
the Earl of Morton, then President of
the Royal Society:-—* I passed the
Hermitage and proceeded as far as the
valley between the mountain of Somma
and that of Vesuvius, which is called
Atrio del Cavallo. I was making my
observations on the lava, which bad
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already, from the spot where it firet
broke out, reached the valley, when,
on a sudden, about noon, I hesrd a
violent noise within the mountain, gnd
at about a quarter of a mile off the
place where I stood the mountain
split; and, with much noise, from this
new mouth a fountain of liquid fire
shot up many feet high, and then a
torrent rolled on directly towards us.
The earth shook, at the same time that
a volley of pumice-stones fell thick
upon us; in an instant, elouds of black
smoke and ashes caused almost a total
darkness ; the explosions from the top
of the mountain were much louder
than any thunder I ever heard, and the
smell of sulphur was very offensive.
About 2 in the afternoon
another lava forced its way out of the
same place from whence came the lava
last year, so that the conflagration was
soon as great on one side of the moun-
tain as on the other.” The first stream
ran into the Atrio del Cavallo between
Vesuvius and Monte Somma; and
when it ceased on the fifth day, it was
found by Sir William Hamilton and
Lord Stormont to be more then 6
miles long, 2 miles broad at its extreme
point pear the Hermitage, and from
60 to 70 feet deep. Sir William Hamil-
ton wrote to Dr. Maty in October,1768,
a year afterwards, that it had not then
cooled, and that a stick inserted in its
crevices took fire immedintely. It filled
up the Fosso Grande, which in one
place was 200 feet deep and 100 feet
broad, and had surrounded the little
chapel of 8an Vito, just before it
ceased to flow. The other current
flowed with great rapidity towards
Portici, which it would doubtless have
destroyed, if it had not changed its
course when only a mile and a half
distant from the village, and proceeded
to 8. Giorgio a Cremano, which it ac-
tually reached. The Royal Palace of
Portici, however, suffered consider-
ably from the shock of the violent
explosions which accompanied this
eruption. The doors and windows
were burst open, and even at Naples
the concussion was felt in the same
manner. So great, indeed, was the

e e s .
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terror of the populace that religious
eeremonies were performed in all the
churches; the prisoners, taking advan-
tage of the oconfusion, attempted to
escape from the prisons ; and the mob
set fire to the gate of the Arcivesco-
wade because the Archbishop refused
to bring out the relies of S. Januarius,
which he was ebliged to do on the
22nd. On the 25th the day after the
lava eeased to flow, vast columns of
vapour loaded with black ashes issued
from the crater. This vapour was so
highly charged with electricity that
flashes of forked lightming continually
shot from it, followed by peals of
thunder. The ashes of this eraption
fell in suech abundance at Naples, that
people were obliged to use umbrellas
i the streets, and the decks of ships 60
miles distant were covered with them,
32. On the 14th Mareh, 1770, a new
wvent opened in the flanks of the moun-
tain SO0 feet below the crater, on the
side of Pompeii, and poured out a
stream of lava 2 miles long and 2700
paces bread, accompanied by the dis-
¢eharge of volleys of stones of great size
which were projected to an extraordi-
nary height. On the 10th August, a
stream of lava was thrown out from
the crater, which destroyed all the vine-
yards st TForre del Greco. In De-
cember another stream descended into
the Atrio del Cavallo, where it over-
ran the great ocurrent of 1767; it
was however much narrower, not ex-
ceeding 12 or 14 feet at its broadest
port. The erater continued to be dis-
turbed at imtervals till the 14th May,
1771, when colunms of black smoke,
attended by a loud explosion, preceded
a flow of lava from the flank, at the
same spot from which the seeond
streams of 1766 and 1767 bad been

emitted. This carrent took a eourse | face

towards Resina, destroying all the vine-
yards in its way, but stopping shert of
the town at a distance of 5 miles from
the point of issae. The king and
queen, secompanied by Sir W. Hamil-
ton, went eut to see its progress over
the plain, and arrived just in time to
witness its fall into a deep trench, 60
feet deep, producimg the effect of a .
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cascade of fire. On the 27th another
stream flowed towards the Bosco del
Maaoro. In the following month, John
Howard, the philanthropist, ascended
the crater and made some interesting
observations on the heat of the moun-
tain. For some time he found no sen-
sible heat, but on gaining the summit
the thermometer, on being plunged
into the ground, rose rapidly from
122° to 1729, and in two places in the
crevices of the hard lava it rose to
218°, He then descended a short dis-
tance into the crater, and by two ob-
servations, carefully made, found the
heat in the internal fissures to be 240°,
The surface of the lava, at the same
time, was merely warm and even so
tolerable as to allow him to lie down
on it. Shortly after the eruptions we
have deseribed, a small cone formed in
the centre of the crater, and continued
to enlarge itself by the accamulation
of ashes till 1773, when it threw
out a small stream which flowed into
the ravine called the Canale dell’
Arena.

93. In the next eruption, which
ocewrred on the Srd January, 1776,
two streams of lava were thrown out
simultaneously, —one from the sum-
mit of the cone, the other from a new
vent in the N.W. flank of the moun-
tain. Both streams flowed for 3 days,
and uuited in the ravine of the Can.
teroni. 8Sir W. Hamilton describes
them as having formed channels as
regular as if cut by art, from 2 to 6 feet
wide, and from 7 to 8 feet deep. The
scoriz on their surface frequently
formed arches or galleries over the
stream, the sides and top of which were
worn perfectly smooth by the passage
of the red-hot lava, forming large hol-
low cylinders, from whose inner sur-
stalaetites of salt were subsequently
formed.

84. The year 1779 was remarkable
for one of the most extraordinary erup-
tions on record, whether we consider
its phenomena or its effects. It com-
menced on the 8th, and terminated on
the 11th August. The mountain had
been more or less disturbed for 4
months previously. In May, a cone,
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15 feet high, had discharged a stream
of lava from the N. W, flauk, a quarter
of a mile below the crater; this stream
took the channels of 1776 and flowed
into the valley in a stream 50 feet
broad ; while the little central cone,
already mentioned, was filling the crater
itself with lava and scorie. The stream
from the flank was crossed by Sir W.
Hamilton and Mr. Bowdler while it
was slowly moving onwards, with no
other difficulty or inconvenience than
the violence of the heat on their feet
and legs. On the 29th of July the flank
of the central cone burst, and dis-
charged a stream of lava into the
Canale dell’ Arena, which flowed down
to the Canteroni. On the Srd August,
the flank of the great crater opened
on the north, about two-thirds of the
distance from its summit, and poured
out another stream of lava towards the
Piano della Ginestra, On the 5th of
August, Sir W. Hamilton, who was
hourly watching the approach of the
eruption which he knew by experience
to be impending, observed the crater
emit vast clouds of pure white vapour
in rapid succession, resembling, as they
collected above the cone, *bales of
whitish cotton.” In the midst of this,
a shower of stones and scorie was
thrown up to a height of 2000 feet. A
stream of lava next burst forth from
the middle of tbe cone, and ran down
for about 4 miles towards Portici,
stopping just before it reached the cul-
tivated ground. So great a quantity
of ashes fell at Ottajano and Somma
that they darkened the air, and ren-
dered objects imperceptible at a dis-
tance of 10 feet. With these ashes
were filainents of vitrified matter like
spun-glass, resembling those which fell
on the Isle of Bourbon in 1766. The
birds were suffocated by the smoke,
and the leaves of the trees were scorched
and covered with saline matter, The
heat was intolerable at S and
Ottajano, and was sensibly felt at Palma,
at Sarno, and at Lauro. In the even-
ing of the 8th a dense smoke was seen
to issue from the coune, followed by a
discharge of scorim and stones of im-
mense size. At 9 r.m. an explosion
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occurred which shook Portici, Torre del
Greco and Torre dell' Annunziata to
their foundations, shattering the win-
dows and cracking the walls of the
houses, and driving the inhabitants in
terror into the streets. *In au instant,”
says Sir W. Hamilton, in a letter to
Sir Joseph Banks, “a fountain of
liquid transparent fire began to rise,
and gradually increasing, arrived at so
amaziiog a height as to strike every be-
holder with the most awful astonish

ment, The height of this stupendous
column of fire couldnot be less than three
times that of Vesuvius itself, which rises
perpendicularly near 3700 feet above
the level of thesea. Pufls of smoke, as
black as can possibly be imagined, suc-
ceeded each other hastily, snd accom-
panied the red-het, transparent, and
liquid lava, ioterrupting its splendid
brightness here and there by patches
of the darkest hue, Within these puffs
of smoke, at the very moment of their
emission from the crater, could be per-
ceived a bright, but pale electrical fire,
briskly playing about in zig-sag lines.”
The light emitted by the column of
fire was so vivid that the whole country
was illuminated for 10 miles round,
aud Mr. Morris, who was residing at
Sorrento, found it sufficiently strong to
enable him to read the titlepage of a
book. The fall of the column was
partly perpendicular, and partly on the
country around Ottajano, That which
fell perpendicularly covered part of
Monte Somma, the entire cone of Ve-
suvius, and the Atrio del Cavallo,
burying, in the latter, the channels of
the former eruption and filling up the
valley to the depth of 250 feet. That
which fell upon the country destroyed
woods and vineyards, broke in the
roof and windows of the palace of the
Prince of Ottajano, of the king's hunt-
ing-lodge at Caccia Bells, and of
nearly every house in Ottajano, which
was then inhabited by 12,000 souls,
Some of the stones which fell upon the
town were found by the monks to
weigh upwards of 100 lbs.,, and the
depth of ashes in the streets, when
visited by Sir W. Hamilton and Count
Lamberg a few days afterwards, was
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4 feet. Another hour of such an erup-
tion would have made the town a
second Pompeii. After the fall of this
columu, the black cloud increased con-
siderably and advanced towards Naples,
8o highly charged with electricity that
it was feared that the forked light-
ning which was constantly darting
from it would destroy the city. One
or two flashes were scen to strike Monte
Somma, as it passed, and to ignite the
grass and brushwood on its surface.
The whole city was in a state of agita-
tion ; the theatres werc closed ; reli-
gious solemnities were performed in
all the churches, and the relics of S.
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two Calabrias were desolated by the
tr d earthqual which de.
stroyed Scylla and ‘Tuined many other
cities and villages, with the loss of
40,000 persons.

85. On the 12th October, 1784, an
eruption commenced which continued,
with little intermission, to the 20th
December, 1785, being an interval of
5 years from the previous eruption.
The lava flowed from the rim of the
crater, and from some fissures in the
flank opp Monte S a, dividing
into three or four streams which ran in
regular channels towards the village of
S. Sebastiano, but stopped before they

Januarius were carried in prc
On the 9th, after again emitting enor-
mous volumes of white and black
vapour, another explosion occurred
more violent even thaun that of the pre-
vious day ; but as there was little wind,
the column was almost perpendicular
and the greater part of its bulk fell back
into the crater, the remainder flowing
down the Atrio del Cavallo for about
8 miles. Some of the large stoucs
which were thrown off by this column
as it rose, burst like rockets into a
th | frag , which da
spherical form as they fell. Others
were found to incluse fragments of
trachytic lava, cortesponding in cha-
racter with the older lava of Moute
Somma. On the 11th there were some

! losi with ther dis-
ch.rge of Iava, ucompamed by the
formation of wmountains of * white
cotton-like clouds, piled,” says Sir W,
Haniilton, “one over auother to an
extraordinary height, and forming such
a colossal mass over Vesuvius as can-
not pcssibly be described or scarcely
imagined.” In the evening the erup-
tion ceased, but the ruin which fell
was so impregnated with volcanic dust
and salts that the vegetation of the
whole district was greatly damaged.
The ashes of this eruption fell at Bene-
vento,Monte Mileto, Foggia,and Man-
fredonia, a distance of 100 miles, which
they traversed in the space of 2 hours,
~— In May, 1780, after a pause of 14
years, [Etna was in eruption, as it was
again in April, 178]. In 1783 the

had reached the culiivated grounds.
Meanwhile a more important change
was going on wnhm the cuter, whnch
in 1783 was an i P
gulf, 250 feet deep. A new conc was
formed by the present series of erup-
tions, and so rapid was its increase that
before the close of 1785 it had risen
considerably above the rim of the old
crater. © On the 12th November, a
month before the eruption ceased, more
than 100 shocks of an earthquake were
felt in the neighbourhood of the moun-
tain.

36. The next eruption occurred on
she 31st October, 1786, and lasted to
the end of November. ‘I'he new cone
threw up suddenly vast quantities of
scorize, followed by a stream of lava
which descended for six days into the
plain, destroying several vineyards 4
miles distant from the crater.

87. In July, 1787, the crater dis-
charged a small stream of lava into the
Atrio del Cavallo, which ran till the.
2lst of December. In July of the
same year /Etna, which had been in-
active for 5 years, threw out clouds
of ashes and lapilli, some of which fell
at Malta and Gozo. In was also in
action in March, 1792.

38, ‘The 38th eruption, the most
important which bas been recorded
since those of 79 and 1631, commenced
in February 1793, aud continued with

ly any intermission till -Mid
mer, 1794. It appears to have attamed
its crisis on the 15th June in the latter
year, for which reason it is frequently

o5
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described as the eruption of ‘94.
Twice during the interval of six years
which had elapsed since the last erup-
tion, the crater had thrown out small |
streams of lava from its summit (in
July, 1788, and in September, 1789),
but they were very feeble efforts and
never passed beyond the valleys of the
mountain. In fact, from the first ap-
pearance of the new cone in 1784, the
principal effect of the internal action
for 10 years appears to have been the
enlargement of the cone and the con-
sequent obstruction of the old crater
by thick defosits of solid matter. In
February, 1793, Dr. E. D. Clarke
traced the lava to its source and found
it issuing from an arched chasm in the I
side of the cone * with the velocity of
a flood,” having “all the translucency
of honey,” and flowing in regular
channels “cut finer than art can
imitate, and glowing with all the
transparency of the sun.” In August
of the same year he observed the
crater throwing out girandoles of fire :
“ millions of red-hot stones were shot
into the air full half the height of the
cone itself, and then bending, fell all
round in a fine arch.” In September
similar columns of lucid fire ascended
from the crater, and as they fell in mag-,
nificent parabolic girandoles, covered
nearly half the cone with fire. At the
beginning of 1794 the crater was
nearly filled with the aceumulations of
these explosions; and as the summer
approached, the mountain gave fre-
quent indications that a great eruption
was impending. The most significant
of these was the tremendous carth-
quake which occurred on the 12th
June, and which was evidently an
effort of the volcano to clear itself of
the which closed the channel

of its internal fires. The whole Terra
di Lavoro, from Monte Tifate to the
sea, and even the country beyond it
as far as Benevento and Ariano, was
convulsed by this earthquake. The
Palace of Caserta was severely shaken,
and many of the public buildings of
Naples still bear marks of the violence
and intensity of the shocks. Between
Vesuvius and the coast the surface of
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the ground was seen to undulate like
a sea, from east to west. At the same
time the water of the springs and
wells was considerably diminished, a
sure sign, in the opinion of the people of
the district,that a great eruption was at
hand. Subterranean noises were heard
at Resina, and smoke was seen to issue
at various points between Torrce del
Greco and the mountain, showing that
the earthquake had produced a fissure
about 3000 feet long, down the S. W,
flank. In the night of the 15th
another earthquake, or rather a sue-
cession of short smart shocks, rent the
houses of Naples and of all the towns
in the vicinity. These were immedi-
ately followed by the appearance of a
small th in the ancient trachytic
strata below the base of the great
crater, at the place now called Peda-
mentina, and not much more than
1600 feet above the level of the ses.
This mouth, after aloud explosion, dis-
charged a stream of lava and immense
volumes of black smoke. A few
minutes later, another mouth opened
lower down, fullowed by others ia
quick succession and at distinct poirits,
but all in a perfectly straight line
towards the coast between Resina and
Torre del Greco. Fiftcen of them
were counted by Sir W. Hamilton,
who believes that ethers existed but
were concealed by the smoke. The
explosions from these mouths or Poe-
cole, some of which are still visible
near Resina, resembled the reports of
heavy artillery and were accompanied
by a hollow subterranean murmur like
the roaring of the sea in a storm.
Each mouth was distinetly seen from
Naples to pour out in parabolic lines a
separate stream of lava. These streams
united as they approached the plain and
rolled on steadily towards the sea. At
the same time the smoke collected
above them into an enormous mass of
clouds, which overspread the whole
mountain and was uitimately oarried by
the wind towards Naples, discharging
in its course incessant flashes of forked
lightning, one of which struck the
Palace of the Marquis of Berio at San
Giorgio, and suggested grave appre-
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bensions for the safety of the capital.
The lava, s it spproached the sea, at
first threatened Resina; it then altered
its course and advanced towards Torre
del Greco, ia a vast broad stream, over
the old current of 1631. It passed
right through the centre of the town,
buried the cathedral, several churches,
and the greater part of the houses
under a mass of stone varying from
12 to 40 feet in thickness, and advanced
380 feet into the sea in a mass ] 204 feet
wide and 15 fest high, presenting as
it cooled a tendency to assume the
columnar structure of besalt. This
stream, which may still be examined
at Torre del Greco, was 50 unusally
fluid that ounly 6 hours elapsed from
the sime when it left the crater till i
entered the sea, o distance of rather
mere than 4 miles. As it passed
through the town it illwstrated in a
very remarkable manner, by its effect
on metsllic substances, the intense heat
of liquid lava even when it has been
exposed for 6 heurs to the atmosphere,
and has reached a distance of 4 miles
frem the point of eruption; iron was
swelled to theee or four times its origi-

NAPLES.—VESUVIUS, 299

' the smoke cleared away, it was seen

that the south-eastern side of the crater
towards Bosco-tre-Case had fallen in,
reducing the beight of the margin on
that side (which Saussure in 1773 had
found to be exactly equal to that of
Rocco del Palo, the north-western
margin) by 426 feet. The sea at
Torre del Greco, on the 17th, when
Sir W. Hmmlton examined the lava
in a boat, was in a boiling state at the
distance of 100 yards from the new
promontory, and no boat could remain
near it on t of the melting of
the pitch on her bottom. For nearly
a month after this eruption the crater
poured out enormous quantities of
, loaded with fine white
ashes almost in the form ofpowder
This vapour becoming condensed in
the atmosphere descended in torrents
of heavy rain, deluging the whole
country with volcanic mud, and pro-
ducing in the end more damage than
the lava had effeeted, particularly to
the vineyards of Somma, to the culti-
vated land in the vicinity, and to the
cattle which were destroyed by thou-
sands. Many of the ravines, like the

nal volume, and its internal structt

entirely changed ; silver was rapidly
melted ; glass was eonverted into a
stony milk-white mass; and other
metals underwent changes such as we
can produce only by the most intense
artificial heat.  Breislak, who wit-
wessed and described the eruption,
calculated by careful measurements
that the bulk of the whole stream of
lava was 46,098,766 cubic feet, and that
the bulk of that portion of it which
entered the sem was 13 millions of
eubic feet. During these latern} erup-
tions the central cone of Vesuvius had
been entirely inactive. On the morn-
ing of the 16th, however, it opened
nesr the summit on the side of
Ottajano, and dischacged with great
wvelecity a stream of lava which dis-
troyed a wood on the eastern side of
the mountain, but stopped before it
reached the cultivated plain. The
asbes which accompanied this dis-
charge fell at Taranto, and at places
in Calabria 140 miles distant. When

Foso Grande on the declivities of
Monte Somma, were nearly filled with
this roud, which hardened as it cooled,
forming a white pumiceous tufa
which may still be examined in sitx.
Of the loss of life caused by the lava at
Torre del Greeo no accurate estimate
was ever formed ; but it is believed to
have been confined to the sick and
aged, whom there was no time to re-
move from their houses, and who were
thevefore left to perish in their beds.
Of the 18,000 inhabitants the greater

were known to have escaped
to CasteHammare ; others escaped to
Naples, and some, whose retreat was
cut off before it was possible to quit
their homes, saved themselves on the
tops of the bouses, and on the next
morning escaped by walking over the
sooriaceous surface of the moving lava.
Among the vineyards overwhelmed by
the Java was the oelebrated one which
produced the Lachryma Christi, and
which is said to bave comprised 3000

acres. Afler this catastrophe, King
(N
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Ferdinand made great efforts to induce
the inhabitants of T'orre del Greco to
rebuild their town on a safer spot, but
they refused to abandon the old site
and began immediately to build another
townon the still smoking material which
covered their former habitations. This
was the last eruption of Vesuvius in the
18th century, though some very in-
teresting changes were effected before
the century entirely closed. Several
minor cones formed in the inner cir-
cumference of the crater, and, by a
succession of small explosions, com-
pletely filled the crater with lava and
scori®, giving to its surface the aspect
of a rough rocky plain intersected by
deep fissures from which volumes of
vapour were continually evolved. This
state of things lasted, with very few
changes, till 1822; the eruptions which
occurred in the first 20 years of the
present century having heen altogether

important pared with those of
the last. In fact, with two or three
exceptions, the eruptions of the last 50
years have happily been more remark-
able for the changes which they have
made in the height and structure of
the crater, and for the extended know-
ledge which modern science has derived
from them in regard to their mineral
and chemical products, than for the
effects they have produced on the sur-
rounding country. After the eruption
of 1794 Vesuvius remained for 10
years in comparative repose. .Etna,
however, was four times in action in
the same period,—in 1798, 1799, 1800.
and 1802.

39, The next eruption commenced
on the 12th August, 1804, and con-
tinued at intervals to the Srd December.
For some days previously it had given
warning of its approach by the diminu-
tion of the water of the springs and
wells. It began with a violent ex-
plosion of stones and scorise, followed
by a discharge of lava from an opening
in the western side of the crater. On
the 29th August another stream of lava
was thrown out from an opening in
the southern flank of the mountain
not much above the plain. This
stream separated into several branch
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which ran down with great rapidity
into the cultivated tract between Ca-
maldoli and the Casino del Cardinale.
Like all lavas which issue from lateral
vents it was extremely fluid, much
more so indeed than any Vesuvian
lava of which we have any previous
record. It ran the first  of a mile in
4 minutes, and in 5 hours it reached
the sea, near Torre Scassats.

40. Another eruption occurred on
the 12th August, 1805. It had been
preceded by a very severe earthquake,
called the ¢ Tremuoto di 8. Amna™
from having occurred on the 26th July,
the festival of St. Anne, the Virgin's
mother. The lava overflowed the rim
of the crater on the S.E. side, and was
seen by Baron Humboldt, M. Von Buch
and M. Gay-Lussac, who were on the
mountain at the time, to shoot sud-
denly from the margin to the base of
the cone in a single instant. It de-
scended with great velocity into the
plain in three streams more remark<
able for their velocity than their size ;
but when they reached the level plain
above ‘Torre del Greco the velocity de-
creased, and they advaneed at the rate-
of only 18 inches in a minute; one of
them crossed the bigh road on the east
of Torre del Greco, where it may still
be seen; the other stopped short about
midway between that town and Torre
dell' Annunziata. The crater con-
tinued more or less active till the 27th
January, 1806, when, after a loud ex-
plosion, the come poured out vast
quantities of smoke in spiral wreaths,
On the 31st May, there was another
explosion of the same kind.

41. On the 4th September, 1£09, a
new mouth opened on the S. E. side
of the crater and discharged a stream
of lava which separated into two
branches shortly after it leR the
mouth; these branches united after-
wards and flowed into the Atrio del
Cavallo, having formed a regular
island in their course. On the 5th
there was an eruption of ashes and
lapilli, most of which fell back into
the crater, where they of course aug-
mented the existing obstruction to the
free action of the volcano. In com-

e
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sequence of this repeated accumulation
of matter within the crater, to an ex-
tent far greater than the small erup-
tions could relieve, scarcely a year

d without an explosion or an
earthquake down to 1822, Although
they were mostly confined to the
crater itself and were rather explosions
than eruptions, they were watched by
many geologists with great interest,
not only on account of their rapid
succession, but as affording a very
instructive opportunity for studyiog
the phenomena of an intermittent vol-
cano. During the remainder of 1809
the mountain was more or less dis-
turbed, and continued so for about 4
years without any important change.
In September, 1810, there was some
activity within the channel of the
erater, the glare of the internal fire
being strongly reflected by the mass
of vapour which hung continually over
the mouth. In December, 1811, a
smart earthquake gave renewed indi-
cation that the mountain was making
another effort to clear its channel.
While Vesuvius was in this state,
ABtna was twice in action,—in March,
1809, and in October, 1811.

42, The long-threatened eruption
took place on the 12th June, 1812. At
9 in the morning loud explosions were
heard, followed by large volumes of
dark smoke and showers of scoriee and
fine ashes, which lasted for an hour
and then ceased. At 11, the explosions
were beard again, and shortly after-
wards the crater poured out an im-
mense quaantity of smoke, which com-
pletely covered the horizon and glowed
like fire with the reflection of the molten
lava which filled, but did not over-
flow the erater. This was followed by
showers of seorise, renewed at intervals
wntil the 14th, when the crater was co-
vered by an immense column of smoke.

43. ‘The next eruption occurred on
the 24th and 25th December, 1818.
On the first day, there was an earth-
quake which was felt at Naples and
other places in the neighbourhood.
On the 25th, a violent discharge of
ashes was immediately fullowed by an
eruption of lava, which divided into
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two branches and flowed over the older
streams in the direction of Torre del
Greco. About 10 at night one of the
currents ceased, while the other con-
tinued running during the night and
part of the next day towards Bosco-
tre-Case and Bosco Reale. On the
morning of the 26th an explosion,
resembling the report of a park of
artillery, shook the houses of Naples
but without doing any damage. A
column of vapour and ashes was next
emitted from the crater, by which the
horizon was obscured. As the second
stream of lava was still in motion, the
inhabitaats of Lorre dell’ Annunziata
and the neighbourhood were at one
time apprehensive that they might
share the fate of Torre del Greco in
1794. ‘The king went in person to
watch the progress of the Java and to
reassure the people, as the current had
taken a course which secured them
fron danger. Among the scientific
men who visited the mountain during
the eruption was M. Menard de Groye,
who published a description of it.

44. After a pause of 4 years the
mountain was again in action on the
22nd of December, 1817, Two small
cones had formed in the crater during
the 4 years which bad elapsed since
the last eruption; and as the crater
had for many years been nearly full
with the accumulated matter of former
explosions, their summits were visible
above the rim of the crater. From the
22nd to the 26th of December in this
year, these cones poured out streams
of lava, one of which took the direc~
tion of the Camaldoli, the other that
of Bosco del Mauro, but without
reaching either, although they were
still in motion at the beginning of
1818. The latter may still be traced
between Bosco del Mauro and Tor-
cigno, on the S. E. side of the moun-
tain. ‘The crater continued tq be
more or less disturbed during 1818
and 1819. In the latter year, and
again in 1820, it was visited by Sir
Humphry Davy, who published an
account of his observations in the
“ Philosophical ‘Transactions.” ZEta
was in action in May, 1819,
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45. In April, 1820, the mountain
exhibited rather a series of eruptions
from many veuts than a single great
eruption,
charge of lava from a new mouth in
.the southern flank of the mountain
above the Pedamentina, followed by
the appearance of 6 others on the

N. W. flank, at the base of the great :

cone ; these 6 mouths were in a direct
line clearly indicating the course of a
long fissure.
stream of lava issued, which united
and flowed into the Fosso della Ve-
trana, where it may still be examined.
The Crown Prince of Denmark, who
was in Naples at the time, made re-
peated visits to the mountain during
the eruptions, and embodied his ob-
servations in a very imteresting paper
which he read before the Naples
Academy of Sciences. These lateral
mouths continued to emit lava during
the month of May, and even later, as
did also the two little cones within the
grest crater, one of which, in October,
was higher than the Punta del Palo,
and ultimately increased so much that
the two cones became incorporated as
one central cone.

46. The next and more important
eruption occurred on the 22nd of Oc-
tober, 1822, Early in the year the
water in the wells had diminished, and
the mountain had begun to give signs
of energetic action. A new mouth
had opened near the 6 lateral mouths
of the last eruption ; and on the 23rd
and 24th February it poured out seve-
ral streams into the Atrio del Cavallo,
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out volumes of dark smoke, which
were followed by loud explosions and
rumbling noises within the mouatain,
which were heard throughout the whole
district. About 5 A. M. on the next
morning, the great cone of scorie
which Lord Minto hed previously as-
certained by barometrical measurement
to be 4156 feet above the level of the
sea, and 185 feet higher than the
Rocea del Palo, the highest worthern
margin of the crater, suddenly fell in
with a loud crash. At the same
time, the crater, after several shocks
and explosions of grept violence, threw
oat two streams of lava, ome of
which overran the old lavas in the di-
rection of Bosco-tre-Case, the other
ran down the west side of the mountain
towards La Favorita and Resina, but
stopped short at Il Monte. It was at
first half a mile in breadth, bet it after-
wards spread to the breadth of a mile.
Another subsequently issued
from a new come, and followed the
same course; and a fourth issued from
one of the old voeosle of 1794, and ran
in the direction of Torre del Greco.
These lavas were not ceol when Sir
Charles Lyell examined them 6 years
afterwards, but were still evolving
much’ hewt and vapour from fissures in
their surface. The ashes and stones
thtown out on this occasion were so
large and numerous that shey entirely
closed the high road from Resina to
Torre dell’ Annunziata. For 4 days
they fell in one eontinued shower, and
they did not cease entirely for 12 days.
The atmosphere was so filed with
fragm y ashes and biack sugitic

panied by tremendous explosi
in which vast qusutities of sand and
ashes were projected to an immense
height, with enormous masses of red-
hot stones, which fell back again into
the crater, considerably augmenting the
size of the cone, and producing an effect
80 grend that 4000 persons aseended the
mountain on the 23rd, and 10,000 on
the 24th, for the purpose of witnessing
it. The great eruption occurred on
the 22nd Octob The people had
been for it by the water again
sinking in the wells for 2 days pre-
viously. About noon the crater seat

sand that the day was converted into
dark night, and the inhabitants could
not venture to leave their houses with-
owt a lantern. This darkness pre-
vailed as far even a8 Amalfi, where
the ashes and sand fell to a depth of
several inches. Their depth on the
declivities of the mountain was ascer-
tained by Montieelli to be 3 feet;
their depth on the plain was from 16
to 20 inches. At Pompeii, Professor
J. D. Forbes found the deposit to be
several feet deep in places where it had
drifted; in the more exposed parts
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it varied from 2 to 3 inches, as may
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pidly decreased by the dilapidation of

still be seen mear the Amphitheatre. | the sides, for Mr. Babbage, on examin-

To add to the destruction which such
showers of sand and ashes invariably
occasion, the vapour from the crater,
which rose to the height of nearly
10,000 feet above the level of the sea,
discharging from every part incessant
flashes of forked lightning, was sub-
sequently coodensed into showers of
heated water which fell in torrents, and
literally deluged the villages of S. Se-
bastiano and Massa, filling the houses
with alluvium, and suffocating several
persons who lingered too long in their
homes. The rain was observed by
Mr. Scrope to form, as it descended,
small pisolitic globules by the attrac-
tion and aggregation of the more
minute pnmlu of fine volcanic und,
many of which may be examined in
sitw st Pompeii in thin layers mixed
with a loose brown tufa. The larger
stones were in many instances pro-
pelled to an extraordinary distance.
One mass of augitic lava, many tons
in weight, was throwa into the gardens
of Prince Ottajano, 3 miles distant,
Some lasge lumps of chloride of sodium,
or common salt, were also ejected. On
the 26th, a cloud of exceedingly fine
ashes issued from a fissure in the mar-
gin of the crater, and d ded, or

ing the crater soon after the eruption,
ascertained that its bottom was 938
feet below the highest part of the rim,

rand 459 feet below the lowest part;

and Mr, Scrope made a similar cal-
culation of the depth. By this de-
struction of the cone the height of the
mountain was reduced at once from
4200 to 3400 feet, and it was still fur-
ther diminished in the of a few
mouths by the continued decompo-
sition of the rim and sides of the cra-
ter. In this state the crater remained
almost without change till 1827, when
it began again to fill up from one or
two small cones, which threw up large
quantities of scorie, and in a short
time had increased so mueh in bulk as
to form again one central cone,

47. Oa the )4th March, 1828, an
eruption took place from a rent in the
side of the crater on the eastern side,
and about 15 fvet in circumference.
It commenced with the appearance of
a vast quantity of smoke, followed by
a discharge of stones and of some lava.
On the 20th the opening had increased
to 60 feet, and the ejected matter had
formed a segular cone around it to the
height of 50 feet, from which volleys
of st were discharged at intervals

appeﬂed to ducend. the side of the
mountain, causing great alarm among
the inhabitants of the plain, who sup-
posed it to be a stream of boiling
wﬂer, until Monticelli ascertained its

of 10 minutes. On the 22ud, two
other openings much larger than the
first made their appearance in the sides
of the crater. After pumerous ex-
, one more violent than the

real ter, and satisfied the peopl
that they had been misled by an op-
tical delusion. By this eruption, the
enormous mass of lava and scoriz
which for more thau a quarter of a
eentury had filled the interior of the
great crater was entirely expelled,
leaving an irregular gulf, 3 miles in
circumference, and, according to the
local writers, 2000 feet in depth, the
sides of which were inaccessible on
account of their steepness and theu-
Y \ PSS of 4 comL
with hydrosulphuric and hydrochloric
gss. But if the depth were really
8000 feet from the highest point of
the existing summit, it must have ra-

rest threw the three apertures into one,
and from the buge mouth thus formed
an immense column of black smoke
asceuded, wuming. the well-known
form of a pine tree, A strcam of lava
subsequently issued, which ran round
the base of the crater into the Atrio
del Cavallo. Immense showers of
stones were thrown out from this ori-
fice, most of which fell back into the
erater, and raised its bottom so con-
siderably that when it was measured
in 1830, the bottom was found to be
only 160 feet below the lowest part
of the rim and 640 feet below the
highest, so that in 2 years it had
been raised nearly 300 feet. In the
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midst of this bottom was seen the
central cone formed by the last erup-
tion; it was a small black cone, in
incessant action, precisely as Sir Charles
Lyell observed it in November, 1828,
when the cjections were so frequent
as to render the crater inaccessible.
The eruption terminated by several
ehocks of an earthquake, which did
considerable damage at Ischis, and are
said to have becn felt at Reggio and
at Palma in Calabrid.

48. The next eruption commenced
on the 18th September, 1831. In the
3 years' interval which had elapsed
since the last eruption, the small black
cone in the centre of the great crater
had been so rapidly increasing, that
when this eruption occurred it was
more than 150 feet above the circum-
ference of the crater, which was filled
to the brim with the accumulated
scoriz, forming a level surface around
the cone. M. Von Buch had long
before asserted that, when a crater is
in this state an eruption is not far
distant ; and so it proved on this oc-
casion. The cone on the 18th Sept.
discharged a strecam of lava which
ran rapidly down the mountain in the
direction of Bosco Reale, but stopped
short before it reached it. On the
evening of the 25th December, another
stream was pourcd out from the cone
in the direction of Resina, flowing in
the broad channel formed by the great
current of 1822, in which it stopped
before it reached the cultivated ground.
But other streams succeeded it at
intervals of a few weeks, and the
eruption did not finally cease till
February, 1832, when it was found
that the crater had been cleared of a
large quantity of the accumulated
scorie, and that the greater part of the
tall cone had been carried away, In
1833, M. Abich found that the flat
surface of the crater was rent by a
fissure, along which were several small
cones emitting vapour ; and two other
cones of larger size were soon after-
wards formed in other parts of the
surface. In the beginning of August,
the water in the wells at Resina
began to diminish rapidly, On the
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12th large crevices opened in the en-
tire circumference of the crater. On
the 13th three streams of lava de-
scended from these crevices in the
direction of Torre del Greco, divid-
ing, as they advanced, into numerous
streams. They were followed at an
interval of 2 hours by two streams
which flowed rapidly towards the Can-
teroni. A violent explosion was sub-
sequently heard within the mountain,
followed by the appearance of a tall
column of vapour, the lower portion of
which was reddened by the reflection
of the volcanic fire. But all these
were only the precursors of the great
event which was nigh at hand,

49. In August, 1834, the long
threatened eruption occurred which
entirely changed the aspect of the

tain. It commenced with a series
of violent expl which shook the
country far and wide. Two streams
of lava were next thrown out, one
from the lip of the crater, the other
from the base of the old cone, accom-
panied by flames which M. Abich
assures us were those of hydrogen.
One stream took a westerly course and
lost itself in the Atrio del Cavallo; the
other flowed down the S.E. declivities
of the mountain in the direction of
the Bosco Reale, advancing with great
rapidity in a vast current nearly half a
mile broad, and from 18 to 30 feet
deep, which did not stop until the
8th day when it had reached a dis-
tance of 9 miles from the point of
issue. Nothing could stop its pro-
gress. It engulfed the entire village
of Caposecco, sparing out of 500
houses only 4 which were standing on
the outskirts. It swept through the
richest vineyards, destroyed about 300
acres of cultivated land, and injured or
overwhelmed nearly 800 houses. Pom-
peii was at one time in imminent
danger of being buried a second time
under a more impenetrable material
than that which now covers it ; and so
intense were the apprehensions excited
for its fate that the King, the Queen,
the whole Court, and thousands of
persons from Naples, thronged the
scene of desolation to watch the pro-
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gress of the lava, and to render aid to
the unfortunate peasants who were
flying to Castellammare for shelter,
with all the furniture and effects which
they bad time to save. So great was
the heat evolved by this stream of lava
that it was felt sensibly at Sorrento.
‘While this scene was going on upon
the plain, another of a very remarkable
character was proceeding within the
crater. The cones observed by M,
Abich in 1833 and all the remains of
the old cone were swallowed up; the
plain which formed the floor of the
crater sunk down into two abysses, so
deep that it was impossible to see their
bottom, and divided from each other
by & narrow ridge of lava. The
structure of the ceatral cone was thus
thrown open, and was found by M.
Abich to have been formed not by
upheaval but by successive deposits of
scoriee which had fallen back into the
crater during previous eruptions. In
the following year there was a violent
conflagration within the crater which
lasted for 2 hours.

50. The next eruption began in
March, 1838, and continued at inter-
vals to January 1839, when it rcach-
ed its climax. On the 6th March,
in the former year, several streams of
lava were poured out from the great
crater, which descended slowly and in
long narrow lines into the valleys of
the mountain, accompanied by the dis-
charge of enormous masses of red-hot
stone, like rockets, into the air, and by
repeated explosions within the crater,
which shook the mountain to its very
base. At night, for a considerable
period, the vapour and smoke which
were continually collecting over the
crater reflected the internal fire with
s0 much intensity that a great flow
of lava was expected daily. It was
not however until January, 1839, that
the long threatened eruption took place.
Two streams of lava were ejected from
the lip of the crater, one of which took
the direction of the Fosso Grande,
which it entirely traversed ; the other
ran down the mountain towards Ot-
tajano, near the great stream of 1794.
At the same time the crater threw
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out upon Torre del Greeco and Torre
dell’ Annunziata, such an extraordi-
nary quantity of lapilli and swall
black sand composed of regular crystals
of augite and tourmaline, that the
roofs of houses, the ficlds, and the roads
were covered with them, in some
places to the depth of several feet. So
great was the difficulty of removing so
extensive a deposit, that 3 months after-
wards we found every flat surface in
the neighbourhood of these towas still
covered with it. The crater was com-
pletely changed by this eruption ; the
interior assumed the form of a vast
funnel 300 feet deep, the sides of which
were so much inclined, that it was
accessible to the very bottom, in the
centre of which was a small mouth
which was continually emitting vapour,
In this state it remained till 1841,
when a small cone began to form over
the mouth in the centre, and to pour
out lava and volleys of red hot.stones
in such sabundance and with so little
intermission that in 4 years its bulk
was sufficiently increased to make its
summit visible from Naples, while the
old crater was alnost filled to the
brim with the ejected matter. — Be-
tween this and the next eruption, in
1845, Litna was in action, after a long
period of rest.

51. On the 292nd April, 1845,
Vesuvius was again active, and con-
tinued so during the greater part of
the year. A small narrow mouth
opened at the base of the central cone,
now enlarged to a considerable bulk,
and threw out a small stream of lava
which excited great interest among
the geologists who attended the Scien-
tific Congress at Naples in that year,
on account of the very beautiful crys-
tals of lucite which it contained, a
mineral which had previously been

pposed to be confined to the ancient
lavas of Monte Somma.

52. Another eruption occurred on
the 13th November, 1847. ‘I'en small
streams of lava overflowed the great
crater on the E. and S.E. sides, and
ran down towards Ottajano, Bosco
Reale,and Torre del Greco, but stopped.
at a short distance from the woods
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which surround these towns, A new
but very small mouth at the same
time fornred on the flanks of the moun-
tain, which for some time threw up
stones and scoriz with a great noise,
accompanied by immense quantities of
sulphurous vapour. From this time
to the great eruption of 1850, the
mountain was seldom tranquil for
more than a month or two at a time,
and for nearly 3 years it may be said
to have been in continual action. In
December, 1849, scarcely a week
passed without an eruption, small
indeed in quantity, bat very interest.
ing to the mineralogist on account of
the crystals of leuacite which were again
found in the ejected lava.

53. The next eruption, which was one
of the most important of the present
century, commenced on the 6th Feb.
ruary, 1850, and continued very nearly
to the end of the month. The crater,
as we have seen, was very nearly full
to its brim when the eruption of 1845
occurred, and the subsequent dis-
charges of lava, frequent as they were,
failed to relieve the crater of the con-
tinual accession of new materials which
were emitted from the central cone.
At the beginning of 1850 this cone
was about 70 feet higher than the rim of
the old crater. It was composed en-
tirely of scoriz, and had at its summit
a funnel-tike crater of about 3 miles in
circumference and 100 feet deep. In
the month of February, the usual
noises and ramblings within the moun-
tain and the appearance of columns
of vapour from the cone gave indica-
tions that a great eruption was at
tiand. On the 7th the 8.E. side of
the cone opened and poured out such
a mass of lava into the valley or de-
pression which separated the cone from
the rim of the old crater, that the
latter gave way to an immense’extent,
and in a few days was nearly levelled
with the Atrio del Cavallo. The lava
descended the declivity in three streams,
two of which advanced upon Ottajano,
where they destroyed part of the villa
aud a large tract of the estate belonging
to the Prince of Ottajano; the third
took the direction of the Bosco Reale.
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It continued to flow during the two
following days, accompanied by tre-
mendous explosions, which shook the
country for miles round. On the 9th
the lava was advancing with a front of
about a mile and a half broad and
12 feet deep upon Bosco Reale, which
it reached and enveloped shortly before
9 at night. The wood, containing
some magnificent speecimens of oak,
ilex and ash trees was entirely con-
sumed, and though thousands of
people were on the spot who by a
little energy might have cut down and
carted away the most valuable timber
before the lava had had time to reach
the spot, not a single effort was made
to save it. So also with the farming
stock and utensils of the Masseria, the
growing crops, the doors and bells of
the Franciscan church which was em-
bosomed in the wood, all of which
were left to share the fate of the trees.
The farmhouse itself was also over-
whelmed, though from lts solidity of
construction it was the only object
which gave even a temporary check to
the advancing current. The only thing
which it was thought desirable to
remove was the powder fromi the ma-
gazine at Torre dell’ Annunziata, as
the town was at one time in danger
not only from the lava but from the
continual fall of red-hot stones. With
regard to the trees, the larger ones, as
soon as they were enveloped in the
flowing lava, poured out jets of hissing
steam from every knot and branch,
and then exploded with a loud noise,
leaping into the air to a height of from
10 to 20 feet. Asthey were consuming,
they threw up a stream of bright clear
flame, like that which Sir William
Hamilton had observed when trees
were destroyed in one of the eruptions
of the last-century. The lava ran on
until it nearly reached the sea, and
was estimated to have covered a surface
of 14 square miles. Of the destruc-
tion which it caused, the traveller who
visits the spot will require no written
description. We shall only add that
during the whole of this eventful
night the m in was enveloped in a
prolonged shower of red-hot scorize
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and st of a size, pro-
ducing a magnificent effect, but en-
tailing imminent danger on the many
hundred persons who ascended the
crater to witness it. A young Polish
officer was struck by a mass of large
size, which caused a compound fracture
of the thigh, lacerating the artery in
such a manner that he bled to desth
on the spot. An American officer was
struck on the arm by a stone, which
stripped the flesh down to the elbow,
producing alarming hamorrhage,
which endangered hm life for many
days. A soldier of one of the numerous
detachments which the government
sent out to keep order, and two other
persons of the country, were killed,
while many others sustained contusions
more or less severe. The result of
this eruption was an entire change in
the aspect of the mountain. The walls
of the old crater, as we have seen,
were broken down ; and the central cone
was reduced considerably in height and
form. Its summit, when the eruption
ceased, was about two miles in circum-
ference; its crater was 150 feet in depth,
and accessible to the bottom. Two
years after this eruption, on the 20th
August, 1852, £Etra which had been
for 9 years in a state of repose, burst
suddenly into action. After three vio-
lent shocks of an carthquake, two new
craters were formed in the Val del
Bove, near the lateral cone called the
Pietra Musara, from which clouds of
minute ashes were cjected over the
lands on the S. E. of the mountain,
and were carried by the wind in co-
lumns towards the sea. These showers
.of ashes were followed by an eruption
of lava which descended rapidly down
the valley in three streams. One
these, flowiug through the narrow
valley of Calanna, took the direction of
Zafferana, advancing upon that town
through the rich and highly cuitivated
lands which form the lower border of
the woody region, in a stream 2 miles
wide and 9 feet deep; the second
flowed towards Milo, and the third

*3 11

towards Giarre. The latter streams |
| years; at the same time they make it
took the direction of Zafferana con- |

stopped in a few days, but that which
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tinued to flow until it had nearly
reached the town, producing the most
serious apprehensions for its safety.
On the 8th Noevember a new crater
opened which poured out a fresh
stream of lava which reached the Val
del Scisnosto and again threstened
Zaffersna. This was one of the most
formidable eruptions of modern times,
and it is said to be more than 500 years
since the lava flowed in that direotion.

Summary. — It msy be useful to the
traveller to bave a brief summary to
the principal facts established by the
erwptions we bave described : —1.
When the crater is nearly full, or its
surface is little depressed below the
rim, an eruption may be considered
near at hand. The periods of rest
occur when the crater bas been
thoroughly cleared out by a violent
explosion, or by a series of small erup-
tions,. 2. When the mouth of the
crater is so small or so narrowed by
accumulated matter as to be unequal
to the free discharge of the lava col-
lected in its antnl channel, lateral
openings are formed, which, being
nearer the source of hest, discharge
the lava in a state of much greater Ii-
quidity than thve great erater, and often
in parabolic curves. For this reason
the lava currents from lateral vents are
always the most rapid in their move-
ments. 3. The cohesion of a lava cur-
rent, which exceeds that of any other
substance known, causes it to move
slowly in the form of a tall ridge or
embankment, the surfacc of which
gradually loses its state of fluidity as
it besumes ceoled by the external air,
and aided probably by the escape of
heated vapour from the interior of the

of | mass, eracks into innumerable frag-

ments or scorie, some of which form
a deep layer on the surface, while
others roll down the sides and make a
regelar channel for the advancing cur-
rent. As these scorie are bad con-
ductors of heat, they enable the cen-
tral portion of the mass to retain its
flaidity for several days, and to pre-
serve its hest for months and even

possible to cross the current as it flows.
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4. The earthquakes which precede and
accompany an eruption are caused by
the effort of the elastic vapour to clear
the internal channel when it is ob-
structed by masses of solid matter.
‘When the ehannel is not obstructed,
the eruption is seldom preceded by an
earthquake. 5. The smoke from the
crater is aqueous vapour, more or less
dark as it happens to be charged with
ashes or volcanic dust. When this va-
pour condenses in the atmosphere it
descends in the form of warm rain,
which assumes the consistency of mud
when the vapour is loaded with ashes
in excess, and when the ground on
which it falls is ecovered with fine
fragmentary matter. 6. The fire which
is seen above the crater during an
eruption is not flame, but the reflection
of the molten lava within the crater
upon the clouds of vapour which ac-
cumulate above it. 7. The lightning
which is seen playing and darting from
the edges of these clouds, and which is
kunown by the local name of ferilli, is not,
as was once supposed, the explosion of
inflammable gases, but the development
of the electricity which is now known
to be produced by the rapid condensa-
tion of vapour into water, and by the
conversion of water into steam at high
temperatures and under pressure. 8.
The diminution of the water in the
springs and wells, and the sudden re-
tiring of the ses, are popularly regarded
as infallible indications of an approach-
ing eruption. Numerous theories have
been adduced in explanation of these
phenomena, but as our purpose is sim-
ply to record facts, we abstain from en-
tering into a question which has been so
long the subject of conflicting opinions.

Geological Structure.— After the de-
tails we bave given of the changes
which have been effected in the moun-
tain during 1800 years, it will not
be necessary to describe its geolo-
gical structure at any length. Moate
Somma being the representative of the

ient volcano, we may t what
we stated at the commencement of this
article, that the semicircular crest of
rocks which enclose Vesuvius on the
north, and the little ridge of Peda-
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mentina on the south, agreeing as they
do in geological character, are the re-
mains of the walls of the original
crater destroyed by the eruption of 79,
and that the cone which was then
formed b a distinct i

under the name of Vesuvius. ‘The
lower beds of Monte Somma, like the
lower strata of the plain around it,
are of enormous thickness, and consist
of a compact whitish pumiceous tufa,
supposed by M. Von Buch to have
been formed under the sea before the
m in was upheaved. This tufa
contains some shells of species still
existing in the Maediterranean, and
numerous erratic blocks of limestone
altogether different from that of the
district, some of which have been ren-
dered so crystalline by the action of
heat, that they may almost be called
marble. They contain marine shells
of the supercretaceous group, and some
of them have been found with serpuls
of great delicacy attached to them.
Upon these beds of tufa, which con-
stitute more than half the height of
Monte Somma, rest numerous conoen-
tric layers of leucitic lava, which are
supposed to be the lavas of the ancient
eruptions of the mountain. They ine
cline regularly outwards at an angle of
26°, and slternate with beds of scorise
to the very summit, the whole being
intersected by numerous dikes of com-
pact lava, many of which intersect cach
other. The best place for. examining
these strata and dikes is the Foaso
Grande, a ravine in the flanksof Somma
on the leR of the road to the Hermit-
age, where they have been exposed by
the action of torrents. From that
point the traveller will be able to no-
tice the remarkable regularity with
which each concentric layer rests on
the one below it, a circumstance which,
is adduced by recent geologists as a
proof that they have all been deposited
in succession by a cone of eruption,
and not thrown up by a crater of ele-
vation, as M. Von Buch suppoeed, in
which case it is contended that they
would have been cracked and inter-
rupted ‘by frequent faults. In the
Fosso Grande may also be examined
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the enormous beds of hard white tufa,
which were formed by the volcanic
mud in the eruption of 1794. In
connection with Monte Somma we
may record the remarkable discovery
of Professor Ehrenberg, who found in
the pumice which covers Pompeii the
siliceous casts of fresh-water infusoria ;
even in fragments which had evidently
been subjected to great heat. Sir C.
Lyell explains this fact by suggesting
that the infusoria had been left behind
when the water which was charged
with them was evaporated from the
pumiceous rocks, implying, therefore,
that the fires had been fed by fresh-
water lakes; while Dr. Daubeny con-
siders that the tufa had been formed
under fresh-water charged with the in-
fusoria, and that the pumice had been
produced from this tufa by volcanic
heat, which was insufficient to destroy
the casts of the animalcules.

A deep semicircular valley. which
has frequently been mentioned in the
preceding pages under the name of
the Atrio del Cavallo, separates Monte
Somma from Vesuvius. It was nodoubt
a portion of the original floor of the
ancicnt crater, but it is now covered by
accumulated streams of modern lavas.

Veswvins, the cone of the eruption
of 79, has been ascertained at various
times, when portions of its sides have
been rent or broken down, to be com-
posed of distinct concentric beds of tra-
chytic lava; scoris, and tufa, which dip
outwards in all directions from the
axis of the cone, at an angle varying
from 30° to 40° at their upper part,
butb tal as they approach
the precipitous escarpment of Monte
Somma. The lowest of these beds are
intersected by vertical dikes of augitic
lava from 400 to 500 feet high, which,
from their bard compact structure and
the depth at which they occur, are
evidently more ancient than any erup-
tion of which we have record. They
are best examined on the N. side near
the Punta del Palo. This point, the
highest margin of the crater, has been
the subject of frequent measu
in connection with the south-eastern
margin opposite Bosco-tre- Case, which

ot
hor

.
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has been the lowest point of the cra-
ter since it was broken down by the
great eruption of 1794. When Saus-
sure measured these margins baro-
metrically in 1778, he found that
their height was equal —3894 feet
above the level of the sea. 1n 1794,
Poli, by barometric measurement, cal-
culated the height of Punta del Palo
at 3875 feet, while Breislak calculated
it at 3920 feet. In the same year the
south-eastern margin, after the erup-
tion, was found to be 426 feet lower
than Punta del Palo. In 1805, Baron
Humboldt, on whose authority we
give these figures, measured both
points barometrically in conjunction
with M. Gay Lussac and M. Von
Bucly, and ascertained their relative
heights to be 3856 and 3414 feet above
the level of the sea. In 1810, Brioschi,
by trigonometrical measurement, cal-
culated the height of Punta del Palo
at 4079 feet; in 1816 Visconti, by
trigonometrical measurement, calcu-
lated it at 3971 feet. In 1822, Lord
Minoto, by frequent barometric mea-
surements, calculated the height of the
same point at 3971 feet, while Mr.
Poulett Scrope calculated it at 3802,
Monticelli and Covelli at 3990, and
Baron Humboldt at 4022 feet — the
height of the south-eastern margin in
the same year, according to Baron
Humboldt’s measurement, being 3491,
a difference of 531 feet. It would
appear, therefore, that the Punta del
Palo has been gradually increasing in
height since Saussure’s measurement
in 1773; and Baron Humboldt, after
noticing the remarkable correspond-
ence of the various results obtained by
s0 many observers with differently
constructed instruments and with dif-
€ erent formule, observes that ¢“one is
almost involuntarily led to hazard the
bold conjecture that the northern
margin of the crater has been gradually
upheaved by subterranean forces.”
Minerals. — The catalogue of Vesu-
vian minerals, which was formerly so
voluminous, has been reduced to 40 by
the accurate observations of Professor
Scacchi, who found that many of the

new ones, which were named in honour
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of men of science, were identical with
others which had long been known.
By far the greater part are found in
the trachytic lava of Moante Somma, or
in the erratic masses of limestone and
conglomerate, which were ejected by
the ancient eruptions of that mountain.
Vesuvius produces only augite (the
most abundant of the whole), horn-
blend dalite, beeislakite, sul-

mica,
phur, magnetic iron, and leucite
(ejected). Somma produces, in ad-

dition to these, sarcolite, giobertite
(carb of magnesia), fluorine, apa-
tite (phosphate of lime),quartz

lapis lazuli, and mellilite (varieties of
which have been called at various times
humboldtite, somervillite, and surlite),
all of which are rare; aragonite, mon-
ticellite (silicate of magnesia and lime),
sommite or nepheline (davyite and
cavolinite); anorthite (christianite and
biotine) ; comptonite, haiiyne, zircon,
atacamite (ehloride of copper), mica
crystals, olivine, felspar, sal ammoniac,
idocrase (Vesuvian, the pyramidal
garnet, the most beautiful variety found
in the European continent, oocurring
always in erratic blocks and never in
lava), ite, py (epidot), ti-
taniferous iron, limonite (bydrate of
iron), and others of more common oc-
currence which it is unnecessary to
specify.

It remains ouly to add that the pre-
sent king erected, in 1844, a Meteor-
ological Observatory near the Hermit-
age, for the purpose of collecting
precise scientific information on the
phenomena of the volcano. It is built
in the form of a tower, on a bhill
2080 feet above the sea. The upper
floor contains apartments for the ac-
commodation of the royal family when
they visit the mountain. It is under
the direction of Signor Melloni, whose
scientific attainments will doubtless
make it celebrated by observations of
great value to future geologists.

No account of Vesuvius would be
complete which failed to notice the red
and white wine produced by the vine-
yards which luxuriate in thesoil formed
by its decomposed scoriee, This wine,
which has become celebrated under the
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somewbat profane name of Lachryms
Christi, is now so well known in Eng-
Jand that it is unnecessary to describe
its qualities; we shall therefore con.
tent oursclves with quoting Chiabrera’s
eulogy of its merits, observing merely
that the white kind appears to surpass
the red in retaining the peculiar deli-
cacy of flavour which distinguishes it
fromall the other wines of Campania:—
“ Chi fu de’ contadint 1} si fndisereto,

Ch’ a sbigottir 1a gente

Diede nome dolente

Al vin, che sovra gli altri H cuor fa Heto ?

Lacrima dunque appellarassi un rso,
Parto di nobilissima vendemmia ?*

HERCULANEUM.

After a visit to Vesuvius, the tra-
veller will no doubt take an eerly op-
portunity of exploring the cities which
were its victims.

The entrance to Herculaseum is at
Resina, at the corner of the maiu street
and the Vico di Mare. The feeis 6
carlini to the two custodi, who provide

h The e ations ealled the
Scavo Nuovo, are at a little distance
from the theatre, but are under the
control of the same custodi.

We have already meutioned in our
account of Vesuvius that Hereuls-
neum, Pompeii, and BStabie, were
destroyed by the eruption of 79,—
Herculaneum by the volosnic mud or
alluvium which followed the eruption,
Pompeii and Stabie by the showers
of ashes ejected from the crater.
Stabiee, which has been sufficiently
d in our t of Castellam-
mare, was the first of the three cities
which was re-discovered ; but it was
so partiaily disinterred that it has alto-
gether ceased to present any objeet of
interest to the traveller beyond the site
on which it stood. Herculaneum was
discovered by the accidental opening
of a well in 1706, about 50 years be-
fore any regular excavations were
made at Pompeii.

The three cities were situated at
nearly equal distances from each other,
—Herculaneum on the site now oecu-
pied by Portici and Resina, about 4
miles from Naples; Pompeii, on the
right bank of the Sarne, between 4
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and 5 miles from Herculeneum; and
Stabise on tbe rising ground on the
northern flank of Monte S. Angelo,
between 3 and 4 miles from Pompeii.
Herculaneum, originally a Pheeni-
cian city, derived its name, as we have
stated in our account of Vesuvius, from
two Syriac words, signifying * preg-
nant with fire.” The antiquaries of
the last century expended avast amount
of learning in endeavouring to connect
its history with that of Hercules, whom
Dionysius of Halicarnassus mentions
as its founder, but there is now no
doubt that it dates from the earliest
period of the Phenicien colonisation.
‘The city was subsequently occupied by
the Pelasgi and the Oscans, under whom
it became one of the 12 cities of the
Tyrrhene confederation. With those
cities it became involved in the Sam-
nite War. It was besieged by Spurius
Carvilius the Consul, and captured
B.C. 294, after it had twice repulsed
him with heavy loss. It was sub.

811

low walls. Its port was called Re-
tina, & name which is still preserved
in the modern Resina; while the
« Hereulis Porticum,” which Petro-
nius mentions as the portico of
a temple dedicated to Hercules at
the western extremity of the city,
is commemorated in the present town
of Portici. The name of Herculaneum
lingered on the spot till the middle of
the 5th century, when the eruption of
472 destroyed the cluster of villages
which the poorer citizens erected on
the ancient site after the destruction of
the city in 79. The promontory men-
tioned by Strabo was ascertained, du-
ring the excavations of the last century,
to be about 95 feet within the present
line of coast, the intervening space be-
ing entirely filled with volcanic matter.

In the year 63 A.D., Herculaneum,
like the other cities of the plain, was
seriously injured by the earthquake
mentioned in our account of Vesuvius,

quently restored to liberty, and ad-
mitted to an alliance with Rome. In
the year 80 B.c. it joined the other
cities in the Social or Marsic Wars
against Rome, and was again besieged
and taken; but the inhabitants were
soon afterwards admitted to the rights
of citizenship, with the privilege of
being governed by their own laws
under the Demarchs and Archoas, of
whom mention is made in many of the
inscriptions which have been disco-
vered. Several distinguished Romans
subsequently had villas in the city or
its suburbs; Servilia, the sister of Cato
of Utica and the mother of Brutus,
resided here in a villa given to her by
her lover Julius Casar; Tiberius con-
fined his niece Agrippina in another
villa, which was destroyed by her son
Caligula, in order to obliterate every
trace of the cruelties she had suffered.
The city is described by Strabo as
situated on a promontory which ran
out into the sea and was ‘remarkably
exposed to the S. W. wind, which made
it unusually healthy ;” and L. Sisenna,
the historian, who flourished =.c. 91,
describes it as built upon a hill be-
tween two rivers, and surrounded by

, indeed, leads us to suppose
that some part of it was overthrown
by the catastrophe:—¢ One part of
Herculaneum was destroyed, and what
remains is not safe.” In 79, before it
was possible to repair this damage, it
was overwhelmed by the torrents of
volcanic mud mixed with ashes, for
which the eruption of that year was'
remarkable. This mud, formed of the
trachytie matter of Monte Somma, filled
the houses and public buildings nearly
to their roofs, and hardened as it
cooled into a coarse tufa, upon which,
in subsequent eruptions, showers of
ashes, volcanic alluviums, and streams
of lava, were deposited to a depth
varying from 70 to 112 feet. Sir
William Hamilton calculated thst
these accumulations were the work of
six distinct eruptions. In the course
of bis investigations he found that they
are divided by thin strata of good soil,
in which Lippi has discovered large
numbers of land shells, which are sup-
posed to have burrowed into them to
hybernate during the intervals of the
successive deposits.

As we have described the pheno-
mena of the eruption of 79 in our ac-
count of Vesuvius, it is unnecessary
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to rcpeat the details in this place. It
. will be enough to state that nothing
has been found to support the popular
opinion that the destruction of the city
was attended by any great loss of life.
On the contrary, the discovery of
only two skeletons in the earlier exca-
vations, one of which, from the cast
made by his extended arm upon the
tufa, would appear to have perished
in the attempt to save a bag of gold,
is a convincing proof that the inhabit-
auts had time to escape; while the
very rare occurrence of portable arti-
cles of value, such as money and plate,
is an additional proof that they were
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decorate with all the antiques he could
procure. Hearing that a person in
the town, in deepening a well, had dis-
covered some fragments of mosaics, he
not only purchased them, but bought
likewise the right to search for more.
This well, which is now believed to
be ancient, at least in its lower part,
was about 90 feet deep. Near the
bottom was an opening, like those
which were sometimes formed by the
early Christians in the catacombs, and
still more like those which they formed
in the wells of Malta for purposes of
concealment. From this hole a pas-
sage led inta what were considered the

able to remove nearly all the valuabl
which they could carry. We have
already said that the poorer classes of
citizens returned to this spot after the
catastrophe, and built some small
villages which preserved the name
of their ancient home down to the
5th century. During the existence
of these villages, the Romans are sup-
posed by Winckelmann to have made an
attempt to excavate the ruins. He
quotes a dedicatory inscription, con-
taining the words “signa translata ex
abditis locis ad celebritatem thermarum
severianarem,” &c., as a proof that the
objects to which it referred were taken
from one of the buried cities; but the
Abate Fea is of opinion that the term
“abdita loca™ is of too frequent occur-
rence in inscriptions to be regarded as
a confirmation of thisidea. From the
5th to the beginning of the last century,
the existence of Herculaneum was en-
tirely forgotten. Portici and Resina had
been built upon the volcanic matter in
which it was entombed, and no one
among the many thousands who, for 13
centuries, enjoyed their villeggiatura
on the delightful shores of Granatello,
ever dreamed that he was dwelling upon
a city as venerable, and once as conspi-
cuous, as Naples.

The discovery of that city is due to
one of those fortui cir
which have so often brought to hght
the hidden treasures of classical Italy.
In 1706, the Prince d’Elbceuf, of the
house of Lorraine, was building a
cusino at Portici, near the mole of
Granatello, which he was anxious to

dations of h and streets, but
which we now know to be the walls of
the Proscenium of the Great Theatre.
For 5 years the Prince continued his
excavations, without appearing to have
any precise knowledge of the history
or the name of the site he was cx-
ploring, and brought to the surface
numerous statues and fragments of
ancient sculpture, some of which he
sent to France, while he reserved
others for the decoration of his villa.
At length, on the discovery of one of
the female statues of the Balbus family,
Count Daun, the Austrian viceroy,
thought it necessary to interfere. He
claimed, in the name of the State, the
restitution of all that the Prince
d’Elbeeuf had discovered, and peremp-
torily prohibited the removal of any
other fragments. Some of the statues
which the Princerestored, Count Daun
sent to Prince Eugene, with whom he
hadserved under Marlborough, and who
had been his commander at the sicge
of Turin, Prince Eugene had them
placed in his garden at Vienna, and,
at his death they were purchased Ly
Frederick Augustus, King of Poland
and Elector of Saxony, for his palace
at Dresden, where they are still pre-
served. The war of the Quadruple
Alliance soon called Count Daun into
more active service, and the viceroys
who succeeded him held office for too
short a period to give any thought to
the discovery of antiquities. For 30
years, therefore, nolhmg more was
done, and the excavations were again
for a time forgotten,
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In 1736, two ‘years after the acces.
sion of Carlo Borbone (Charles I11.),
his majesty determined to build a pa-
lace at Portici. In the progress of
the building, Colonel Alcubier, a co-
lonel of engineers, who had the direc-
tion of the works, represented to the
king the existence of the well from
which, in former times, 50 many an-
tiques had been obtained. His majesty
immediately ordered the excavations
to be resumed, but unluckily ap-
pointed the colonel to superintend
them. This officer, zenlous as ke was,
was quite ignorant of antiquities, of
which, indeed, we have a proof in the
fact that on finding an inscription in
bronze letters, he had the letters de-
tached from the marble without copy-
ing the inscription, in order to send
them to the king. He next explored
and defined the great theatre, and
found the bronze chariot with its four
horses and containing a figure of
bronze gilt, which is supposed to have
stood over the entrance of the building.
This quadriga had evidently been
thrown down by an esrthquake. for it
was lying broken on the ground; but
instead of collecting the parts for the
purpose of being restored, Colonel Al-
cubier had them carted off to Naples,
and thrown, like rubbish, into the
Castel Nuovo, where they lay until
the continued pilferirg of the frag-
ments induced the Government to have
the remainder melted down into busts
of the king and queen] He removed
the pictures from the walls without
preserving any trace of the beautiful
arabesque frames in which many of them
were fixed, and allowed those which did
notappearso well preserved as the others
to be destroyed.  Fortunately for the
interests of art, this system was not of
long conti The colonel of en-
gineers was removed to a more con-
genial post, and was succeeded by a
- Swiss, Carl Weber, a man of taste and
a scholar, to whom, says Winckelmann,
“ the world is indebted for all the
discoveries which have since been
made.” He arranged all the objects
as they were found in the Royal Palace
of Portici, and Couart the sculptor was
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employed under his direction, to repair
and restore the sculptures which re-
quired reparation. At this time so
little was known of the true character
of the site, that Mr. William Sloane,
who was in Naples in 1740, in com.
ting an t of the e -
tions to the Royal Society, of which
his relative Sir Hans Sloane was then
president, described it as being con-
sidered by some to be a city called
% Aretina in the time of the Romans,
and by others Port Hercules, where
the Romans usually embarked for
Africa, and which it is wasthought was
overwhelmed by an eruption of Vesu-
vius, not sunk by earthquakes, as
Cuma, Baia, and Tripergola” In
the same year, Mr. Knapton descended
the well and explored the theatre and
the parts adjacent. He found in the
interior of the theatre “great quanti-
ties of timber, bheams, and rafters,
broken and entire, lying some one way,
some another, and all converted into
perfect charcoal, except where it had
been moistened with water, where it
was like rotten wood.” The whole
place was filled with fragments. ‘The
buildings were all of brick, covered
with thin plates of marble; the columns
were of the same material, coated with
stucco; and the walls were decorated
with paintings. Mr. Knapton mentions
also two columus of oriental alabaster,
which had been got out of the well
and sold for 50,000 ducats. As the
well, which up to this time bad formed
the only means of access, was found
both difficult and dangerous for the re-
moval of such large objects, a new
entrance was opened in 1750, in the
form of a long narrow passage sloping
gradually down into the theatre, at a
point where it is about 65 feet below
the level of the strecet. This passage
is cut through the solid lava, and is
still the only way by which the traveller
can descend to examine thie building.
About this time the king was in-
duced to bring the Abbe Bajardi from
Parma, and confer upon him an annual
pension of 5000 ducats, in order that he
might write a complete account of the
researches which his majesty intended
r
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to prosecute in the buried oities of the
district. The result of this arrange-
ment, after the labour of five years,
was the production of Bajardi’s well-
known, but ludicrous, work in 5 large
quarto volumes, in which he attributed
the origin of the cities to Hercules, and
indulged at such length in his favourite
theory, that he began with the history
of the demigod ab ovo, and had scarcely
brought him to the 24th year of his
age at the close of the 5th volume.
The king, weary of this learned pedan.
try, insisted that the abbé should
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rity of the houses above, it was found
necessary to build up some of the most
interesting edifices as soon as they had
been rifled of their treasures. Of these
excavations nothing is visible but the
theatre, one-third of which lies under
the main street of Resina, and the
Scavo Nuovo: but as the present king
has recently resumed the works, there
will soon probably -be many more ob-
jects to engage our attention.

The Theatre, when first discovered
and cleared, must have been a very
instructive object. It is now so en-

bered with the walls and buttresses

write a history, not of H. les, but of
Herculaneum ; the reproof, however,
produced only a dry catalogue of the
antiquities, unenlivened either by his-
torical research or artistic criticism.
The excavationscommenced by Carlo
Borbone were continued for nearlv 50
years, but with so few hands, so little
system, and in so desultory a manner,
that it is more surprising that so much
was brought to light than that so
much was left for future explorers to
overcome. At the same time it must
be admitted that the difficulties of
excavating such a site were as consi-
derable as the expense was serious to
an exchequer drained by the costs of
frequent wars. In the first place, the
buildings were filled with a material
which there were no means of re-
moving in any quantity to the surface ;
the bhard tufa and the harder lava pre-
sented a perpetual obstacle to the pro-
gress of the workmen ; and these im-
pediments were increased by the exist-
ence of the two towns on the overlying
strata, which made it dangerous to
excavate without taking immediate
measures to support the soil above by
an extensive series of substructions:
For these reasons, as soon as one por-
tion was excavated, it was immediately
filled up with the soil and rubbish
from the site which was next ex.
plored: shafts or cunicoli were sunk
from the surface in every direction,
from the palace to the fort of Grana-
tello, and from that point along the
coast almost to the eastern boundary
of Resina, in order to ascertain the
limits of the city ; while, for the secu-

which have been built to sustain the
soil above it, that it is little better
than a labyrinth; and although some
of its details are very interesting as
illustrating the architecture of a Ro-
man theatre, the traveller will obtain a
much better idea of the general ar.
rangement of such a structure from
that which he will meet with at Pompeii
than from the most laborious explora-
tion of these ruins. It will be suffi-
cient, therefore, to say that the area
consists of 18 rows of travertine seats,
about a foot high by 3} feet wide, di-
vided into six compartments or cunei
by seven lines of stairs, called by the
Romans vomitories. 'These stairs led
directly from the semicircular inclo-
sure of the orchestra to a broad cor-
ridor, above which was a portico with
three other rows of seats. The or-
chestra is about one-third larger than
that of San Carlo, which is the largest
modern theatre in Europe. At the
back of the stage the volcanic matter
which filled the building still exhibits
the cast of a mask of the human face,
formed, no doubt, while the mask
was hanging against the wall. Sir W.
Hamilton says that, when it was dis-
covered, it was as clear as if it had
heen "taken in plaster of Paris, and
that the mask itself was perfectly un-
injured. Over the architraves of the
side-entrances to the orchestra, two
inscriptions were found ; one recording
the erection of the theatre at the cost
of Lucius Annius Mammianus Rufus,
Judge and Censor;the other recording

| the name of the architect, Numitiuy
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the son of Publius. In a passage at
the back of the stage is the well which
will always be regarded with curiosity
as the origin of the excavations. The
ground about it is generally very slip-
pery, so that it must be approached
with caution. At the right end of the

ium is a rectangular base,
which evidently bore a statue. It has
the following inscription : — “ Ap.
Claudio. C. F. Pulchro. Cos. Imp.
Herculanenses. FPost. Mort.” At the
left end is another with the inscription
“ M. Nowio Balbo Prat. et Procons.”
‘The roof and upper part of the build-
ing was supported, at equal distances,
by large square pilasters, built of com-
pact red brick with marble cornices,
the surface being lined with marble
slabs or decorated with paintings,
many of which may now be seen in
the Museo Borbonico. Statues of
Drusus and Antonia, and of the Nine
Muses, were found in other parts of
the building. In the galleries, stalac-
tites are continually forming by the
percolation of water charged with car-
bonate of lime. It is calculated that
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east of these was a large temple; and
on the west, divided by what appeared
to be the course of a sinall stream, was
a large villa—a very nolle structure,
surrounded by a garden, with an ob-
long square court before its western
front, surrounded by a portico sup-
ported by fluted columns of brick
stuccoed. In the angles were termim
and busts; in front of each terminus
was a fountain ; and in the middle of
the court was a larger fountain deco-
rated with statues. Some beautiful
mosaics and sculptures were found in
this villa; and in one of the rooms
was discovered the Library of Papyri
of which we have given an account in
our description of the Museo Borbo-
niso. The cabinet which tained
the papyri had leen converted into
charcoal by the action of fire, The
papsri themselves so closely resembled
the same material that many of them
were mistaken for it, and were either
broken to piecesorthrown away; and the
remainder would have shared the rame
destruction, if their regularity had not
induced a more minute examinaticn

the theatre would oontam 8000 persons.

Although there is nothing beyond
this theatre to be seen at this end of the
city, it may be interesting to state briefly
the principal discoveries which were
made. On theS.side of the theatre was
a temple, standing with it in a public
square in which the two equestrian sta-
tues of the Balbi were found. From this
temple a broed straight street, paved,
like Pompeii, with blocks of lava, bor-
dered witb foot-pavements and lined
with porticos, led, almost due east, to
another temple, standing also in a pub-
lic square. In the middle of the street
on the nortb side was a hasilica, 228 feet
Jong and 132 feet broad, surrounded by
s pottico of 42 columns, and decorated
with paintings.  Over the entrance
was an inscription recording that M.
Nonius, the Proconsul, erected it, with
the gates and the city walls, at his own
cost. On the south of the street of
the basilica were several squares of
buildings arranged on a regular plan
and with perfectly-straight streets, like
the modern city of Turin. On the

which led to the detection of written
characters, Some of the richest trea-
sures in the Naples Museum were dis-
covered in this villa. It would be
tedious to give a complete list; but
we may mention the statues of Es-
chines, Agrippina, the Sleeping Faun,
the Six Actresses, the Mercury, the
group of the Satyr and the Goat; the
busts of Plato, Scipio Africanus, Au-
gustus, Seneca, Demosthenes, &c.; and
some interesting specimens of furniture,
linen, and food.

The Scavo Nwovo was commenced
near the sea in 1828, and continued till
1838. The principal objects disco-
vered were some loman tombs, ap-
parently constructed subsequently to
the eruption of 79,and a country villa
of great extent, called the Casa di
Argo. from a painting of lo guarded
by Argo which was found in the
dining-room. ‘I'his villa also supplied
the museum with some valuable speci-
mens of eatables. Near it was found
an inn, in which a skeleton was no-
ticed. But the interest of this excava-

rs
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'tion was materially diminished by the
discovery that the site had been ex-
amined by the Prince d’Elbeuf more
than s century before.

During the whole of these excava-
tions nothing was found which gave
any certain knowledge of the size of the
city ; and the explorers do not appear
to have reached any one of the gates
or, any portion of the walls. It was
ascertained that the city was built ona
stream of trachytic lava which must
have been coeval with the ancient
eruptions of Monte Somma; and that
the houses, as far as they were ex-
plored, were generally of one story.

The traveller who is desirous of
returning to Naples after leaving Her-
culaneum may vary his route home-
ward by passing down the Vico di
Mare to Granatello, with its little Fort
and Mole, beautifully situated on the
shores of the bay, and commanding
the most charming scenery. ILe Mor-
"telle, behind the Fort, is a public pro-
menade, which wants nothing but an
English landscape-gardener to make it
delightful in itself, and an agreeable
urnament to the Royal Palace in its
rear. ‘The ancient line of the Hercu-
lanean coast has been ascertained to be
exactly midway between the northern
boundary of the Mortelle and the
southern extremity of the Palace.
The geologist will be much interested
by a walk along the coast from the
Mole of Granatello to Torre dell’ An-
nunziata, There is scarcely a spot in
the whole distance of 9 miles, which
does not afford instructive evidence of
the mode in which the lava.currents
have entercd the sea. The little pro-
montories and cliffs are all composed
of lava, which in many places exhibits
a columnar structure,

POMPEIL

‘The railroad from Naples to Castel-
lammare has a branch from Torre dell’
Annunziata to Nocera, which passes
close under Pompeii, and skirts the
whole of its eastern wall, This branch
line has a station at Pompeii, but as its
trains run less frequently than those to
Castellammare, the traveller has the
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choice of two routes: —1. By the first
he will leave the branch at the Pompeii
station, which is near the quarter of
the Forum, and is about equi-distant
from the two main entrances to the
city. The best plan, if this route be
followed, is to walk or ride from the
station to the old road, which will
enable him to enter the city by the
Street of the Tombs, quit it by the
modern entrance at the barracks, and
then proceed to the amphitheatre. —2.
By the second, the traveller will leave
the railway at Torre dell’ Annunziata,
and there hire a carriage to convey him
to the Street of the Tombs, to wait for
him at the barracks’ entrance, convey
him to the amphitheatre, and thence
back to Torre, all which must be ar-
ranged by bargain before starting. Six
carlini is a fair price for this services
but nothing should be paid until the
journey be completed. A few coppers
should be taken for the sweepers of
the mosaies, &c.

Inn : — Hotel Bellevue, 2 new inn,
close to the railway, kept by S. Pros-
peri, a very civil and obliging landlord.

Guides : All appointed by the go-
vernment, and easily recognised by
their uniform. They are generally in-
telligent men, but the traveller, who
does not comprehend the Neapolitan
idiom, should engage one who can
speak French. Jacobo, one of the best
guides, can speak French, and a little
English also, and understands all that
is worth seeing. The fee is 1 piastre
for a party, and 6 carlini for a single
person, which ought to include all the
pictures and other ohjects which are
kept locked; but there are separate
custodi for the Temple of Venus, the
‘Temple of Quirinus, and the House of
the Augustals, each of whom expects
1 carlino. As a general rule, the tra-
veller will find that the smaller his
party the better; and that Pompeii
will be more appreciated on a d
visit than on a first.

Situation and History. — Pompeii is
situated on a hill of trachytic lava,
formed by the ancicnt eruptions of
Monte Somma. This hill appears to

have formed a pevinsula, surrounded
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on two sides by the sea, which almost
washed the walls of the city on the
west and south, and bounded on the
east by the river Sarno, which was fore
merly navigable for a short distance
above its mouth. The position of the
city, therefore, must have given it con-
siderable importance as a military and
commercial port, and also as one of the
most agreeable watering.places on the
. southern coast of ancient Italy. Al-
though Seneca calls it “a celebrated
city,” we know little of its history
beyond the facts that it was of Pheeni-
cian origin (p. 278.), that it was sub-
sequeantly occupied by the Oscans, the
Etruscans, and the Samnites, and that
it was one of the twelve cities of the
Tyrrhene confederation. In the Social
‘War it was besieged by Sylla after he
had conquered and destroyed Stabiz,
and was only saved from the same fate
Ly the diversion made by Cluentius,
who compelled the Roman gt | to
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Roman colony. Long, however, before
this event, in fuct from the time when
it became a municipium, it was one of
the favourite resorts of the aristocracy
of Rome. Cossinius, the Roman gene-
ral, made it his head-quarters in the
Servile War, and was nearly surprised
and captured by Spartacus while he
was bathing on the beach, Cicero had
a villa in the Augustan suburb, in
which he composed his « Offices * and
entertained Augustus, Balbus, Hirtios,
and Panza as his guests. Claudius
took refuge within its walls from the
tyranny of Tiberius, and his son Dru.
sus Jost his life here by suffocation
while swallowing a pear. During the
same reign, Phadrus resided here as
refugee from the persecutions of Seja.

nus; and Seneca himself tells us that
all his early youth was passed at Pom-
peii. The ouly other fact of interest
in the history of the city is recorded
by Tacitus, who states that in the year

give him battle in the neighbourhood
of Nola. After this, the proceedings of
Publius Sulpicius, the tribune, com-
pelled Sylla to raise the siege, and
return with his army to Rome to quell
the sedition which bad been exciied by
the intrigues of Marius, Pompeii after-
wards made her peace with Rome, was
admitted to the rank of a municipium,
and, like Herculaneum, was allowed
to retain the privilege of being go-
verned by her own laws, Sylla, how-

59a quarrel, occasioned by some pro-
vincial sarcasms, took place in the
amphitheatre between the people of
Nuceria (Nocera) and those of Pom-
peii, which ended in a sanguinary
fight (atrox ceedes) in which the former
were beaten with greatloss. Smarting
under their defcat, they went to law,
and finally appealed to Nero who gave
judgment against the Pompeians. He
sentenced Regulus and the other ri
lndcn to be banished, and ordered a| l

tacles and theatricul amuse-

ever, appears to have quently
dismantled the fortifications, in order
to prevent the possibility of any fi

resistance; and still furtber to secure
this object, he established a military
colony in the suburbs, to keep the
citizens in check,—a proceeding which
gave rise to frequent disturbances, fol-

lowed by appeals to the Roman senate |

ments to be suspended in the city for
the space of ten years, a sentence of
unusual severity, which, instead of les~
sening, appears to have increased the
hostility of the provincials, as there is
still extant in the Street of Mercury a
rude drawing, in which the victory of

in which Cicero took a conspi

| the citizens is comniemorated in a
p by no flatteriig to the
defeated party..

share. Under Augustus, the city re-
ceived another colony, consisting chiefly
of disbanded veterans, who were located
with the colony of Sylla in the suburb
outside the walls, heyond what is now
called the Herculaneum Gate.  After
this second immigration, the suburb be-
came known as Augusta Felix. Under

Nero (a.n. 55), Pompeii became a

Destruction.— While labouring under
this interdict, and about four years after
it had been proneunced, the city was
startled by a more terrible visitation,
This was the earthquake of Feb. 5. 63,
the first indication that the internal
fires of Vesuvius were returning to
their ancient channel. Tacitus says

r3
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that it threw down the greater part of
the city. Seneca tells us that it ruined
the city, and did considerable damage
to the places in its neighbourhood, swal-
lowed up 600sheep, und deprived many

ple of their r So great was
the terror which it inspired that the
Pompeians abandoned the city fur a
time. They returned, however, in the
course of a few months, and began to
repair the damage it had d. An-
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have uccasion to notice, we shall find-
that the site of the public Treasury
was not forgotten, and that consider-
able ingenuity was exercised to obtain’
access to its stores. For these explora-
tions, lawful as well as furtive, facilities-
were afforded by the partial reoccupa-
tion of the site, for there appears to be
no doubt that many of the lower classes,
hke those of the sister city of Hercu-
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other earthquake in the following year
apoears to have done still greater mis-
chief, for we still find many of the
floors out of their level, the columns
bear evidence of having been violently
dislocated, and the walls of the public
buildings still show marks of havmg
been split or cverthrown. The ci

» built villages upon the ruins
after Vesuvius bad relapsed into inse~
tivity, and that these villages continued
to be ied by their d dants for
about four centuries. They are sup-
posed to have been destroyed by the
eruption of 472, after which the site
was nbandoned for ever.  Subsequent
erup ve layers

were in the act of repairing these da-
mages aud of rebuilding the shattered
edifices, when the great eruption of
Aug. 24. 79, occurred. The details of
that awful night, as recorded by Pliny
the younger, who was a witness of the
eruption, will be found in our account
of Vesuvius. To that account we have
only to add here that, while Hercula-
neum was inundated and destroyed by
a deluge of volcanic nlluvmm, whu:h

of volcanic matter upon the accumula-
tions of the first, and we may now see
at least seven distinct strata of scorise,
tufa, and lapilli, varying in thickness
according to the vivlence of the erup-
tion which produced them, and covered
by about 2 feet of very rich and produc~
tive earth, formed by the decomposition
of the surface. The name, however,
appears never to have been lost like
that of Herculupeum. for the term

afterwards hardened into tufa, Pomp
was overwhelmed by showers of red-
hot stones, scoriz, and pumice, no lava
baving ever reached it. The roofs
of the houses, being mostly of wood,
were burnt by the heated matter, or
broken down by the weight of the ac-
cumulated ashes. Compared with the
estimated population, the number of
skeletons hitherto discovered is ex-
tremely small, a fact whlch proves that
the inhabit ded in
escaping ; and as the lowest of the dif-
ferent strata which now cover the
ruins are found to have been broken
in many places, there is no doubt that
when the eruption ceased, many of the
citizens revisited the site and removed
such property as could be reached
from the upper plrts of their houses.
In some in the b

have been found dlslurbed in a much
rougher manner than their owuers
would have been likely to adopt; in
one rcmarkable case which we shall

ta

«“Campus Pompeius” occurs frequently
in the chronicles and ecclesiastical docu~
ments of the middle ages. With such.
a record perpetuated in the living lan-.
guage of the country, and with the
upper wall of the Great Theatre still
visible above the surface (for these:
is abundant proof that it was never
buried), it seems almost incredible that'
Pompeii should have remained undis-
covered and forgotten down to the
middle of the last century. Still more
extraordinary is the fact that so in-
genious an architect as Domenico Fon-
tana, when employed by the Count of
Sarno in 1592 to form an aqueduct for
conveying the water of the Sarno to
Torre dell' Annunziata, could have
carried his subterranean channel under
the most interesting portion of the
city, traversing the Forum and three
Temples, and sinking his air-shafts or-
spiracoli over wore than a mile of its
surface, without having his curiosity-

excited by the foundations of ancient
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buildings which were continually im- | accomplished, and this sum, it is under-
peding the progress of his work. At | stood, is generously advanced from the
that period, indeed, no one seems to | private purse of his present Majesty.
have had an idea of the treasures which | If we may regard the results of the
had thus been undermined. In fact, | last 100 years as an index of the future,
another century elapsed before Macrini, | or in other words, if we may reduce
observing numerous traces of houses | them to an arithmetical calculation, it
and walls in the more exposed portions | will follow that, as it has taken 104
of the surface. conjectured that they | years to excavate one quarter of the
might possibly mark the site of the | city, 312 years, at the same rate of
long-lost city of Bompeii. Whatever | progress, must elapse before the whole
may have been thought of this sugges- ' site will be cleared. The part now ex-
tion by the scholars and antiquaries |uvuted contains 2 forums, 9 temples,
of the period, the Spanish Viceroys | 2 basilica, 3 piazze, an amphitheatre,
were the last persons to expend any | 2 theatres, a prison, double baths,
portion of the public revenue in testing | nearly 100 houses and shops, several
its probability, and the problem was | villas, a considerable portion of the
destined to remain unsolved for another | walls, 6 gates, of which only 2 are

60 years. tolerably perfect, and about a dozen
Discovery.— It was not till 1748, | tombs.
when a countryman, in sinking a well, Walls and Towers.—The walls have

discovered a painted chamber con- | been traced throughout their whole
taining statues and other objects of | extent, though a portion only, which
antiquity, that anything like a real | was excavated in 1814, is open to our
interest in the locality was excited. | examination. ‘They are about 2 miles
Carlo Borbone, the first resident sove- | in circuit, and are elliptical in form,
reign whom Naples had seen for many | presenting scarcely any angles except in
generations, was then upon the throne, | the neighbourhood of the Amphitheatre
and the recent excavations at Hercu- ' and at the central gate of the noérth
laneum had awakened a desire for side. On the west, there are no traces
further explorations. That sagacious | of the wall, though it is supposed that
prince, therefure, ordered the excava- | the villas which we meet with in that
tions to be p d on a sy ic | direction are built on its foundations.
plan. In 1755 the amphitheatre was | In all probability the rapid slope of
cleared, and from that time to the pre- the ground towards the sea rendered
sent the works have gone on, with more | the protection of a wall unneccssary
or less activity, the greatest progress | on that side; or if it ever existed, it
having been made by the French during | may have been destroyed in the siege
the first sixteen years of the present | of Sylla, and not rebuilt after Pompeii
century. Since the fall of Murat, the | become a Roman coluny. The area
excavations have been of a very desul- | which was thus enclosed by the sea on
tory character, imes abandoned | the one side and the walls on the other
for several years together, and some- | is estimated at 160 acres, of course
times resumed for a few months or | exclusive of the suburbs. The greatest
weeks ; so0 that, after 104 years® lubour, | length of this area is { of 2 mile ; the
not more than a fourth part of the city | greatest breath is somewhat less than
has yet been exhumed. For some  } a mile. The walls were of great
years past, few excavations have been | solidity and breadth and had a double
made except when some royal or dis- | parapet; the outer one being 25 feet
tinguished personage has happened to | bigh, the inner varying from 30 to
be in Naples. The sum of 6000 ducats, ; 40 feet, ding to the inequalities of
about 1000/, per annum, is allowed for | the ground. The breadth between
repairs, excavations, and incidental ex- | them was about 14 feet, which would
penses, an amount altogether inade- | easily allow three chariots to pass
quate to do more than is at present | abreast. They had 12 square towers,
r4
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of several stories, placed at irregular
intervals in their circuit, the least dis-
tance between them being in the neigh-
bourhood of the gates, where, of course,
.protection was most required. The
face of the outer wall inclines slightly
inwards; the inner one was strength-
ened by an agger, and was furnished
with broad flights of steps to afford
convenient access on the city side.
The construction of the walls bespeaks
their origin, and confirms what we have
said in regard to the history of the
city. They are built of large blocks
of lava, in horizontal courses, and with-
out cement; but the joints, especially
in the lower part, resemble the Pe-
lasgic rather than the Etruscan style
of military architecture, being some-
times vertical, sometimes inclined, and
occasionally dovetailed. For the most
part they are beautifully fitted, though
the workmanship is much ruder than
that met with in the cities of Etruria.
Many of the stones are inscribed either
with- Pelasgic or Oscan characters.
In the upper s, the architecture
is much more recent, resembling the
regular isodomon of the Grecks, and
the stone used is travertine instead of
lava. These upper courses, however,
have been frequently broken and rudely
repaired; showing the effect of breaches
from the battering-rams of an enemy
and the hurried manner in which those
breaches were filledup, Both theouter
and the inner parapets had battlements
and embrasures, so that from a distance
the city wust have appeared to have
a double line of fortificati The
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This appears to have been done by
Sylla at the close of the Social War.
The Gates, whose position has been
ascertained, are six in number; five of
these are on the northern side of the
ellipse, and one on the southern.
Beginning with the N.W. they occur
in the following order :—1. The Her-
culaneum Gate, on the Via Domitiana;
2. The gate leading to Vesuvius; 3,
A gate partially excavated, leading in
the same direction; 4. Gate of Isis,
leading to Nola; 5. Gate of the Sarno
6. A gate leading to Stabiz and Nu-
ceria. In addition to these there was
probably a water gate, or at least some
landing place or steps on the western
side, which future excavations may
bring to light, All the gates are mere
ruins, except those of Herculaneum
and Isis, which we shall describe more
fully in their proper order,

The Streets are extremely narrow,
which was no doubt the case in moss
of the ancient towns of Southern Italy,
where it must bave been an important
object to exclude the sun as much ag
possible. In these of Pompeii it ig
clear that not more than one carriage,
narrow as the ancient chariots were,
could pass at a time in any but the
principal thoroughfares. The pavee
ment is composed of large irregular
blocks of lava, closely fitted together,
like that of the Appian generally ; and
it is usually bordered by a curb, elee
vated in some places a foot or more
above the carriage way, The ruts of
chanot wheels are everywhere vmble.

and rec each other in

Towers, as we have already stated, were
square, and apparently of many stories,
They covered the entire breadth of the
wall, were pierced by archways to
allow a free passage to the troops, and
had little sallyports at their base to
afford an exit in time of siege. They
are evidently more recent than the
walls, being constructed of small pieces
of tufa stuccoed at the sides, and are
all more or less ruined, especially on
the outer side, as if they had been
purposely di tled, for neither earth.
quakes nor sieges can account for so
* extensive and sy ic a demolition,

the broader streets, but worn into one
deep rut in the smaller ones. In the
larger thoroughfares a raised step-
ping-stone is frequently seen in the
centre of the street, for the convenience
of foot passengers in times of raingj
stones for mounting horses also are
placed at the side of the pavement, in
accordance with the law of Caius
Gracchus “de viis muniendis,” and
holes are found in the curb opposite
the principal houses and shops for
fastening the halter. When the width
allows it, there is a narrow pathway
in front of the houses, paved with a
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coarse mosaic of brickwork, and occa-
sionally stuccoed. Here and there,
where the angles of the pavement have
been broken, they have been repaired
with pieces of iron. At the entrance
of many of the streets, lists have been
found ining the of those
inhabitants who were entitled to vote
at the elections of the sdiles or du-
umviri. Of the streets which have
been traced, 5 may be considered as
the principal thoroughfares of the city.
The first led from the Herculaneum
Gate to the Forum, and is broken by
several junctions with minor streets,
forming trivia, or places where three
ways meet: the second, of which only
one portion called the street of the
Dried Fruits has yet been excavated,
appears to have traversed the city in a
straight line from the gate of the Sarno
to the sea, dividing it into two equal
parts; the third ran parallel to the
former from the Gate of Nola to the
sea, through the Street of the Baths:
the fourth led in a straight line from
the Gate of Vesuvius to the quarter
of the Theatres ; the fifth led from the
N. wall of the city to the Forum and
is the largest which hasyet beenopened :
it is now known as the Street of Mer-
cury in the upper part, and the Street
of Fortune in the lower.

of rr‘ g~
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more ancient are Greek, the more re.
cent Roman. The basements of many
of the Temples date evidently from the
Greek colonisation, and one at least of
the Temples still retains the peculiar
features of Grecian architecture, and
appears to have undergone very little
change. In general, however, the older
Temples have been supplanted by
others of the Roman period, which
show that corruption of style which is
everywhere characteristic of Roman
architecture. The forms as usual have
been retained, but the principles of
Greck art have been corrupted or re.
jected altogether. Examples of this
may be met with in all the buildings
of the Doric style throughout the city.
Long tapering columns are found in
the place of the massive well-propor.
tioned columns of Grecian Doric, In-
stead of 20 flutings, the Greek standard
of the time of Pericles, each column is
channelled with an indefinite number ;
and while the Greek column always
stands flat upon the floor without a
base, the Roman column, as we see it
at Pompeii, is elevated on a pedestal.
The Ionie capital also, which in Greek
architecture was invariably marked by
its severe simplicity, is here loaded with
ornaments and geometric mouldings,
and in some instances is different in its

tial features from all other exam-

From the exi
2 in the pav t, it has bee
supposed that some at least of the sur-
face water ran through the streets into
the sea; but there is reason to believe
that the principal thoroughfares were
supplied with sewers, and that there
was a regular system of house drainage.
Mazois gives a drawing of a sewer
beueath one of the streets, whose lo-
cality he unfortunately does not men-
tion ; he statesalso that he saw a drain
leading to a sewer, closed by an iren
grating, by which one of the fountains
of the Forum discharged its surplus
waters. The nature of the pavement
venders it very improbable that the
subterranean sewerage of Pompeii will
ever be completely ascertained.

Public Buildings.— The public edi-
fices and monuments of Pompeii are
tyue interpreters of its history, The

ples of Ionic. even of Roman times,
The Corinthian likewise differs from
that of Greece in the debased character
of the foliage.

Domestic Architecture.— If the erup
tion which overwhelmed Pompeii bad
not been preceded by two destructive
earthquakes, we should have found it
a more perfect example of a Roman
city of the third class. But these
earthquakes must have effected almost
as extensive changes in its external
features as those which were produced
in the London of the middle ages by
the Great Fire. Hence we find in
every quarter of the city marks of
hasty renovation and repair, generally
with the commonest materials, Hence
it is that so many of the iarger build-
ings exhibit a monotonous uniformity,

that there are so few of an archaic
S5
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character, and that the decorations re-
tain so much brightness of colour.
‘The private houses, with few excep-
tions, are small and low, deficient in
everything which an Englishman un-
derstands by the words comfort and
home; and displaying neither magnifi-
cence of outline nor effect in eleva-
tion. Only one has been discovered
with a portico, and that may be more
appropriately described as an orna-
mental doorway. Even the Villa of
Diomedes has no better entrance than
a mere porch formed by a column on
each side. The domestic architecture,
in short, is entirely that of a people ac-
customed to pass the greater portion of
their day in the open air. As sll the
principal houses are on one plan, we
shall avoid repetition in our notices of
the different buildings, by giving in
this place a brief description of the
arrangement of an interior, which will
serve as a type of the whole The
ground floor of the larger houses, like
that of the modern palaces of Naples,
was geuerally occupied by shops, which
are proved by numerous inscriptions to
have been an important source of profit
to the owner ; and we have a curious
illustration of the commercial character
of the city in the fact that some of
the richest mansions had their private
shops communicating with the interior,
in which the proprictor evidently sold
the agricultural produce of his farms,
These shops were always open to the
streets, like those we see in the older
quarters of Italian towns at the pre-
sent day. \Where there were no shops,
the external walls of the ground floor
were always blank, stuccoed, and
painted, often with the brightest co-
lours. The upper floor alone had win-
dows, and very few houscs liad a third
floor. The internal arrangement varied
of course according to the rank and
i of the p but as
a general rule, all houses of the first
and second class may be said to have
been divided into two parts, in accord-
ance with the constitution of ancient
Rome and the double life of her citi-
sens, —the first being public, and the
sccond private. 1. The public part,

ar
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being intended for the reception of the
clients of a patrician, comprised se-
veral suites of apartments On the
side next the street there was generally
an open space called the ures, sur-
rounded either wholly or in part by a
portico. Within this portico was the
porch, or prothyrum, and the vestibule,
containing one or more rooms used as
waiting rooms or as the porter's lodge.
The vestibule opened on the hall, or
atriem, the principal apartment of this
division, where the proprictor gave
audience to his clients. It was always
a large room, covered with a flat roof
open in the centre, and with a cistern
called the impluvium in the floor to
catch the rain which descended through
the aperture. The walls and roof
were often decorated with great splen-
dour, and the pavement was always of
marble or mosaics. Beyond this there
was occasionally a small court, or
cavedium ; but as it is frequently want-
ing, the cavaedium and the atrium have
been supposed by some to be identical.
Open to the atrium was a chamber
called the tablinum, supposed to have
been a depository for family records
and public documents, and in some
of the larger houses to have served also
as a dining room. At the sides were
smaller apartments called ale, and fre-
quently rooms for the reception of
strangers, called Aospitia. 2. The
communication between the public
part and the private was effected by
corridors or passages called juwces, and
sometimes by the tablinum also. On
entering the private division there was
a spacious court, called the peristyle,
entirely open to the air in the middle,
but surrounded by a covered colonnade
supported by columns, which answered
the double purpose of a passage be-
tween the different apartments, and of
a sheltered promenade in wet weather.

The centre of the floor was usually a
garden of shrubs and flowers, deco-
rated with statues and fountains. Oune
of the rooms entered frori the peristyle
was the dining room, or triclinium, so

called from the broad seats which pro-

jected from the wall and surrounded

the table on threc sides and enabled
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pr de, or pergula. All these upper

the luxurious Romans to r on
couches at their meals. The wealth
and magnificence of the owner was
generally lavished on the decorations
and furniture of this apartment, al-
though it was never very spacious, the
largest yet discovered being only 20 feet
square. Next were the sitting-rooms,
or eci, noble saloons supported by
columns and frequently opening on the
garden, In these the ladies of the
Pompeian fumilies passed their time,
and therefore we need not add that
they were richly decorated. Another

parts were generally built of wood,
which, with the flat roofs, affording a
regular lodgment for the heated ashes
of the eruption, will at once explain’
the_reason why scarcely any trace of
them has been preserved. In the rear-
of the mansion was an open space or
flower garden, called the xystus, which
was usually planted with shrubs and
flowers, decorated with fountains and
statues, nnd sometlmet furnished with
a ining a stone

tﬂcluuum. a uble, and a founum, and

large room was the parlour, or ezedra, ' covered with a trellis for vines or creep-
supposed to be a reception room for ! ing plants.  None of the houses have
the visitors of the family. The library,  any vestige of a chimney, although
or biblioth was lly a small | coals have been found in apartments
apartment, as little space was reqmred both of Pompeii and Herculaneum;
for the papyrus rolls. ‘The picture | we may presume, however, that the
gallery, or pinacotheca, also opened on | stoves were generally heated with wood:
the peristyle. The baths were usually ' or charcoal, and were placed in the
in one angle, a8 was also the lrrarism, | open spaces of the atria and peristyles,
or place for the houschold gods. The | In some houses the arrangement must
bedrooms, or cubicula, which were ex- | have been more complicated, for small-
tremely smallandinconvenient, were ar- | tubes have been found which were
ranged together in two divisions; the | evndently used to carry off the pro-
first comprising those for the men, called [ ducts of bustion., It is

theardronitis,wasalways separated from | sary to describe the arrangement of
that of the females, which was called | the ller h , since they present
the gyn. itis or gy In some | the principal features of the larger ones
of the larger mansions the andronitis | on a smaller scale, and therefore explain
appears to have been situated on one | themselves. We may remark, how-
side of the atrium in the public divi- | ever, as a curious fact, that no houscs
sion. In others, as in the House of , have yet been discovered which we can
Sallust, the female apartments occupy | regard as the dwellings of the poor,
a distinct quarter of the manslon, | and it remains to be proved by future
called the venereum, and corresp tions, whether the lower orders
ing in many particulars to the barem | were located in s separate quarter of
" of the East. It had there its sepa- | the city, or whether Pompeii was

rate eourt, portico, peristyle, and tri- | really free from any pauper population.
clinium, a separate stove, water closet,
and siaircase leading to the terrace
above, a flower garden and fountain in
the centre of the court, and the bed-
rooms on one side, protected by a lodge
for a slave whose duty it was to pre-
vent intrusion. The second floor ap-
pears to have been occupied as store
rooms and as the apartments for ser-
vants. Many of these rooms had win-
dows, some of which were evidently
glazed. The roof was flat and was
eonverted into a terrace, planted with
vines and flowers 5o as to form a shady

Stables and coachhouses are also want-
ing, even in the larger mansions and
the villas, the only apartments at all
approaching to the character of stables
being three or four rooms in the bar-
racks for the troops, and a small cham-
ber in the baker’s house in which were
found the bones of an ass, which was
used, as we know from a bas-relief,
to work his corn-mill. Even the inns
form no exception to this remark, for
the skeletons of horses which were
found in them were lying in the yards,

and not in any apartment to which the
r6
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term stable could be applied. Another
deficiency is the ab of any thmg
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value have been removed to Naples,
and will be found noticed in our

in the mtun of an hospit I, alth
the instruments in the M useum prove
that surgery had attained a bigh de.
gree of perfection in the city; this
negative evidence confirms the impres-
sion that the sufferings of humaaity
were little cared for until Chruuamty
had taught mankind that mercy is in-
separable from civilisation.
, The Shops were very small and
mean in appearance, and were all of
one character, having the business part
in front and one or two little cham-
bers behind. A few only of the better
class appeared to have had any second
floor, and of that there is no other evi-
d than the } occurrence of
a ruined staircase, The shop was open
to the street, like those of modern
Italy, and was closed at night by slid-
ing shutters. In front it had a broad
counter of masonry, with 3 little steps
at the end next the wall for the display
of the goods, and a small oven in the
epposite end, where the articles sold
were for consumption as food or drink.
When first excavated, many of the
shops had the names of their owners
written over them, mostly in red paint,
Others had signs in terra cotts, to
denote the trade which was carried on
within them, Thus a goat indicated
a milkshop or dairy; two men carry-
ing an amphora signified a wine shop;
two men fighting denoted a gladiatorial
school ; a painting of a man whippin
a hoy hoisted on another's back, marke
the resid of a schoolmaster ; and
finally, the immortal checquers, the an-
cient orndment of the throne of Osiris,
the immemorial symbolof good and evil,
the emblem of the priests of Bacchus in
Etruria, occupied its prescriptive sta-
tion on the doorposts of the publican,
Present State.— It is almost super-
fluous to add that the names now
borne by many of the houses are
derived from the paintings which they
contained when they were first ex-
humed, or from the royal personages
in whose honour they were

of the Museo Borbonico, Seo
strong has hitherto been the impression
that Pompeii is destined to be again
destroyed, that this removal has been
regarded as an act of prudence; but
unfortunately the same impression has
caused the buildings themselves to be
abandoned to gradual decay. Hence
many of the decorations and wall
paintings, which were described by the
eurlier writers on Pompcii, have been
irretrievably lost. Of late, however,
at the suggestion of the present King,
Cavaliere Bonucci has adopted an ex-
cellent practice of supplying the place
of the objects removed by coloured casts,
and of allowing the pictures to remain
in sitx under the protection of glazed
frames ; for experience has proved that,
without a covering of glass, they perish
with great rapidity on being exposed
to atmospheric changes. The traveller
will at once appreciate the interest and
vitality given to the smallest spot of
such a site even by the representations
of the objects it contained ; and it is
hoped that his Majesty may one day
allow one of the principal houses to
be roofed and restored with all the
furniture belonging to it, and thus
have the satisfaction of creating a
museum of Roinan antiquity and art,
more real and more instructive than
any which now exists in Europe.

After these preliminary remarks, we
will proceed to describe concisely the
principal buildings as they occur in
our passage through the city, confine
ing our observations to such objects as
are still to be seen, and abstaining, a§
far as may be, from encumbering our
narrative with descriptions of those
which have disappeared. We shall
trouble the reader with as few technical
details as possible, leaving him to draw
his own inferences from the informa<
tion already given. Our remarks,
therefore, will be designed rather for
the assi of the g 1 traveller,
than for the use of the professional
tudent. The architect and the anti.

The most important paintings and all
the principal ob;ecu of interest and

quary, who require more detailed ine
formation than the brief indications
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which we can give in the space at our
dispoeal, will ind everything they can
desire in the great works of Mazois,
Gell, and Donaldson; and those who
may wish to connect the various objects
with the inner life and manners of the
people, will consult with advantage the
interesting volume on Pompeii, pub-
lished by the Society for the Diffu-
sion of Useful Knowledge, and written
jointly by Mr. W, B. Clarke and Mr.
A. Malkin. The figures which follow
the names in our lists signify the year
in which the object was excavated.

1. Strect of the Tombs (1811-14).
Approaching Pompeii by the road
from Torre dell’Annunsziata, we enter
it by a branch of the Appian Way,
which was here called the Via Domi-
tiana. Before it reaches the gate it
traverses the suburb called Augusta
Felix, the colony of Augustus, which
appears to have been the aristocratic
quarter of the city. Everything in
this suburb is Roman,, On either side
the street is bordered by tombs of every
variety of form and taste, recalling to
our imagination the ancient glories of
the Appian as it once emerged from
the Eternal City upon the Campagna.
At the commencement of the street on
she right hand is the

Villa of Diomedes (1771-4).— This is
the most extensive, the most elaborate,
and the most highly decorated private
vesidence which has yet been disco-
vered. It is also peculiarly interest-
ing as the only perfect specimen of a
suburban villa which has come down to
us. It iscalled the Villa of Diomedes
on the very slender ground of the
tomb of M. Arrius Diomedes having
been found near it. As we have al-
ready described the general arrange.
ment of the Pompeii houses, we shall
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porticos supported by 14 columns,
This peristyle is remarkable for its
architectural besuty. The lower third
of the columns is not fluted; but the
entire surface is-coated with stucco, as
are the capitals and the decorations of
the area generally. In the centre is an
open court cuntaining an impluvium,
by which ghe cistern of the villa was
supplied with water. On the right of
the peristyle a flight of stairs leads to
the upper apartments. Those on the
left comprised the -baths, the dining
and sleeping 100ms, a gallery over.
looking the garden, the reception
room, and the loggie, which com.
manded a view of the sea. All of
these, or nearly all, are decorated with
the most graceful arabesques and other
ornaments, which it would be tedious
to describe, and, if described, would
scarcely be intelligible without the aid
of drawings. One of the bath rooms
was lighted by a window which cone
tained, when first discovered, four panes
of glass 6 inches square. The centre
bed-room, elegantly decorated, is & bow
room, opening on a garden and lighted
by windows and bulls’ eyes above,
That it was a sleeping room was
proved by the discovery of several
vases for perfumes and cosmetics in
one corner of it. On one side of the
loggie were the bedrooms for the woe
men, from which a secret stair coms
municated with the state apartrents,
On the left side of the peristyle were
apartinents for servants, which have
been occupied in recent years by the
detachment of troops who are stationed
here to guard the city, In the north
angle of the peristyle, close to the road,
is a staircase leading to a court on a
lower level caused by the rapid slope
of the ground towards the sea. This
court contained the kitchens and other

not weary the traveller with the detail

of each separate apartment, but shall
simply notice the leading features of
the building. A flight of six steps be-
tween the remains of the two columns
which formed the entrance-porch, leads
us from the foot-pavement of the
Street of the Tombs into the peristyle,
~an open space, like the cloister of a
convent, surrounded on all sides by

domestic offices, A long corridor runs
from one side of this court to the pors
tico surrounding the garden, for the
use, it is supposed, of the servants ; on
the other side is a staircase for the use
of the family, In the centre of the
garden are the ruins of a fountain ; and
beyond it are the columns of a sume
mer-house, which appear to have supe
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ported a trellis. ' In the outer wall of
the portico, behind this summer-house,
is the garden gate, which opened upon a
flight of steps leading to the sea shore.
On the south side of the portico, and
outside its wall at a lower level, is a
long inclosure approached by a hand-
some flight of steps: it is supposed to
have formed a winter promepade. Be-
neath the portico, and consequently
below the level of the garden, are long
galleries or crypts, which were evi-
dently the cellars of the villa, as several
amphora were found in them leaning
against the wall, with their pointed
ends stuck in the ground in order to
keep them in an upright position, and
now fixed there by the volcanic allu-
vium which has penetrated all the
lower portions of the building. On
the night of the eruption the owner of
this splendid property app to have
lost the love of kindred in the love of
life; for his skeleton was found, with
that of an attendant, near the garden
gate, the one still holding in his bony
grasp the key of the villa, the other
carrying a purse containing 100 gold
and silver coins, and some silver vases.
While he was thus endeavouring to
escape to the sea shore, the members of
his family whom he had abandoned to
their fate took refuge in these cellars,
wlhere 17 of their skeletons were found
near the door, as if they had tried to
retrace their steps after having found
that the place afforded no shelter from
the fiery tempest. From the gold
necklaces and bracelets on the necks
and arms of nearly all these skeletons,
it appears that they were mostly fe-
males. Two were the skeletons of
children, whose skulls still retained
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were perfect models of female beauty.

¢ How sadly echoing to the stranger's tread
These walls respond, like voices from the

And ud(ier traces — darker scenes are there,
Tales of the tomb and records of despair ;
In Death's chill grasp unconscious arms

enfold
The fatal burthen of their cherished gold.
Here wasted relics, as in mockery dwell
Beside some treasure loe'd in life too well 3
'l‘her;‘ faithful hearts have moulder’d side by

side,
And hands are clasped that death could not.
divide.”
Hawszr

Cenotaph of the Arrian family (1811).
— Opposite the villa to which it gives
a doubtful name, is the cenotaph of
Marcus Arrius Diomedes, the freed-
man of Livia. It is a solid building
of rubble work d with .
with a fagade 12 feet high, in which
two pilasters support a pediment,
giving it the appearance of a small
temple. One word, or rather one
letter, is wanting in the inscription,
and many dissertations have been
written on its probable signification ;
but it is now supposed to have been
the initial of Livia. Jt will then read
thus, ¢ Marcus Arrius Diomedes,
freedman of Livia, magistrate of the
suburb of Augusta Felix, to the me-
mory of himself and family.” The
fasces under the inscription show that
he was a chief magistrate; they are
veversed, to denote death. Outside
the low wall of the eunclosure are two
funeral cippi, the backs of which are
carved in imitation of human hair.
One of them bears the name of the
eldest son Marcus Arrius, the other
bears that of Arria, & daughter who
died in ber 8th year. On the front of
the wall is an inscription to another

some portions of beautiful blonde hair.
After they had perished, probably
from suffocation, the floor of the cellar
was inundated with a fine alluvium,
which bardened: upon the bodies and
took casts, not only of their forms, but
even of the most delicate texture of the
linen which they wore and of the jewels
which adorned their persons. One
cast of a young girl, part of which still
exists, possessed exceeding elegance of
form; the neck and breast especially

daughter of the same name. Close to
the platform which forms the sub-
b t for the bs of the Arrian
family is the cippus of a child, Velasius
Gratus, in a small, plain, semicircular
niche; it bears an inscription record-
ing his death at the age of 12. Near
it are the Tombs of Salvius, who died
at the age of 5, and of Serviliu; both
in a ruined state.

Tomb of Ceius and Labeo, an oblong

tomb, or ted with pil which
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supported a rich entablature and sta-
tues, as was proved by the fragments
which were found about it. According
to the inscription, it was erected to
Lucius Ceius, and Lucius Labeo, twice
quinquennial duumvir of justice, by
Menom: , their fr

Tomb of the Libella, a solid and very
elegant tomb, built of blocks of tra-
vertine resembling the pedestal of a
column, 16 feet high, with a moulding
and cornice, and a long insecription,
recording its erection on a site given
by the public, by Alleia Decimilla,
public priestess of Ceres,, to her hus.
band and son, Marcus Alleius Lucius
Libella the father, edile, duumvir,
and quing jal preefect, and M.
Alleius Libella the son, decurion, who
lived 17 years.—Near this are a small
square e, and her tomb,
both of them either half finished or
ruined.

Subterranean Tomb.— At the junc-
tion of the two roads is a closed tomb
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This completes the monuments on the
left hand; we®now cross the street
to the

Sepulchral Tvriclinium, near the en-
trance to the villaof Diomedes. This is
a small irregular enclosure, entered by
a low door and open at the top, the
internal walls painted with animals
and flowers. It was used for the Si-
licernium, or funeral feast, and still
retains the stone triclinium for the
mourners. Tbe circular pedestal in
the centre, which was probably used to
support the table, bore an inscription
recording its erection to Vibrius Satur-
ninus by his freedman Callistus,

Tomb of Neavoleia Tyche and Mu-
natius Faustus,—This is one of the
most interesting' tombs which have
been preserved to us from ancient
times. It is a family altar-tomb con-
sisting of a square enclosure, the front
of which, except a narrow passage at
one side, is pied by the Ichral

to which this name has been given; it
is built of small pieces of tufa, some-
what in the style of “opus reticula-
tum.” The upper part has been greatly
damaged by the trees and vines which
grew above it before the site was ex-
cavated. It is remarkable for its
marble door, in a single slab about 4
feet high, unlike anything yet dis-
covered at Pompeii; it worked upon
bronze pivots, and was closed by a
ring of the same material, with an
iron bolt, of which we still see the
fragments rusted in the marble. The
interior is a small arched sepulchral
chamber, about 6 feet square, lighted
by a window. At the back, in a square
niche, was found a large vase of oriental
alabaster, containing ashes and bones,
and a gold ring in which was set a
very beautiful intaglio of a stag. Other
vases were found on a ledge running
round three sides of the chamber, ju
columbaria beneath this ledge, and in
the side walls above it. No inscrip-
tion of any kind was discovered.

The Ustring, beyond this tomb, is
a small square enclosure for burning
the dead bodies. It stands in the street
near the juunction of the two roads.

haml The back {s an open court,
surrounded by a high wall; from this
court the chamber is entered. The
tomb stands upon two steps, and bears
on its front a bas-relief, an inscription,
and a remarkably fine and expressive
female head, supposed to be the por-
trait of Neevoleia. The bas.relief ap-
pears to represent the dedication of
the tomb and the sacrifices which
accompanied the ceremony. On one
side are the male and female membets
of her family bearing the vessels con-
taining the offerings; on the other
are eight magistrates of the city in
their robes. In the centre are a cippus
and an altar on which a boy”is de-
positing his offering. On each side
of the tomb are bas-reliefs by no means
inferior to this in interest. One of
them represents the bisellium or the
seat of honour in the Forum and the
Theatre, which indicated the muni-
cipal rank of the individual, and is
supposed to have been given only to
that class of priests who bore the title
of Augustals. The relief on the other
side is a very curious representation
of a ship entering port. The ship
itself has a raised deck, a figure head
of Minerva, and a swan's neck at the
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stern, supporting a flag-stafi, Ithasa
single mast, and a long yard, which
carries a square sail, and is formed of two
spars lashed together. A square striped
flag is flying at the mast head. Two
boys are lying out on the yard, furling
the sail ; another is going aloft by the
shrouds ; another, who has apparently
been up to clear the sail, is coming down
the fore stay hand over hand ; a man
is clewing up the sail, and finally, the
master, supposed to be Munatius him.
self, sits at the helm and directs their
movements with his right hand. This
interesting sculpture, which would
nake a beautiful subject for a seal, is
supposed to have a double meaning,
first as a ial of the ial
pursuits of Munatius ; and secondly as
illustrative of the last scene of the
voyage of life, when the soul enters
into a safe and peaceful haven, —a
signification which would make it an

'clal
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Cenotaph of Calventius Quictws, an
imposing ‘monument, in a court 21 feet
square, built in the form of a solid
altar-tomb, elevated upon S steps and
a lofty pedestal. It is constructed
entirely of white marble except the
basement and the outer wall which are
of masonry stuccoed. On this wall
are small square pinnacles, called acro-
teria, covered with mythological reliefs
in stucco, representing Fame and
Victory, the funeral pile, the history
of Theseus, and the story of (Edipus
and the Sphinx. The cenotaph itself
is decorated with an elegant cornice
and mouldings, with garlands of ocak
leaves and branches of palms, and
rams’ heads richly carved. In front,
within a handsome border, is the bisel-
lium, and an inscription recording that
this honour was conferred on Caiug
Calventius Quietus, Augustal, by de-
cree of the Decurions and with the

of the le, as an acknow«

appropriate and touching or t of
a Christian sepulchre. The inscrip-
tion records the erection of the tomb
by Neevoleia Tyche in her lifetime for
herself, for Caius Munatius Faustus,
Augustal, and magistrate of the suburb,
to whom the Decurions, with the con-
sent of the people, granted the bi-
sellium nn account of his merits, and
for their freedmen and freedwomen.
In the interior of the chamber, on the
bench surrounding it, and in the niches
in the wall, were found several cinerary
urns, some lamps, and large glass ves-
sels containing ashes and protected by
leaden coverings. The ashes were
found on examination to be still satu-
rated with moisture, which was proved
by analysis to be the libations of oil
and wine. In a small niche in the
wall of the enclosure is a cippus bear-
ing the name of Caius Munatius
Atimetus, who died at the age of 57.

Tumb of the Nistacidian Family, sur-
rounded by a low wall and containing
three cippi, bearing the names of Nista-
cidius Helenus, Nistacidia Scapis, and
Nistacidius Januarius. The centre
one had a small earthen vase sunk in
the earth in front of it, for the purpose,
it is supposed, of receiving the liba.
tions of the family,

ledgment of his munificence,

The Round Tomb, a circular tower
with a lIted roof, d d exs
ternally with pilasters, standing on a
large square basement, ornamented
like that of Calventius, with little
pinnacles or acroteria, which are de~
corated with bas-reliefs, One of these
represents a female figure with a patera
and garland in her hand in the act of
offering some fruits upon an altar;
another represents a young mother in
a richly flowing Greek dress, like that
which is still worn by the peasantry
of Isola (p. 47.), depositing a funeral
fillet on the skeleton of a child,
Mazois supposes this touching com-
position to refer to the discovery of a
child which had perished in the earths
quake ; it lies on a heap of stones or
ruins, with the left arm thrown back
over the head as ifinsleep. A narrow
staircase leads up to the circular chams
ber, which contains three niches with
sepulchral vases, and is lighted by a
small aperture above the cornice.
‘The walls and vaulted roof are painted
with aral ques, p L".ilrl"’
and swans. As only one of the vases
was found to contain ashes, and the
two dlabs of marble in the wall beag
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vo inscriptions, it is supposed that this
tomb was built by the parents of the
child shortly before the destruction of
the city, and that the catastrophe pre-
vented their being reunited in death
in the spot they had intended to be
their last home,

Tomb of Aricius Scaurus, a very
handiome monument which has been
illustrated with great learning by the
Count de Clarac, Mazois, Millin, and
other antiquaries. In consists of a
funeral pillar or square cippus upon
three steps, supported on a square base-
ment, with an attached doorway at the
side decorated with fluted pilasters,
and leading by a narrow passage, like
that in the Tomb of Navoleia, to the
open court at the back of the sepulchral
chamber, The basement and the steps
of the cippus are ornamented with
stucco reliefs, representing gladiatorial
combats and hunting scenes. They
have all been engraved by Mazois and
will be studied with great interest by
every one who wishes to possess com-
plete and authentic information on the
games of the Roman amphitheatres,
In fact so much was thought of
them by the aucients themselves, that
smany of the subjects have been re-
stored, though in a style far inferior
to the originals, and occasionally with
an evident attempt to modernise the
annour and costumes. The sculptures
of the steps and those of the lower
irieze of the basement represent the
hunting scenes and the combats of the
gladiators with wild animals ; those of
the upper frieze of the basement repre-
sent the deadly combats of the gladi-
ators themselves, Beginning with the
lower one, we have two hares with a dog
on the scent; a stag on the point of
being run down by dogs, & wild boar
at full speed with a dog fastened on
his off leg; another wild boar killed
by the spear of a huntsman; and a
bull transfixed from chest to back by
the spear of a gladiator, In the upper
frieze we have a still more interesting
series, representing not only the actual
combats of the gladiators, but the
touching manner in which the one
who was defeated implored his life
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from the spectators, and the entire sube
mission with which he resigned himself
to the sword of his conqueror when
the verdict of the people was against
him, Many of the figures bear the
names of the combatants written over
them in black letters, with numerals
to denote the number of combats in
which they bad been victorious,—a
curious record, as showing that no
amount of previous success was allowed
to weigh in favour of the unfortunates
whom the people condemned to die.
The 1st combat is between two horse-
men, both of whom have their spear
arms protected by banded armour,
which occurs also on the thigh of the
one who bears the name of Nobilior,
whose number shows that he has been
eleven times successful. He wears
also a boot laced with thongs, like that
worn by the peasants of Calabria at
this day. His adversary wears a shoe
perfectly resembling a modern slipper,
Their helmets have the vizors down,
and would scarcely appear out of place
in & collection of medieval armour,
The 2nd group represents the terminae
tion of a combat on foot; the two
gladiators, whose dress indicates that
they are of different nations, stand
awaiting the decree of the spectators,
the unsuccessful one in front, wounded
in the breast, holds up the forefinger
of his left hand to implore his life;
the victor stands close behind to strike
the fatal blow if the petition be ree
fused. Like the equestrian group just
mentioned they both wear hclmets
with vizors down, The 3rd isalso a
foot combat between two gladiators,
who are believed from their dress ta
be a Thracian and a Gaul; the former
is covered with armour in every part
likely to be exposed, and the helmets
of hoth have the vizors down. The
Gaul is kneeling on his right knee and
imploring pity in the usual maoner but
without success, although he had been
a conqueror fifteen times, the Greek
letter © above his head signifying that
he was put to death, The 4th is &
combat between two secutores and two
retiarii, well known as the combat of

the net, the latter being armed with
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tridents and a net which it is their
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Aricius Scaurus, of the Menenian tribe,

object to throw over the head of their | Duumvir, by command of the Decurions

antagonists. In this instance one of
the swordmen has been wounded in three
places, and the sentence of death having
been pronounced in spite of his six pre-

vious victories, he kueels and bends '

forward to receive the death wound
which his own comrade is obliged to
inflict, as the trident of the conqueror
is not calculated for such a scrvice.
The 5th group represents a Thracian
and a Gaul, whose dresses correspond
with those of the Srd group. In this
instance, the latter is victorious, and
from his attitude we may infer that
his adversary has appealed in vain to
the mercy of the people. The 6th
and 7th groups occupy the frieze over
the door. One of them represents the
master of the ring, or the lanista,
checking the ardour of the victor, who
seems anxious to despatch his antago-
nist without waiting for the decree
of the spectators, which is supposed
from this circumstance to have been
favourable. The lanista appears, from
the inscription in large letters over the
central group, to have been called

' who granted the site of the monument,
{ 2000 sesterces (16/.) for his funeral,
' and decrecd that his equestrian statue
. should be placed in the Forum.

Tomb of Tyche Vemerea.—Beyond
the Tomb of Scaurus is a sepulchral
enclosure with a cippus bearing the
name of Juno Tyche Julia Augusta
i Venerea, and an unfinished monuinent
‘ with a columbarium of 14 niches.

Suburban Inn.—On the opposite side-
of the road are the remains of a portico
and shops of a very ordinary character,
suppused to have been a kind of sub-
urban inn for the country people who
brought the produce of their furms for
sale. ‘I'his supposition rests only on
the discovery of some fragments of a
cart, the skeleton of an ass with a
bronze bit, a part of a wheel, and some
provisions. Four skeletons were found

| among the ruins, with some gold and

bronze coins which they were carrying
with them.
House of the Columns.— A small villa
behind the S. E. angle of the innm,
taining a f in and four col

Caius Ampliatus, a member of a
family which is supposed, from an
inscription found in the Basilica, to
have been the contractors for supply-
ing gladiators for the public g

from which it obtainy its name.

Great Court and Villa of Cicero
(1764).—Crossing again to the right
side of the street, we find an inclosure
leading to a vast court with a portico.

The next and last group represents
a vanquished Gaul falling dead to the
ground. The reliefs on the steps of
the cippus are on a smaller scale.
They represent a combat of a naked
gladiator with a lion and a panther ;
another naked gladiator preparing to
spring from the attack of a wild boar;
a wolf transfixed with a spear; a stag
brought down by two wolves; a man
in gladiatorial armour attacking a
panther and a bull fastened together
by a rope, while another is urging the
bull forward with a spear; and lastly
a bear fight, in which the man holds
the veil which Pliny tells us was in-
troduced in the reign of Claudius,
(». c. 41-54) —the undoubted pro-
totype of the Spanish matador. The
inscription records the erection of the
Tomb by Scaurus the father to his son

It was formerly supposed to have been
an Etruscan cemetery, or an Ustrina
for the funeral pile; but it is now,
with more probability, regarded as one
of the courts of the adjoining villa,
which has been dignified by the
name of Cicero. He tells us, indeed,
in many of his letters, that he had a
villa in the neighbourhood of Pompeii ;
but there is no proof that it was this
one. It is certain, however, that this
villa must have heen the property of a
man of taste as well as wealth; for
some of the finest paintings and mo-
saics in the Museo Borbonico were
found among its ruins, including the
celcbrated paintings of the Eight Dan-
zatrici and the mosaics which bear the
name of Dioscorides of Samos. An
inscription found in a niche of the

baths described them as the Hot and
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Cold Baths of M. Crassus Frugius,
‘We have nothing to add in regard to
the arrangement of the villa, as it was
again filled up with earth as soon as
its treasures were removed. Its situa-
tion must have been admirable, sur-
passing even that of the Villa of Dio-
medes. In front, facing the street
there was a row of shops, and a portico.

The Hemicycle (1811), on the oppo-
site side of the street, is a deep semi-
circular seat or exedra. with a vaulted
roof ornamented in -front by pilasters
in two rows, the upper ones springing
aut of the capitals of the lower. The
walls and vault were gaily painted
in arabesq and panel Near it
were found the skeletons of a mother
and three children, one of them an in-
fant, all closely folded in each other’s
arms, and covered with gold ornaments
elaborately worked, and enriched with
pendant pearls of great value.

Tomb of the Glass Amphora (1768),
near the Hemicycle, remarkable for an
amphora of blue glass with white
figures which was found in it.

Tomb of the Garlunds (1806), on a
Jofty basement, with Corinthian pilas-
ters sustaining festoons of flowers.

House of the Mosaic Columns (1837),
a confused mass of ruins, so called,
with the remains of a tomb in whicl
a beautiful glass urn containing ashes
was discovered. A road here branched

.off to Nola on the left, skirting the
walls without entering the city.

Cenotaph of Terentius Felix (1763).
—Between the Nola road and the Gate
ins 8 square basement with an inscrip-
tion recording the name of T. ‘l'eren-
tius Felix Major, of the Menenian
tribe, AEdile, &c. A cippus, some
glass cinerary urns covered with lead,
some lacrymatories, and other funeral
objects were found near it,

Statwe. — Close to the gate is a base
supposed to have formed the pedestal
of a statue, as many fragments of
bronze were found about its base.
This completes the list of objects on
the lef hand.

The open Hemicycles, and the Tomb
of Porcius (1763).— Returning to the
angle of the shops in front of the Villa
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of Cicero, we find the opening of a
street which led from the main road to
the.sea. At the corner a marble statue
was found, with an inscription records
ing that Titus Suadius Clemens, the
Tribune, acting on the authority of the
Emperor Vespasian, restored to the Re-
public of Pompeii all the public places
possessed by private individuals, At
the opposite angle was a bracket witlr
a painting of a huge »erpent, supposed
to be for the reception of votive offerings;
this curious relic was unfortunately
destroyed by accident in 1818, The first
of the open Hemicycles adjoins this
angle. As its back was protected from
the sun, it is not covered like the other
on the opposite side. It is 17 feet
in diameter ; and the bench bears an
inscription recording that the Decu-
rions had decreed a place of burial
to Mamia, daughter of Porcius, the
public priestess. At the foot of the
step is another inscription on an up+
right stone, recording another decree
of the Decurions granting to M. Por-
cius a piece of ground 25 feet square.
This is supposed to be thé ground now
covered by the tomb between the first
and second hemiicycle. The latter dif:
fers in no essential particular from
that which we have described, except
that the inscription has been removed
to Naples. It bore the name of Aulus
Veius the Duumvir, for which renson
the hemicycle has sometimes been de-
scribed as his monument. The Tomb
of Porcius, as it is called on the autho-
rity of the inscription, presents nothing
to require notice. We pass on, there<
fore, to & more interesting object, the
tomb of his dsughter : —

Tomb of Mamia the Priestess (1763),
a large and very handsome tomb, of
which a restoration will be found in
Mazois. It stands in & court, which is
entered- by a flight of steps from an
enclosure called, from the number of
masks found there, the Tomb of the
Comedians. It is a square tomb, built
of stuccoed masonry, with four columng
in front, supposed to have been Corin-
thian ; but the absence of the capitals
makes it doubtful. The walls of the
interior were painted with arabesques,

NAPLES.—POMPEII,




332

and had 11 niches, the largest of which
contained a large urn of terra cotta,
covered with lead. In the circuit of
the chamber were pedestals supporting
statues of inferior merit, which have
been removed to Naples. In the
centre is a pedestal which probably
contained the principal urn. Several
cippi were found in the encl out-
side this chamber, bearing the names
of the Istacidia and other families. In
another enclosure, behind, were found
large quantities of bones of sheep and
oxen, which are supposed to be the
remains of the offerings to the dead.
The site was formerly described, most
absurdly, as & Cemetery for Animals.
Tomb of Marcus Cerrinius (1763),
formerly su d to be an Ediculu,
and popululy called the Sentry Bor.
This is a small vaulted niche just
outside the city gate, which, when
first apened, was found decorated in-
ternully with paintings. In a small
recess at the back was a small base
which sustained either a figure or an
urn; over it was found the following
inscription, “ M., Cerrinius Restitutus
Augustalis, Loco D.D.D.” The
same inscription was repeated on an
altar which stood in the centre of the
niche, but which was unfortunately re-
moved to make some repairs in another
building. A very beautiful tripod sup-
ported by satyrs, which was also found
bere, stood probably ou this altar.
From these circumstances it is sup-
posed that the niche was a sepulchral
mounument and Sacellum. Mazois, who
does not appear to have been aware of
the inscriptions, imagined that it was
an mdicula ‘or small shrine to the tu-
telary genius of the roads. The po-
pular idea that it was a sentry-box,
which in truth it very much resembles
in its present state, arose from the dis-
covery of a soldier’s skeleton within it.
The facts we have just mentioned are
quite at variance with this idea; and,
moreover, there is no such building as
a sentry-box at any of the other gates,
or on any part of the walls which are
at present visible ; but as this skeleton
was fully armed, with his helmet on
his head and his hand still grasping
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his lance, there is no doubt that he was
on duty at the adjoining gate. From
its proximity to the mountain, this
quarter must have been the first which
felt the effects of the eruption; and
when the fiery storm thickened around
him, the hero, faithful to his trust, must
have taken shelter in this building,
rather than follow his fellow citizens
who were escaping by the other gates;
he may therefore be literally said to
have died at his post.

Herculaneum Gate (1770). — This
gate, small as it seems according to
modern notions, was the most ime
portant entrance to the city. The
arch has entirely disappeared; but
enough of the other parts remains to
show that it had a central entrance
144 feet wide, and two side entrances
for foot passengers, each of which was
4 feet 6 inches wide, and 10 feet high.
Theheight of the central opening cannot
be ascertained in the absence of the
arch, but it can hardly have been less
than 20 feet. The architecture of the
gate is entirely Roman. It is a double
gate, built of brick and lava in alternate
layers. The outer side was defended by
a portcullis, lowered by grooves which
still exist in the piers; the inner side
was closed by folding doors, working
upon pivots in holes which are still
visible in the pavement. Between the
portcullis and the inner door there
was a large open space, not a mere
machicolation in the crown of the
arch, but a complete division from the
pavement upwards, making the gate a
double one, so that in the event of the
portcullis being carried the besieged
could throw down molten lead and
other missiles on their assailants, befc
they had time to force the inner door.
The whole building was covered with
white stucco, on which were found
written in red or black letters, an-
nouncements of gladiatorial games and
official ordinances. A marble sun-dial
was found outside the gate, in the
angle formed by the left entrance and
the wall. :

IL. Street of Herculaneum.—On ene
tering the gate, we find that the street.
before us rises rapidly, and, trending ta
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the S E., proceeds by two or three
eurves direct to the Forum. The
houses on the right, as we have already
- remarked, appear to have supplanted
the sea wall, and to have extended in
some instances to the beach: but as
they were filled up when first ex-
amined, it is impossible to form any
adequate opinion of their character or
extent. On the left, the houses are
arranged in square or longitudinal
blocks, isolated by the transverse streets
which communicate with the main
thoroughfarea, and forming what the
1led ¢ isl d ofl- "_
an arrangement which the traveller
who has visited Turin will readily
eomprehend. Immediately on the in-
side of the gate, on the left hand, are
the Steps leading to the walls,

Honse of the Triclinivm (1787). —
Close to the steps is a private house
which is worth noticeasa specimen of the

d class of h It is altogether
on the smallest scale, consisting of a
passage, a sitting room, a servant’s room
at the foot of the stairs, a kitchen, a
lerarium, or domestic ehapel,muin‘i):g
an interesting representation of a
on which the goddess is reposing, and
a court which was evidently covered
with trellis work, as the holes for the
beams are still visible; in one corner
is a very large stone triclinium, from
which the house derives its name,
Above, there was apparently one bed-
room and a terrace.

Inn of Albinus (1770).— The first
house on the right close to the gate.
The checquers found on the doorposts
sufficiently explain the character of
this house. The entrance is by a broad
carriage doorway, le-dmg into a spa-
cious apartment which was evidently
an inn yard, as two skeletons of horses,
fragments of bits and bridles, rings
for fastening animals, and pomons of
chariot wheels, were found in it. The
bhouse contains several apartments for
the accommodation of strangers, a
kitchen, a long cellar, and a liquor
shop. On a pilaster of the latter is
carved a phallus, as an amulet agsinst
the evil eye.

Thermopolium (1769).— A house for
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the sale of hot drinks, nearly oppositeé
to the inn, corresponding to the
modern eoﬁ'ee-house, with numerous
apartments in the rear which served
probably as drmkmg rooms, as one of
the walls i ts of
the public festivals of the day. The
shop itself contained a furnace, steps
for arranging the glasses, and a marblé
counter, which still exhibits the stains
of the liquor and the marks of the
glasses. The figure of Mercury was
painted on various parts of the house.
Some of the walls were covered with
proper names, scratched by the cuss
tomers upon the plastering which
covered other names of previous scrib-
blers, a practice which thus appears to
be less modern and less British than is
usually imagined.

House of the Vestals (1769).— A
double house, comprising a vestibule,
an atrium with the usual apartments on
each side, a triclinium, formerly richly
paved with mosaics and decorated with
luxurious pictures by no means in
accordance with the name given to it.
The pavement of several of the rooms
was formed of beautiful mosaics which
have been removed to Naples; one,
however still remains at the threshold
of the d house, to wel the
visiter with the word Salve. The
walls of several of the bedrooms and
cabinets were richly painted with
arabesques and other decorations. In
one of them a quantity of female or-

ts and the skeleton of a dog were
found. At the extremity of the house
is a semicircular room called the
sacrarium, containing an altar on
which those who gave the building
the name it bears, supposed that the
sacred fire was kept burning. When
first excavated, the kitchen and offices
were found filled with fruits, corn, and
amphorz of wine.

House of the Surgeon (1771).— A
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ments at the sides and a garden behind ;

the former painted with archi al
designs, arnbgsques, _grotesques, and
g figures. Forty
of the surgical instruments now in the

Museum at Naples and described at

~

\

single atrium with two long aparts
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P.185. were found here. Some of them,
as we have there remarked, might be
used by the surgeon of the present
day. With all his skill, however, this
Pompeii doctor would not have jus-
tified Dr. Johnson’s eulogy on the
liberality of Physicians, for the weights
which were found in his establishment
were inscribed with the significant
words eme and habedis, “ Buy and you
shall have,” or in other words «“ No
trust.”

~ Custom Howuse or Telonium (1788).—
A large doorway leading into a spa-
cious court, which was found filled
with steelyards, scales, and weights of
lead and marble,  Behind it is an un-
paved court, in which the skeletons
of two horses with three bronze bells
on the neck of each were found.

Soap Factory (1786 ).— A small shop,
which contained heaps of lime of excel-
lent quality and other materials for
soap-boiling, the vats, the evaporating
pans, and the moulds.

Cooks’ Shops (1786). — Two houses,
near the corner of the street, which, on
account of the arrangement of the coun-
ters, were formerly called Thermopolia,
aname oncegiven to all the shops which
had materials for heating liquids. It
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from a castellum, or circular-headed
reservoir, ornamented with sculptured
figures.

IlI. We now turn down the little
street on our left, at the back of the
triangular mass or “island” of houses
which we have just examined.

Howse of the Dancing Girls (1811 ).—
A richly decorated house, which derives
its name from the pictures of the Four
Danzatrici, still graceful and volup-
tuous, which covered the entire atrium.
This and the two following houses
were forqetly supposed to have formed
one mansion.

House of Narcissus (1811), formerly
called the House of Apollo, from the
celebrated bronze statuette with silver
strings which was found in it. The
modern name is derived from a graceful
picture of Narcissus. The peristyle
and its columns are very elegant; the
hollows in the low wall which fills the
intercol iati are supposed to
have contained flowers. From the sur-
gical instruments, ointments, and lint
found in one of the rooms, the house is
supposed to have been the residence of
a surgeon.

House of Isis and Osiris (1818), a
small domestic temple, formerly con-

is very probable that the Thermopolium
properly so called, corresponded with
the modern coffee-house, and that the
building already described under this
title, near the Gate, may be regarded
as a type of the class. These smaller
shops, unprovided as they appear to
be with rooms for the customers, were
probably cooks’ shops, open to the
street, where the articles were cooked
and sold across the counter, as is still
the case in many Italian towns. An
inscription was found in one of them,
stating that the proprietor, “ Phaebus,
solicits M. Holconius Priscus and C.
Gaulus Rufus the duumvir, with his
other customers,” — a form of frequent
occurrence, equivalent to the announce-
ment of the modern shopkeeper that
he is patronised by the nobility.
Fountain (1788), called the Foun-
tain in Triviis, because it is situated
at the junction of three streets; it is a
small basin, with a fountpin flowing

dered the S ium of the House
of the Danzatrici. It contained an
altar dedicated to Isis and Osiris, and
a figure of Harpocrates enjoining
silence with his finger. One of the
rooms is painted with representations
of two young deities in love, warriors
on horseback pursuing fugitive dam-
sels, and other familiar subjects. At
the bottom of this street, ten skeletons,
one that of a child, were found, with
some rings, bracelets, silver Yo
and a bronze lantern.

House of Pupius (1813), so called
from the name written on the external
wall; it ins some and
paintings, none of which require pare
ticular description.

IV. We return hence to the Tri-
vium and Fountain in the Street of
Herculaneum,

Public Bakehouse (1809), at the angle

of the House of Sallust, the proprietos
of which no doubt let it to advantage
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as Cato tells us that the millers of
Pompeii were in great repute.  This
bakehouse, which is smaller than one
we shall have to describe shortly. con-
tains threelarge mills and one small one,
the oven with two troughs for water in
front of it, the kneading -room, the cis-
tern, the store-room, &c. When first
opened, the corn, the water-vessels,
and the amphora containing the flour,
were all in their proper places, and
nothing was wanting but the fire, to
have enabled a modern baker to resunie
the business.

Howse of Sullust (1809), formerly
called the House of Acteon, from a
celebrated picture on the wall of the
ladies’ atrium. This is one of the
principal private mansions in Pompeii.
It occupies an area of 40 square yards,
and is surrounded on three sides by
streets, the ground-floor, as usual,
heing occupied by shops. When first
excavated, it bore unmistakeable marks
of having been rifled of its portable
treasures after the eruption. The ar-
rangement of the building and the
details of its different apartments are
described at length in all the great
works on Pompeii, but our space allows
us to notice only the leading features.
Theentrance-door is flanked by pilasters
with stucco capitals, one of which re-
presents Silenus teaching a young faun
to play upon the pipe. The passage is
bordered by apartments for the porter
and by a shop for the sale of oil, pro-
duced, probably, on the proprietor's
estate. The atrium is Tuscan, with a
fountain in the centre, and an impl
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In one corner is a summer triclinium,
with & round table of marble in the
middle and apertures above for the
beams of the trellis. ‘The walls are
painted in panel, with a frieze at the
top representing the eatables used at
a feast, but nearly every trace of this
painting has perished. In the other
corner of the garden is a small stove
for heating water, supposed to mark
the position of a bath. On the right
of the atrium is the most interesting
department of the mansion, the Vene-
reum, a real prototype of the Oriental
bharem. It consists of a small court,
or atrium, surroundgd by a portico,
of octagonal columns, a sacrarium
dedicated to Diana, twosleeping-rooms
at the sides with glazed windows look-
ing into the court, a triclinium sepa-.
rated from the court probably by cur-
tains, a kitchen, a water.closet, and
a staircase leading to a terrace above
the portico.  Every part is claborately
decorated, and the paintings are ap-
propriately expressive of the uses to
which the apartments were applied.
The walls of the court are painted
black with rich gilt ornaments; the
columps are bright red. The sleeping-
roomns contain pictures of Mars, Venus,
and Cupid, and the entire wall at the
back of the court is covered with a
large painting, representing the story
of Diana and Actaeon, an evident allu.
sion to the danger of prying too closely
into the mysteries of this portion of
the mansion. In the adjoining lane
was found the skeleton of a young
£ 1

vium of Greek marble in the form of
a shell.  On either side are highly de-
corated apartments, one of which serves
as an ante-chamber to a hall on the left,
supposed, from its vicinity to the bake.
house, to have been a winter triclinium.
‘I'he apartments at the end of the
atrium open on a portico of fluted
Doric columns, which borders a narrow
strip of garden-ground, 70 feet by 20,
the centre of which was paved, the
flowers being arranged in boxes like
a modern orangery. The walls were
gracefully painted to represent trellis-
work, creepers, birds, and fountains.

, supposed 1o be that of the fair
being who was enshrined in this sanc-
tum with so much privacy and magni-
ficence ; she had four rings on one of
her fingers, set with engraved stones;
five gold bracelets, two ear-rings, and
thirty-two pieces of money were lying
near her. Close at hand were found
the skeletons of three other females
who were probably her slaves.

Iron Shop (1809). — A small shop,
in which were found many implements
and other articles indicating an iron-
monger's warchouse.

Public Bakehouse (1810).— A second
of these establishments, on a larger
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scale, and rather more elaborate in its
construction than the one already de-
scribed. It was excavated in the pre-
sence of Mazois. Ithas a court 36 feet
by 30, with square pillars to support
the roof. Beyoud the court is the
bakehouse, 33 feet by 26, containing
four flour mills of trachytic lava, like
the celebrated millstone of Andernach,
and of very curious construction. The
lower part, which is fixed firmly in the
ground, has a conical, or bell-shaped
projection in its centre. The upper
part, which is shaped externally like
a dice bhox, is hollowed internally
into two concave or bell-shaped basins,
the upper one being reversed to receive
the flour, the lower one fitting over the
convex projection of the under purt, to
whose surface the flour passed through
small apertures made in the upper
basin, around the iron pivot on which
it worked. The upper part, when
first discovered, had an iron frame-
work, with holes for the insertion of
wooden bars, to which asses and some-
times slaves, as both Plautus and
Terence testify from their personal
experience, were attached, for the pur-
pose of turning it. In the room which
is supposed to have been the stable, a
jawbone, and other fragments of an
ass’s skeleton, were found. In other
rooms were the ovens, the stone knead-
ing-troughs, the ash-pit, the cistern,
and the vessels for holding water. On
one of the piers was a painting re-
presenting an altar with the guardian
serpents, and two birds chasing two
large flies, an amulet, probably, for
keeping flies from the new-made bread.

Academy of Music (1810), or the
Casa del Corago, so called because it
was covered with paintings represent-
ing instruments of music and tragic
scenes,

House of Julins Polybius (1808-17).
+— A very large house of 3 stories, on the
right of the street, opposite the house
of Sallust, built on the supposed line
of the sea wall, or on a steep rock
sloping rapidly down to the ancient
beach. This position must have in-
sured a commanding view, and ren-
dered it altogether a charming resi-

Sect. 1.

dence. The floor by which we enter
is level with the street. It presents
the usual arrangement of a vestibule
and atrium opening on a terrace, a
peristyle, and the ordinary private
apartments. Under the terrace area
private bath, a saloon, a triclinium, &e.
Beyond them is another terrace over-
looking a large court, surrounded by
porticos, with a reservoir in the cen-
tre. Below is another floor containing
the baths, and the dark damp and mi-
serable cellsin which the slaves are bee
lieved to have been lodged. From
the general plan of this house it is
thought that it was a lodging-house.
Many of the rooms were decorated
with mosaict and other ornaments of
great beauty, but, like all the earlier
excavations on this side, they were
filled up and greatly injured before the
site was opened the second time.

House of Three Floors (1775-80). —
Adjoining this is an extensive build.
ing which bears this name, as the floors
have been preserved euntire. It is sup-
posed to have belonged, like the last,
to Polybius, as inscriptions in which
his name occurs have been found among
the ruins. It has a very large Corin-
thian peristyle of arcadesand piers, with
two vestibules commuinicatiny with the
street and the atrium. Thearcudes have
square apertures for windows which
appear to have been glazed. The whole
building was richly decorated; the
portico and three adjoining apartments
were paved with mosaics.

At this point the strcet branches
into two—that on the right is not yet
cleared ; the left leadsinto the Forum.

Apothecary's Shop, at the corner of
the Trivium. On the external wall is
a painting of a large serpent as the ge-
nius loct. Several glasses and phials,

M ing Ains 1 a"d \ H 1 pm
parations, were found in the shop.

Tavern, at the corner of the mnext
Trivium, called the « Fortunata,” a
shop of the usual character. with a
counter covered and faced with marble,
and the walls painted in blue panels
with red borders. In front of it isa

Fountain, at the angle of the pave.
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ment, consisting of a large square basin,
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like that seen soon after entering the
city.

V. We now turn to the N., down
a street, which here falls into the
main thoroughfare, beginning our ex-
amination at the bottom, with the

House of the Painted Columns (1844).
— A small house, of the ordinary cha-
racter, the name of which sufficiently
describes its principal features.

House of Neptune (1844).— Another
small house, irregular in plan, but re-
markable for some pretty paintings in
the atrium, and for a marble implu-
vium, with a space round it for plant-
ing flowers.

House of Flowers (1809), formerly
called the House of the Wild Boar,
from a ic of a Dog seizing a Wild
Boar by the ear, now in the collection
of the Prince of Salerno. It derives
its present name from some graceful
pictures representing nymphs bearing
flowers in their aprons.

House of Modestus (1808), so called
from an inscription found on the walls,
in which this name frequently oc-
curred. It is a small house, with the
usual arrangements of its class. When
first e d it d the i of
Mazois and other antiquaries by its
atrium being what is called impluvia-
tum, or inclined outwards, so as to
throw the water outside instead of car-
rying it into a cistern in the centre of
the floor. Some of the walls were
found covered with paintings illustra-
tive of the Odyssey.

Honse of Pansa (1811-14), one of the
largest and most interesting of the pri-
vate mansions of the first class. It
occupies an area of 800 feet by 120,
and extends into three streets. The

nd floor, like that of the modern
palaces of Naples, is occupied entirely
by shops, which we have Cicero's au-
thority for deseribing as one of the
most lucrative kinds of property in
Roman times. One of these shops
appears, from the communication be-
tween it and the mansion, to have been
the proprietor's own store for the sale
of the corn and agricultural produce of
his farms; another is a bakehouse of
the usual character, with the phallus

S. Il
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and the well-known inscription « Hie
habitat felicitas.” Another, in the side
street, has a cross on the wall, from
which Mazois aud the Count de Clarac
inferred that it had been inbabited by a
Christian. The principal entrance to
the mansion is paved with mosaics and
decorated with two Corinthian pilasters.
On the wall near it is painted in red
letters the words Pansam En. The
interior presents the usual arrange-
ment: —a Tuscan atrium with the
ordinary apartments at the sides, a pe-
ristyle of 16 Ionic volumns, with an
open court containing flower-beds and
afish-pond in thecentre; bed-chambers
on one side, a triclinium and a library
abutting on the back walls of the shops
on the other; a hall opening into the
garden, flanked on the right by domes-
tic apartments, and on the left by ser-
vants’ rooms and a kitchen which was
supplied with stoves like those now in
use. The whole breadth of the build-
ing facing the garden had a portico of
two stories. ‘The garden was half as
large as the mansion, with a reservoir
in one corner and the remains of a
fountain in the centre. The entire
building was rich in mosaic pavements
and mural paintings, but nearly all of
them have disappeared. One very cu-
rious painting, however, remains in
the kitchen, representing a religious
sacrifice to the Lares, who are personi-
fied by two serpents near an altar, sur-
r ded by the el ts of a di Y
pig for roasting, a ham, a string of mul-
lets, a spitted eel, a boar’shead, thrushes,
&c. Sir W. Gell gives a view of the
interior of this mansion, restored by
the accurate pencil of Mr. Cockerell,
which will afford a Letter idea of its
general character than any description
unaccompanied by drawiugs. In one
of the bed-rooms five female skeletons
were found, some of them with gold
ear-rings in their ears.

VI. The 8. front of the House of
Pansa faces the Street of the Baths,
one of the main thoroughfares of the
city. Before we describe the interest-
ing objects which it contains, we shall
return northwards towards the city
wall, and examine the “island” of

Q
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houses lying between this and the Street
of Mercury.

House of Apollo (1838), near the
bottom of the street, a richly decorated
house, with painted walls, a fountain,
and a garden decorated with baccha-
nalian garlands and other emblems;
two mosaics were found in it, one
representing the quarrel of Agamem-
non and Achilles; the other, Achilles
in his retirement at the court of Lyco-
medes.

House of Adowis (1836), so called
from a large painting which covers the
entire wall of the garden, representing
Adonis wounded by the wild boar
and consoled by Venus and her at-
tendant Cupids. Another picture re-
presents the story of Hermaphroditus
and the nymph Salmacis; but both of
them have suffered considerably from
exposure to the atmosphere. In the
two adjoining houses were found 64 sil-
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tre of the peristyle, unlike any pre-
viously discovered, and more remark-
able for its size and singularity than
for its beauty or good taste. It con-
sists of a very large semicircular niche,
surmounted by a pediment, the whole
encrusted with mosaics of different
colours, and ornamented with sea-birds
and aquatic plants. The water of the
fountain issued from the bill of the
bronze goose held by Cupid, now in
the museum. The back wall of the
peristyle was formerly covered with
paintings, representing a pseudo-garden
and a boer hunt; but the plaster fell
soon after it was excavated. S8ir W,
Gell has preserved a representation of
it in the 2d series of “ Pompeiana.™
The Fullonica (1826), the House of
the Dyers and Scourers, a very curious
building, which has made us acquainted
with one of the most important of Ro-
man trades. It has an atrium sur-

ver moulds used by confectioner s, and
14 vessels adorned with bas-reliefs of
Cupids and satyrs.

House of the Small Fountain (1826),
so called from a fountain encrusted with
mosaics and shell-work, placed in the
centre of the inner peristyle, and sup-
plied by an impluvium, of which the
Jeaden pipes and brass cocks are still
visible. The water issued from the
mouth of a comic mask. The little
bronze fisherman of the Naples Museum
was found in front of it. On the wall of
the atrium is a curious picture of a farm
house and yard, with a group at the en-
trance supposed to represent the adop-
tion of (Edipus by Periboea, Queen of
Corinth, after his discovery by the shep-
herds of Cithron. Another picture,
representing & seaport with a mole
built on arches, supposed to be a view
of Pozzuoli, has been removed to Na-
ples.  One of the inner rooms, sup-
posed to be the parlour, or exedra, was
covered with paintings of hunting

rounded by a peristyle, with a foun-
tain between two of the columns, and
surrounded by numerous apartments
containing the vats for the dyes, fire-
places for hot water, ovens for drying
the cloth, and the usual appurtenances
of a dyer's establishment. The object
which gave its chief interest to the
house has been removed to Naples. It
was a pilaster which stood nearthefoun-
tain, on which were represented men,
women, and boys engaged in the various
operations of treading, dipping, wring-
ing, carding, and drying the cloth.
Some olives were found in one of the
rooms, which had perfectly retained
their colour. i

House of the Tragic Poet (1824-26),
called also the House of Homer and
the House of the ¢ Cave Canem,” one
of the smallest but most elegant pri-
vate houses in Pompeir When it was
first discovered, it became celebrated
throughout Europe for the variety and
beauty of its paintings; but most of
its t have now been removed to

scenes. The record room, or tablinum,
had a painting of Cupid milking a
goat. The remains of two staircases
prove that there was an upper story.
House of the Great Fountain (1827).
a handsome but irregular atrium, 50
feet by 40, with a fountain in the cen-

e e e e -
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the Museum. From the single cir-
cumstance of one of these paintings
representing a male figure reading from
a scroll, the house was called that of
the Tragic Poet, a misnomer for which
it is difficult to account, since the large
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number of valuable .rticles which it
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street at this end. In one of them was

contained, such as rings, br , ear-
rings, chains, and ornamental Jewellery
in gold, coins and other articles in
silver, portable stoves and lamps in
bronze, distinguished by peculiar deli-
cacy of workmanship, should rather
have suggested that it was the house
of asilversmith. Externally, the lower
part presents to the street a blank wall
divided into square panels painted red;
the upper floor had windows opening
on the street 64 feet above the pave-
ment, and measuring 3 feet by 2; at
the side of each window is a wooden
frame in which the window or shutter
worked. The door turned on pivots,
the bronze sockets of which still re-
main. At the threshold was the cele-

found, in 1845, the money of the land-
lord, consisting of 206 large copper
pieces of Galba, Vespasian, and ‘Itus,
and 42 pieces of silver.

VI1I. We now enter the Street of
Mercury, and return to the N. to
commence our examination of the next
island of houses, as usual, at the end
nearest to the city wall.

House of Inachus and Io (1829).

House of the Nereids (1630-31). —
This house, once called that of Isis,
adjoins that known as the House of
Meleager, for which reason the latter
name has frequently been applied to
both. To add to the confusion, the
House of the Questor, beyond them,
vhlch has had more than its share of

brated mosaic of & dog chained, with
the inscription Cave Canem, **Beware of
the dog,” now in the Museum. The
internal arrangement of the house is
not different from the others we have
described ; but its walls were decorated
with an unusual number of first class
paintings. The atrium, the gynaeceum,
the triclinium, and several of the prin-
cipal apartments, were covered with
pictures, and many of the rooms were
paved with rich mosaics; but all the
best works of art have been removed
to Naples, including the celebrated
mosaic of the Choragus instructing the
Actors. One of the walls of the prin-
cipal apartment is painted in the style
now universally known as Pompeian;
the wall being divided into squares by
perpendicular lines decorated with fes-
toons and arabesques, and supporting
a rich frieze rep ing a Combat of
Greeks and Amazons. A very inter-
esting r ion of this h will be
found in the 2nd series of Sir W. Gell's
¢ Pompeiana.” We have already men-
tioned the numerous articles of value
which were discovered here. With
them were found some fragments of
skeletons. From the disturbed state
of the ground in the uneighbourhood
of the house, it is certain that search
had been mnade soon after the eruption
for the treasures it was known to con-
tain.

Inns.— Two large inns terminated the

was formerly consi-
dered to belong to them, and thus two-
thirds of this clump of buildings were
described as a triple house under a
vanely of titles. The present build-
ing, which is perfectly distinet and
complete in itself, derives its present
and most appropriate name from the
ornament which pervades almost every
part of it,—a graceful representation
of Nereids repusing on sea lions and
other marine animals. Ju every part
of the house we find traces of the
damage done by the earthquake which
preceded the eruption. These iujuries
have in moust cases been repaired, but
their situation may nevertheless be
recognised by the recent character of
the work. ‘The freshness of the deco-
ratious also may be considered to in-
dicate that the whole building was
undergoing the process of renovation
at the time of the last catastrophe.
The frequent occurrence of vessels
filled with lime in different rooms
supplies additional evidence to support
this supposition, which is of more im-
portance than at first sight it may ap-
pear, for the unique srrangements of
the interior, taken in conjunction with
these extensive repairs, make it evident
that the house is one of the most an-
cient which has yet been excavated.
Even the vestibule, with its three gra-
dations of colour, black red and white,
the latter uppermost, convinces us
Q2
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before we have entered the Tuscan
atrium, that we are on the threshold
of a building which differs materially
from all we have yet examined. In the
atrium, the first object which arrests
our attention is the impluvium, re-
markable for its elegant fountain and
pedestal of inlaid marbles, with a marble
table in front, supported on winged
gryffons, In the rear of this fountain
is a room open to the atrium, the
frieze of which is composed of bas-re-
liefs and paintings alternately, the only
example yet met with in Pompeii
The walls of this room were painted
yellow, above a red plinth, having one
picture in the centre of each. One of
them was the picture of Isis, which
gave to the house one of its older
names. The bed.rooms on the other
side of the atrium were lighted by
windows inserted above the doorways,
and were richly decorated with ara-

ues. A large triclinium completes
the building on that side. Passing
from the atrium we find ourselves in
one of the most magnificent peristyles
which have been preserved to our time.
The holes in the marble threshold show
that it was separated from the atrium
by a door of four folding leaves. The
24 columns which form so grand an
object in the spacious area, are alimost
Doric in their style: at the base of each
is an iron ring for spreading an awning
over the impluvium in the centre, which
was evidently used as a fishpond, and
was so arranged that the water of a
fountain fell over eight steps, forming
a miniature cascade. Along the margin
is still to be seen a deep channel in
which were found numerous remains
of plants and shrubs. The walls were
covered with pictures, the best of which
have been removed. At the back of
the peristyle, facing the fountain, are
two noble apartments, one of which is
remarkable for Yts two ticrs of columns
with capitals resembling the Corinthian.
The upper tier is surrounded by a gal-
lery, which rests on arches springing
from the capitalsof the lower, the arches
being small segments of a circle. This
is. we believe, the only instance known
in a building of this date, in which the
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continuous architrave was abandoned,
in order that the columns might be tied
together by a series of arches, —a mode
of construction which the early Chris-
tisns were supposed to have introduced
when they adopted the form of the
Roman Basilica as the model for their
churches. At the extremity of the
mansion on this side is a second tri-
clinium, of imposing size and propor-
tions, and decorated with great rich-
ness in every part. If the roof had
been preserved, it would have been one
of the noblest rooms in Pompeii.

Howse of Meleager (1830), formerly
called the House of Apollo, another
very handsome and interesting mansion
which, like the one just described, was
under repair at the time of the eruption.
The work, however, in this case appears
to have been in a more advanced state.
The principal features of the building,
as it now appears, are the Corinthian
atrium, the very singular apartment
with a window in whose marble frame-
work traces of an iron gate are still
visible, the venereum containing an
apartment with Grecian pilasters and
a Doric cornice, the triclinium with a
window looking out upon a garden,
and the site of the garden itself now
ruined by the fall of the cellars be-
neath it, but remarkable, when first
discovered, as containing many of the
shrubs with which it was planted.
The mosaics and pictures with which
the mansion was profusely decorated
were found in an extraordinary state
of freshness and preservation, confirm-
ing our remarks in regard to the
renovation of the building; but every-
thing of interest, including the beauti-
ful painting of Meleager and Atalanta,
which gave name to the house, has
been removed to Naples.

House of the Questor (1829-30),
formerly known as that of the Dioscuri,
of Castor and Pollux, and of the Cen-
taur; a house of great maguificence
and size, and decorated with uncom-
mon elegance in every part. Unlike
most of the other houses in Pompeii,
the exterior of this exbibity the same
attention to minute ornament and
finish which characterises the interior.
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The is unusually rich; the
stucco with which it is covered being
worked in panels and cornices, formed
by stamped ornaments of the same
material picked out with colour. At
the entrance doorway is a picture of
Mercury running away with a purse.
On the sides of the vestibule are paint-
ings of Castor and Pollux, or the Dios-
curi, from which the building derived
two of its names. The atrium, 40 feet
square, has a Corintbian peristyle of
12 columns, with an impluvivm and
fountain in the centre. The walls,

hich are coloured red and yellow, are
covered with paintings of arabesques,
grotesques, landscapes and figures, in-
cluding among the latter many of the
gods. In the left angle is a small
room, in which were found two very
large and highly ornamented wooden
chests, lined with bronze and bound
externally with iron. They are sup-
posed to have been the depositories
of the money collected as taxes cus.
toms and port dues, and from this sup-
position the building has derived the
pame of the « House of the Qustor,”
though there is no proof that a smail
town like Pompeii ever had an officer
of that rank. They were found se-
curely fastened to a solid plinth cased
with marble, and were closed by strong
bronze locks. When first excavated,
fifty gold and silver coins dropped
through the decayed woodwork of the
bottom, but these must have formed a
very small portion of their treasures,
for they had been rifled ages before
and by some one who well knew both
the locality and their contents, Who-
ever he may been who was thus anxious
to rescue the buried gold, the walils
now standing show that he made an
error in his calculation, and had to
exercise considerable ingenuity and
labour to repeir it. In excavating
from above, he entered the adjoining
room, and instead of retracing his
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breaking a hole in the chest which
stood on the other side of it. This
proceeding, of course, indicates an in-
timate acquaintance with the spot,
while the evident reluctance to make a
second excavation suggests the ides
that the explorer was anxious not to
attract attention to his work. Beyond
these chests is the tablinum, with its
beautiful pavement of white mosaic
edged with black, and its walls deco-
rated with peculiar brilliancy. Two
of the paintings, representing Ulysses
detecting Achilles among the daughters
of Lycomedes, and the Quarrel of
Achilles and Agamemnon, are as fine
as any which have yet been discovered.
Several of the adjoining rooms are
likewise richly decorated, but our space
does not allow us to describe them se-
parately, or to mention any of their
pictures except that of Thetis dipping
Achilles in the Styx. In the rear of
these rooms is a colonnade supported
by Doric columns, and opening upon
a garden. The walls of this colonnade
were decorated with paintings, mostly
of tragic scenes in the theatre; but
several of the best have been removed
to Naples. The wall of the garden
facing the 1 was pai to re-
present a pseudo-garden; one of the
walks was covered with a trellis, the
supports of which still remain. Passing
over the minor apartments we now
enter one of the most splendid courts
which have yet been brought to light ; -
it is called the Court of the Piscina by
Sir W. Gell, who has given a most ac-
curate view of it. It is surrounded by a
colonnade formed of four Corinthian
columns on each side, with ante at
the angles; in the centre, one end was
occupied by a fish-pond and fountain,
the rest was filled with earth for a
flower garden. On two of the antz
were two of the most celebrated pic-
tures now at Naples, the Perseus and
Andromeda, and Medea contemplating

steps and renewing his excavations at
the distance of a few feet, which would
have brought him into the apartment
he was seeking, he preferred to cut
through the massive wall of the
atrium, and extract the money by

the Murder of her Children. On oneof
the others was the well known picture
of a Dwarf leading a Monkey. At the
extremity of the court is a triclinium
of large size, which was closed by fold-
ing doors, the marble sockets of which

el
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are still visible. In the centre of the
floor was the celebrated circular mosaic
of the Lion crowned by young Loves
with garlands of flowers, now in the
Palace of Capodimonte. It would be
tedious to describe the other rooms in
detail, and quite impossible, in our
limited space, to attempt ta particu-
larise their ornamental features. A vq-
lume might be written on the House
of the Questor, and days be spent in
studying the infinite variety, the mag-
nificence and the grace which have
placed it at the head of the private
palaces of Pompeii.

Tavern (1832), a building so
called from the number of cooking
vessels, tripods, pots, and pans of
bronze and earthenware which were
found in it. The walls are covered
with licentious paintings, representing
the usual routine of low tavern scenes.
Two of them, however, are unobjec-
nonnble and curious as illustrations of
habit Oné repr
dnnlung scene, in which two of the
men wear capotes like the fishermen
of the present day ; the liquor is served
in a basin like a punch bowl, and
drinking horns are used instead of
glasses, On a row of pegsabove are
suspended various kinds of eatables,
some of them preserved in nets, and
one bearing some resemblance to a
string of oni; the scratches on
the wall look very like the landlord’s
score. The other painting represents
a 4-wheeled wine cart with a curricle
bar, from which the two horses are de-
tached. Thecart is filled with a huge
skin, from the leg of which a man and
boy are filling the amphora.

House of Amy and Nept
(1826-31), a small house, with a por-
tico and garden, remarkable for the
discovery of five skeletons among its
ruins, with severll bracelets and rings
‘of gold, and coins of gold, silver, and
bronze, not as usual lying on the pave-
ment, but buried in the accumulated
materials about 12 feet above it. This
eircumstance is curious as affording
additional proof that the houses were
explored and rifled after the _eruption,
and that the ashes for some time after-

tic
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wards evolved gases destructive of hu-
man life.

House of the Anchor ( l896-30). %0
called from a of an
found in the entrance porch. It hasa
portico and covered loggia of large
size, supported by Doric columns, and
overlooking a garden decorated with
niches and pedestals for statues, and
terminating in a little temple between
two fountaine.

House of Zephyrus and Flora (1827),
a large house abutting on the Street of
the Baths, frequently confounded with
the one we have just noticed, and de-
scribed under a multiplicity of titles,
such as the House of Ceres, the House
of the Bacchantes, and the House of
the Ship, the latter from a painting at
the entrance of one of the shops which
occupy, as usual, the ground floor.
The modern name is derived from a
very celebrated painting, supposed to
represent the marriage of Zephyrus
and Flora, and now removed to the
Museum. The walls are in better pre-
servation than those of most other
houses of thisclass. From their height
and from the arrangement of the deco-
rations, it appears to have been two
stories high. Some beautiful paint.
ings were found in the atrium; one
was the fine sitting figure of Jupiter
on his golden throne, with a glory
round his head like that surround.
ing the heads of medisval saints. The
well, with a cover of African marble,
was decorated with coarse mosaics, re-
presenting two large masks, a river,
and griffons. Four iron tires of
chariot-wheels were found among the
ruins, precisely correspouding with
those now in use.

VIIL. We now turn again to the N.
by a street running parallel to the
street of Mercury, to examine the two
last houses which rematn to be noticed
in this quarter of the city.

House of the Labyrinth (1882), a
very large and imposing building,
scarcely surpassed by any other which
has yet been discovered in the impos-
ing character of its architecture, or in
the elegance of its internal arrange-
ments. It derives its name from the
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mosaic of Theseus killing the Mino-
taur, which formed the pavement of
one of the principal apartments.

House of the Fuun (16829-31), called
also the House of the Great Mosaic,
the first name being derived from the
bronze statuette of the Dancing Faun
which is now the gem of the Museo
Borbonico ; the second from the mosaic
of the battle of Issus, the grandest
mosaic yet discovered, which forms so
conspicuous an object in the Hall of
Flora in the same Museum. This is
said to be the largest of the Pompeii
houses. It must also have been one
of the most magnificent and luxurious,
though little remains even of what it
exhibited when first excavated. The
space usually occupied by pictures was
here filled with mosaics, many of which
like the Acratus of Bacchus riding on
a tiger, thecourse of the Nile with the
hippop , the crocodile, the ibis,
&c., have evident reference to the wor-

EXCURSIONS FROM NAPLES.— POMPEII.

343

formed by the intersection of the two
latter streets was the scene of the first
excavations. A few objects have been
clearcd in the line of the Street of Nola
on the left, which we may briefly no-
tice here, in order to avoid the neces-
sity of retracing our steps hereafter.

House of the Bromze Bull, with an
atrium painted with garlands of fruits
ahd flowers. Beyond this, numerous
shops and foundations of houses have
been traced, showing that the street
was bordered with habitations, but
none of them are sufficiently excavated
to detain us. About 500 feet before
we reach the gate is the

House of the Infunt Perseus, so called
from a picture representing Danae with
Perscus at the court of Polydectes, in
the island of Seriphus,

Shops and smaller houses (1812). —
The street cluse to the Nola Gate, on
the city side, is bordered by a series of
small houses and shops; but in conse-

ship of Osiris. The pa was
mostly formed of oriental marble and
alabaster of different colours. Nearly
all the objects of interest have followed
the two principal works of art to Na-
ples; and as it was chiefly in its mosaic
decorations that the mansion differed
from others we have described, it is
unnecessary to particularise its details.
In the numerous apartments were
found a greater variety of furniturc and
domestic articles than in any other
house which has been examined. Some
of the stewpans were of silver; the
bronze vessels were of unusual elegance
and finish ; and the gold bracelets, neck-
laces, and rings found in the apartments
of the venereum were rich and massive
beyond any other examples of Pompeii
jewellery. The court also was filled
with amphorse in preparation for the
coming vintage. Some skeletons were
found in one of the rooms.

IX. We have now completed our
examination of that half of the city
which is comprised between the Her-
culaneum Gate, the Street of the Baths,
the Street of Nola which is a con-
tinuation of it, and the transverse
streets leading from the Gate of Vesu-
vius to the theatres. The Quadricium

) of their unpromising character
the excavations in this quarter were
soon abandoned.

Gate of Nola (1812), formerly called
the Gate of Isis, a single arch still
entire, 21 feet high and 12 wide, built
of rubble and brick, faced with stucco.
This, like the Herculanecum Gate, was
double; but the outer portion, which
was doubtless of tufa like the walls,
has been destroyed, and what now re-
mains has been rudely repaired, pro-
bably at the time when the towers
were erected. The arch, however, is
evidently more ancient than these repa-
rations. The gate is placed at a dis-
tance of nearly 50 feet from the outer
walls, so that it was approached exter-
nally by a narrow passage, the entrance
of which was fortified by two towers,
Another peculiarity is that it is not at
right angles with the wall, but is in a
direct line with the street of Nola,
The keystone of the arch on the city
side is sculptured with a head of Isis,
by the side of which is an Oscan in-
scription, written of course from right
to left, signifying that C. Pupidius, the
Meddixtuticus, repaired and dedicated
it to Isis. On the inner sides were
chambers, supposed to have contained

Q4
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wooden steps which gave access to the
walls.

We now return to the Quadrivium,
to examine several small houses which
lie between it, the Street of the Dried
Fruits, and the Street of Fortune, pre-
paratory to our entering on the region
of the Forum. First, however, we
have to notice the

Shops of the Quadrivixm(1845).— At
this junction of the four streets, as in
many of the neighbouring quadrivia
and trivia, ous shops
have been congregated. ‘This Iocl.hty
must have been a favourable one for
b q of the meeting
of four thoroughfareq from immportant
quarters of the city, and consequently
the shops which were excavated in
1845 were found to contain an unusu-
ally large supply of articles of mer-
chandise. Two of them were stocked
with bronze and iron utensils for cook-
ing and domestic purposes; another,
apparently the store of a statuary or
stone mason, contained blocks of mar-
ble and several statues, one of which
repr d the skeleton of a woman
in flowing drapery, supposed to repre-
sent the Goddess of Envy.

House of the Chase, containing repre-
sentations of the chase of the various
wild animals used in the amphitheatre.

House of the Bronze Figures, so called
from the numerous figures of men and

imals, and double-headed busts or
Hermes in bronze, which were found
in it.

House of the Chalk Figures, a name
derived from the objects it contained.

House of the Black Walls, “ Casetta
della Parcte Nera,” so called from the
very delicate and graceful ornaments
on a black ground in one of the apart-
inents, alternating with pictures repre-
senting sacrifices to Venus, Minerva,
and Juno; Cupid and P:ycbe, &ec.

House of the Figured , 80
called from the pilasters at the entrance
with capitals representing Fauns and
Bacchantes.

House of the Grand Duke of Tus-
cany. a very small house, but remark-
uble for the picture found in the prin-
cipal room, representing Dirce, Antiope
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and the Bull, and for 8 mosaic foun-
tain embellished with the marble statue
of a Faun.

House of Ariadre, sometimes called
the House of Bacchus, remarkable for
the elegance of its internal arrange-
ment, for the sacrarium, the garden
tncllmum, and several i mtmumg paint-
ings which were found in it, amoug
which may be mentioned the Ariadne
from which it derives its name; Gala-
tea on a Triton, Apollo and Daphne,
and the old Love-merchant.

XI. A street called the Vico Storto
separates this mass of buildings from s
few h d in t years.
It is sufficient to record their names as
the House of Mercury (1845), Honse of
the Quadriga (1845), Howse of Love
disarmed (1844), so called from a very
pretty picture of Cupid made prisoner
by two girls, and a Baker’s Shop (1845).
The frequent oceurrence of the phallus
over the entrance doors, and the ob-
scene pictures found in several of the
houses, have induced the belief that
this was the quarter of the courtesans.

XII. We now return to the central
quadrivium formed by the junction of
the Street of Nola, the Street of the
Baths, and those of Mercury snd For-
tune. At this point are the remains of
a Trixmphal Arch and Fountain, form-
ing a grand entrance to the Street
of Fortune, and corresponding with
another arch .which, as we sball see
presently, formed the termination of
the street at its junction with the Fo-
rum, At this point may be said to
begin the Public Edifices and Jnstitu-
tions of Pompeii. First of these, at
the corner of the Street of Nola, is the

Temple of Fortune (1823), a small
Corinthian temple, erected, as the in-
scription tells us, by Marcus Tullius
the duumvir, supposed to be a de-
scendant of Cicero, on his own ground
and at his own cost. The steps in
front are broken by a low wall or po-
dium supporting an altar, which was
protected by an iron railing, the remains
of which are still visible. The por-
tico had four marble columns in front
and two at the sides; butthey had either
been removed after the eruption or
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destroyed by the earthquake which
preceded it, as no trace of them was
found. The cella is square. Behind
the altar is a semicircular niche, con-
taining a receptacle for the statue in
the form of a small Corinthian temple.
1o the cella was found a female statue
with the face sawed off, no doubt one
of the ready-made figures which were
sold in this state by the Roman sculp-
tors, in order that the features of any
particular goddexs might be added at
pleasure.  Another statue found here,
and attributed to Cicero, was a full-
sized figure wearinig the toga of.the
Roman magistracy, and extremely in-
teresting as huving been entirely painted
with the costly dye, a mixture of purple
and violet, which appears thus early to
have been the peeulin colour of the
higher order of magistrates and priests.

Public Baths (1824).—This esta-
blishment is of great extent, covering
sn area of 100 square feet, and having a
frontage in three streets. An inscription
in the court, on the right of the entrance,
records the dedication of the bathsat
the expense of Cnzus Alleius Nigidius
Maius, and the games and entertain-
meats which took place in honour of
the event in the amphitheatre, the
luxury of an awniog (“ vela erunt™)
being especially mentioned. As Nero’s
interdiction of theatrical am
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by a portico, leads, by a corridor in
which 500 terra-cotta lamps were
found, into the disrobing room or
apodyterium,an oblong stuccoed cham-
ber pmmed yellow, with holes in the
wall in which the clothes pegs were
inserted, and with seats of lava on three
of its sides. The roof was vaulted and
lighted at one end, close to the ceiling,
by a window containing a single pane
of glass S feet 8 inches broad, 2 feet 8
inches high, 2-5ths of an ineh thick,

and ground on one side, as was proved
by the numerous fragments found upon
the floor. Underneath this window is
a laige bearded mask in stucco, with
tritons and water nymphs on each side
of it. The roof was painted in white
panels with red borders; beneath the
cornice of the room is an arabesque
frieze in relief on a red ground, com-
posed of chimsras, vases, and lyres
resting on two dolphins. At one end
of this room is a small chamber, sup-
posed to be a wardrobe. At the op-
posite end is the entrance to the cold
bath, or frigidarium, a circular cham-
ber in a fine state of preservation, stuc-
coed and painted yellow, with a bell-
shaped roof which was apparently
painted blue, and lighted by a window
near the top. The cornice is decorated
with relief in stucco on a red ground,

ing Cupids engaged in a cha-

did not expire till the year 69, it is in-
ferred from this inscription that the
dedication took place a very short time
before the destruction of the city. The

riot and horse race. In the angles are
4 circular niches with seats psinted red
and blue. In the centre is the cold
water basin of white marble, 12 feet 10

hes in diameter, and 2 feet 9 inches

building is divided into three
ts; the 1st cont g the fi
and fuel, the 2d the baths for men,
the 3d those for women. The same
furnaces of course supplied both sets,
and were supplied with water from a
reservoir at a little distance, the pipes
being carried across the street by the
Arch, in which their remains are still
visible. Each set of baths was paved
throughout with white and black mar-
ble, and was arranged on one plan,
consisting of a disrobing room, a cold
bath, a warm bath, and a vapour bath.
Those for the men are the largest and

L ‘-

deep, with two :tepc in front of the en-
trance door, and a low seat in the mid-
dle. The warm bath, or tepidarium, is
entered from the disrobing room, and
nearly corresponds with it in size. It
has a vaulted ceiling painted red and
blue, and richly covered with stucco
ornaments in medallions, consisting
chiefly of figures and folisge. At one
end it is pierced with a window 2 feet
6 inches high, and 3 feet wide, which
contained a bronze frame in which four
panes of glass were curiously fastened
by screws, 8o as to be opened or shut
at pl e. Below the cornice of the

most elegant. A vestibule, ed by
three different passages and surrounded

roof the wall, which is painted to re-
Q5
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present porphyry, is' divided into' nu-
merous niches by terra-cotta figures of
Atlas, 2 feet high, covered with stucco
and painted flesh col The nich
are supposed to have held the clothes of
the bathers, the oil vessels, and the per-
fumes. Along the sides of the room
are bronze benches, standing upon legs
in imitation of those of a cow, an evi-
dent allusion to the person whose
name is inveribed on them, “ M. Nigi-
dius Vaccula, A. P. 8.” In the centre
of the room is a large bronze brasier,
7 feet long and 2} feet wide, lined with
iron but having bronze bars for the
charcoal ; on the front is the figure of
a cow in high relief, another allusion to
the individual by whom all these bronze
vessels appear to have been presented.
From this chamber we pass into the
vapour bath, or caldarium, the length
of which, in strict accordance with the
precept of Vitruvius, is twice its
width. It terminates at one end in a
semicircular niche, contsining a mar-
ble vase 5 feet in disineter, which held
the warm water for ablutions ; around
its rim is an inscription, in bronze let-
ters, recording its erection at the public
expense, by order of the Decurions, by
Guoeus Melisseus Afer and Marcus
Staius Rufus, duumviri of justice for
the second time, at the cost of 750
sesterces (61.). At the other end of
the chamber, which is square, is the
hot bath, 12 feet long and about 2 feet
deep; itis of white marble, and is ele-
vated on steps of the same material.
The vaulted ceiling is extremely hand-
some, being d of t e
fluting ; the cornice is supported by
fluted pilasters painted red : the walls
of the room are of yellow stucco. The
temperature of the room was regulated
by three windows or apertures over the
niche of the vase; these were closed
by plates of bronze which were drawn
or withdrawn by of chai
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the same plan as those for the men,
and are decorated in the same manner,
but are not so large or so perfectly pre-
served. We have mentioned 500 lamps
as having been found in one corridor
of this vast establishment ; they formed
but a small portion of the whole num-
ber, which is said to have exceeded
1,300, and to have included every va-
riety of form and size. Among the
many other objects discovered in the
rooms was a money-box and a surgeon’s
catheter.

Street of Fortane (1823), a fine broad
stregt leading to the Forum, in direct
continuation of the Street of Mercury.
1t is 200 feet long and 29 feet wide,
and has footpaths at the sides. On the
right it was bordered by the portico of
the Baths, beneath which were nume-
rous shops, as there were also on the op-
posite side, all of them apparently of the
first class. In one of them were found
several hundred articles in glass and
L , bells, in} ds, money-boxes,
dishes, steelyards, &c., the greater
part of which may be examined in the
Museum. In this house askeleton was
found in the act.of escaping from his
window with 60 coins, a small plate,
and a saucepan of silver ; two other
skeletons were found in the street. In
another house were found, in 1845, in
a large room on the ground floor, va-
rious articles of office furniture, with
some marble weights and several coins
of Galba and Vespasian. At the S
end, forming theentrance to the Forum,
the street was spanned by the

Triumiphal Arch (1828), built of
brick and lava, covered with thin
plates of marble, and still retaining its
massive piers ; each decorated with two
fluted Corinthian columns of white
marble, with square niches between
them which are supposed to have con-
tained statues and fountaina. There
is to beli that this arch was

The walls and pavement were con-
structed hollow, so as to allow the
steam to circulate freely from the fur-
naces, which may still be examined in
situ on.the W, side of the building.
‘The Women’s Baths ave on the other side
of the furnaces; they are arranged on

e —— -y - —————

surmounted by an equestrian bronze
statue, as fragments both of the man
and horse were found among the ruins.
The street on the left is called the
Street of the Dried Fruits, to be here-
after, noticed ; that on the right con-
tains two shops, called the Milk Shop
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and the School of Gladiators from the
signs over the dourways already no-
ticed at p. 324.

XII1. We now enter on the Quar-
ter of the Forum, which contains the
principal Temples, the Tribunals, the
Exchange, and other public institu-
tions.

The Forum (1816) is the most spa-
cious and imposing spot in Pompeii ;
it is distant about 400 yards from the
Herculaneum Gate, and about the same
distance from the Great Theatre. It
is surrounded on three of its sides by
a broad colonnade of Grecian Doric
architecture; the columns are of
white marble, 12 feet high and 2 feet
8} inches in diameter. Above this co-
1 de there appears, from the nu-
merous traces of staircases still vieible,
to have been a terrace. On the E.
side of the Forum are the remains of
an older arcade and portico, which had
been damaged by the earthquake and
was in process of rebuilding. In front
of the columns are pedestals on which
stood statues or busts of eminent per-
sonages ; some of them, fromn the size
of the pedestals, were evidently eques-
trian. Several streets opened into the
Forum but were closed at night by
iron gates, as is proved by the frag-
ments of iron still traceable at the dif-
ferent entrances. ‘The entire arca was
paved with marble. In front of the
portico on the .8. and W. sides are
several pedestals for statues, some of
which, from their size, must have been
equestrian. A few of the pedestals
still bear the names of distinguished
inhabitants of the city, among which
may be recognised those of Pansa,
Scaurus, Sallust, Gellianus, n‘r’\.d Rufus.
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stucco. The entrance is approached
by a long flight of steps, flanked by
pedestals for colossal statues.  Ex-
clusive of these steps, the building is
100feet iong and 43 feet wide. In front
was a square vestibule with a mag-
nificent portico of Corinthian columns,
six in front and three at each side,
which are supposed from their diameter
of 3 feet 8 inches, to have been nearly 40
feet in height. The interior of the cella,
42 feet by 28, is bordered on each side
by a row of eight Ionic columns, which
appears to have had another row above,
supporting the roof of a gallery. The
walls were painted, the predomi
colours being red and black. The
pavement was of marble, arranged in
the diamond pattern in the centre,
with a border of black and white mo-
saic. The door sill retains the holes
for the bolts of the doors. At the
N. end of the cella are three small
chambers, behind which are the re-
mains of a staircase leading probably
to the gallery. Froin the vestibule
there is a fine view of Monte Sant’
Angelo and the surrounding country.

The Prisons (1816). A small plain
arch at the W. angle of the Temple
leads to the Prisons, narrow dungeons
without light except what might be
admitted through the iron bars of the
doors.  The skeletons of two men
were found in them, their leg bones
encircled with the iron shackles; they
may still be seen in the Museum at
Naples,

The Public Granary (1816). Ad-
joining the Prisons is a long narrow
building, near which were found the
public measures for corn, oil, and wine,
now preserved in the Museum. To

Fontana's p Iy
under the pavement, cutting through
the foundations of the Temple of Venus
and of other important buildings in
the opposite angle.

Temple of Jupiter (1816-17), once
called the Senaculum, a building of
large size and imposing aspect, standing
on an elevated basement at the N. end
of the Forum, and occupying by far
the finest site in the city. It is built
of brick and lava, covered with white

this cir it owes its present
name.

Temple of Venus (1817), a small
temple surrounded by an area of 150
feet by 75, on the W, side of the
Forum, a larger space than is occupied
by the precincts of any other Temple
in the city. This area is bounded on
all sides by a portico, 12 feet 2 inches
wide, covered with beams of timber,
and consisting of 48 irregular and dis-
proportionate columns, which were

Qb
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originally Doric, but have been con-
verted into Corinthian by means of
stucco. The walls of this portico were
decorated with a series of paintings on
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large size, curiously built of brick and
tufa stuccoed, and forming a covered

ge below, along the four sides of
building. The walls were covered with

a black ground representing ar

tural subjects, landscapes, dwarfs, pig-
mies, and various relics of Egyptian
superstition, suggesting the belief that
the building may have been used in
later times for the worship of Osiris.
The Temple itself stands upon an
elevated basement, ascended by 16
steps, in front of which is a large altar
covered with a black stone, containing
three places for fire, in which, when first
excavated, the ashes of the victims were
discovered. On the west and east sides
are duplicate inscriptions recording the
erection of the temple by M. Porcius
L. Sextilius, Cn. Cornelius, and A.

stucco, painted in sq in imitation
of various coloured marbles. At the
end of the building, elevated on a base-
ment and d d with six col Y
is the Tribune for the Duumviri or
Judges, with vaults beneath, which are
supposed to have been the dungeons for
criminals. In front of the Tribune,
between the two centre columns of the
peristyle, is a square pedestal which
supported a bronze statue, of which
nothing but the legs were found. The
remains of other pedestals are seen at
the sides, at the entrances, and in front
of the portico; the sites of fountains
are also t bl The p: t was
entirely wanting when the building was
e

Cornelius, at their own expense. The
cella is very small, and ins no-
thing but the pedestal for a statue. In

the open area were found the statues
of Venus and Hermaphroditus now in
the Museum, and a mosaic border of
great beauty. In a room supposed to
be the private apartment of the priest,
was found a picture of the infunt Bac-
chus and Silenus playing the lyre.
An inscription found among the ruins
records that Marcus Holconius Rufus,
and Caius Ignatius Posthumus, duum-
viri of justice for the 3d time, by a
decree of the Decurions, had purchased
for 3000 sesterces the right of closing
the windows, and had erected a private
wall as high as the roof, to conceal the
proceedings in the College of the Cor-
poration of Venereans.

The Basilica (1817), the Westmin-
ster Hall of Pompeii. This edifice,
220 feet long and 80 broad, occupies
the S.W. angle of the Forum, and is
supposed to be the work of Greek
architects. It is approached by an
open court or vestibule, entered from
the portico of the Forum, and still
retaining the grooves in the piers by
which it was railed off or closed with
doors. From the vestibule a flight of
steps leads into the interior by five door-
ways. The central area was open, and
was surrounded by a gallery supported
by a peristyle of 28 Ionic columns of

d, having evidently been re-
moved after the eruption; in fact, the
whole edifice bore marks of having
been rifled, in all probability not for
the purposes of plunder but for the re-
covery of its records. Both the inner
and the outer walls present numerous
inscriptions, some written with red
paint, and some merely scratched with
a sharp point. One of them announces
that C. Pumidius Dipilus was here at
the nodes of October, during the Con-
sulate of M. Lepidus and Q. Catulus;
this was 79 = c., the year of Sylla's
death. Other inscriptions appear to
be announcements of public games;
one of them gives notice that the gla-
diator Festus Ampliatus, whose

will be recognised as occurring on the
Tomb of Scaurus (p. 330.) will contend
for the second time on May 17. Among
the inscriptions scribbled under the
portico were many verses from Ovid's
Art of Love,

The Curie and Erarium (1814), at
the S. extremity of the Forum, facing
the Temple of Jupiter, are three small
halls of equal size, and presenting no
difference of construction, except that
the central one has a square recess and
the remains of a raised basement at the
end, while those at the sides have cir-
cular recesses. They were highly de-
corated with columns and statues. The
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central hall, from the numerous coins
of gold, silver, and copper which were
found in it, is supposed to be the /Era-
rium or Public Treasury; the others
were probably the Curi=z or Courts for
the meetings of the Municipal Magis-
trates.

}37
x

of Championet (1799), so
called froiun the French General of that
name by whoin they were excavated.
One of them has a cavadium of consi-
derable elegance, and the other has an
atrium the columns of which were ori-
ginally fluted, but were subsequently
renovated by coloured stucco. The
basement of the peristyle which sur-
rounds a small garden has several sin-
gular openings for the purpose of light-
ing a series of subt hambers,
which were approached from the street
by an inclined passage and from the
peristyle by a stair. One of the apart-
ments still retains many traces of its
brilliant arabesquesand medallions; but
the beautiful pictures, which madethese
houses celebrated at the beginning of
the present century, have longsince dis-
appeared. In one of them four female
skeletons were discovered, with nume-
rous gold bracelets and other articles of
jewellery, which, with the other objects
of interest, were removed to Paris. The
situation of these houses on elevated
_ ground overlooking the sea, and com-
” manding an uninterrupted view of the
Sorrento coast, must have been parti-
cularly agreeable. From this point we
cross the Forum, to complete our ex-
amination of its E. side. AttheS. E.
angle, at the corner of the Street of
Abundance, formerly called the Street
of the Silversmiths, we find the

Scuola Pubblica, a name given to a
square building, without ornament or
inscription, the use of which has not
been satisfactorily determined.

Crypto- Porticus of Eumachia (1821),
or the Chalcidicum, a building of large
size in the form of a basilica, 130 feet
long and 65 feet broad, supposed to
have been the Exchange of the cloth
merchants. It had two entrances, one
from the Street of ALundance, theother
from the Forum. The latter had a
noble portico of 18 columns; the grand
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entrance in the centre was closed by
folding doors, of which the sockets and
bolt holes are still visible in the marble.
This was bordered by raised platforms,
for the purpose, probably,of haranguing
the people. The interior was divided
into a large area 130 feet by 65, sur-
rounded by a double gallery, a peri-
style of 48 columns of Parian marble
of beautiful workmanship, very few of
which have been found, a chalcidicum
or enclosed apartmentat the extremity
of the area entered from the side street,
and a crypto-porticus, or gallery in
which walls pierced with windows have
replaced the columns usually seen in
the interior. These walls are painted
in panels, red and yellow, with repre-
sentations of flower borders at the base,
At the end opposite the entrance is a
semicircular recess which contained a
statue of Concord. Behind it, in a
niche in the centre of the wall in the
crypto-porticus, stood the statue of Eu-
machia the priestess, 5 feet 4 inches
high, with an inscription recording that
it was erected by thedyers to Eumachia,
the public priestess. On the architrave
over the side entrance is another in-
scription, recording the erection of the
building by E hia the priestess,
daughter of Lucius, in her own name
and that of her son, M. Numistrus
Fronto, and at ber own expense. This
is arepetition of a much larger inscrip-
tion which was affixed to the front of
the building, but was found on the
ground broken into fragments; it is
now in the Museum. Under the stair-
case leading to the upper gallery wasa
Thermopolium, or shop for hot liquids,
in which one of the most interesting
urns in the Museum was discovered.
The entire building appears to have
suffered severely from the earthquake,
as it was evidently under repair at the
time of the eruption. On the exter-
nal wall was a notice of a gladiatorial
show, and an inscription recording that
that all the goldsmiths invoked C.
Cuspius Pansa the JEdile. )
Temple of Quirinus, (1817-18), for-
merly known by the names of Romu-
lus and Mercury; a small temple,
close to the Crypto-porticus on the E.
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side of the Forum, occupying a space
57 feet 6 inches, by 55 feet 7 inches.
It stands upon a basement and is ap-
proached by a narrow vestibule, with
steps on each side leading to the plat-
form of the cella, in the centre of which
is an altar of Parian marble with bas-
reliefs representing a sacrifice on one
side, and the sacrificial implements on
the others. The principal figure was
long supposed to be Cicero. The
walls are divided into long compart-
" ments by pilasters. In front of the
temple were found the fragments of
an inseription recording the deification
of Romulus by the title of Quirinus.
Adjoining the building were the apart-
ments for the priests, in one of which
numerous amphors were found.

Decurionate (1818), called also the
House of the Augustals, and the Sena-
culum, or Senate House; a small hall
83 feet by 60, adjoining the Temple of
Quirinus, with a portico of Ionic co-
lumns of white marble. Oa each side
of the entrance is a pedestal for statues,
In the centre of the area is an altar,
and at the end is a semicircular recess
with a scat for the decurions, who are
supposed to have held in it their
public sittings,

House of the Augustals (1818), called
also the Pantheon, and the Temple of
Augustus. If these are not all mis-
nomers, it would appear from the
culinary paintings at the N. entrance,
and from the large collection of fish-
bones and other fragments of food
found in the sink in the centre, that a
building devoted to religious purposes
was used also as a banqueting house,
It is & spacious edifice with entrances
in three of its sides, the principal one
decorated with marble columns and
pedestals for statues. The columns of
the portico had been thrown down by
the earthquake, and were under re-
storation at the time of the eruption.
It consists internally of an open atrium
120 feet by 90, with 12 peclestals placed
in a circle round an altar which occu-
pies the centre of the area. These
pedestals are supposed to have sup-
ported 12 statues of the Dii Consentes,
but as no stataes were found, it is sup-
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posed that they were removed after the
eruption. The back of the building
is divided into three compartments, of
which the central is subdivided into
niches, in which were found the statues
of Livia as a priestess, and of her son
Drusus, now in the Museum and here
replaced by casts. A statue of Au-
gustus is supposed to have stood near
them, as an arm holding a globe was
found in this part of the building. Oan
the 8. side of the building are 12 small
cells supposed to be the chambers of
the Augustals, and the holes fur joists
prove that there were similar rooms
above them. The inner walls of the
whole building appear to have been
decorated with great richness and care.
Among the beautiful arabesques and
paintings for which it was remarkable,
we may mention the Ulysses in dis-
guise meeting Penelope on his return
to Ithaca, lo and Epaphus, Latona
and her children, 2 Roman Galley,
the Cupids making Bread, Donkeys
working the Corn-mills, and various
articles of food, such as geese, lobsters,
game, fruit, wine, &c. The picture of
the female painter herself holding her
palette and brushesisat Naples. Near
the N. entrance was found a box con-
taining a massive gold ring with an
engraved stone, 41 silver and 1036
bronze coins.

Shops of the Money Changers. —In
front of the building just described,
and under the portico of the Forum,
stood seven of these Taberne Argen-
tariz. The pedestals of some of the
tables still remain.

XIV. Street of the Dried Fruits. —
Having now completed our survey of
the Forum, we have to notice briefly
a few houses which have been exca-
vated in the rear of the public edifices
on its E. side. This district is bounded
on the N. by the Street of the Dried
Fruits, which derived its name from
the large quantity of these articles
found in the numerous shops which
border it on both sides. Besides this
stack of raisins, plums, figs, and chest-
nuts, a collection of hemp seed, scales
and weights, pastry moulds, lanterns
and vases of various kinds, were found
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in them, and several of their entrances
were ornamented with pictures. Near
the corner of the street, where it joins
that leading to the Street of Abun-
dance, a beautiful figure of Bacchus
pressing the juice of a bunch of grapes
into a vase, with a panther at his feet,
was discovered.

House of Prince Henry of Holland
(1844), a small house excavated in the
presence of this prince, but containing
nothing to require a description.

House of the King of Prussia (1822
~93), in a street which runs 8. from
the Street of the Dried Fruits to that
of Abundance, another small house of
the same class, which derives its name
from having been excavated in the
presence of his Prussian Majesty.
Some gold bracelets and rings, some
bronze balances, strigils, and ornaments
of a bed, and a small bas-relief in mar-
ble representing two masks and a
winged horse were the principal ob-
jects found in it.

House of the Fisherwoman (1822-23),
80 called from a picture representing
Venus fishing and Cupid looking on.

Several inns and shops of the ordi-
nary character occur in this street,
among them is the shop of a soap-
maker. .

House of Venxs and Mars (1820),
called also the House of Hercules,
from a picture representing his initia-

tion in the mysteries of a priestess, the’

present name being likewise derived
from a picture it contained. Some
mosaics, sculptures, and inscriptions,
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House of Queen Adelaide (1838), ad-
joining the one just mentioned; it
derives its name from the late Queen
Dowager of England, in whose pre-
sence it was partly excavated. Like
most of the houses in this quarter of
the city, it is of moderate size, and as
the principal objects which were found
in it have been removed, it contains
nothing now to call for a detailed
description. .

XV. The Street of Abundance, for-
merly called the Street of the Silver-
smiths, is a fine broad thoroughfare
leading from the S. extremity of the
Forum to the quarter of the Theatres.
It derives its present name from a
Statue of Abundance which was found
in the centre of the quadrivium formed
by the intersection of the Street of the
Theatre. Its old name was derived
from the great quantity of jewellery
found in the shops which are crowded
together on each side of it, showing
that the neighbourhood of the two
theatres must have been an eligible
spot for the sale of personal ornaments.
These shops, unlike any of the others
we have had to describe, are built in
the Greek style; the doors are flanked
by pilasters, and the masonry and
mouldings are so skilfully arranged
that they incline almost imperceptibly
with the slope of the street. Many of
the houses still bear the owners’ names,
painted mostly with red ocolour in very
irregular and rude characters, and in
some instances over the names of pre-
vious tenants imperfectly erased. Here

in which several Pompeian names oc-
curred, were also found in it; but the
object of greatest interest was a well
116 feet deep, the arch of which had
so effectually resisted the earthquakes
and the eruption that it is as perfect
now as it was 18 centuries ago. The
water is said to be mineral, and is now
often used for medicinal purposes.

House of Ganymede (1839), a small
bousein the rear of the Crypto-porticus,
the basement is occupied by the shops
which line the N. side of the Street of
Abundance. Its name, as usual, is
derived from a painting on one of its
walls.

and there we find the name inscribed
on a little white tablet on the walls,
the Album of the Roman architects,
Some pray for the patronage of the
/Edile, and one assures him that he is
worthy of it, “dignus est.” Another
has a rude representation of the owner,
a scribe, with a pen behind his ear.
One house bas a very beautiful and
perfect doorway of stone, the only ex-
ample yet discovered; on the right
wall of the vestibule is a painting of &'
monkey playing the double pipe. An-
other peculiarity in this street is the
occurrence of marks on the walls of
some of the houses, as if they had been
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worn by chains. At one spot where
this occurs, a piece of marble worked
in the form of a sharp cone is inserted
in the pavement. Sir W. Gell con-
jectured that it was a place of punish-
ment for slaves, and that they were
drawn up the wall so that the foot only
should rest upon the cone. The re-

ins of two fc ins may be traced in
different parts of the street. At the
end was found a skeleton, with a wire
bag in his hand containing 360 silver
coins, 6 of gold, and 42 of bronze;
several rings and cameos, which he was
also carrying away, were found near
him. We shall now proceed to notice
the few remaining houses we have to
describe. They all lie ou the S. of
this street, between it and the southern
wall of the city. Begioning at the
end nearest the Forum, adjoining
what is called the Scuola Pubblica, is
the

House of the Wild Boar (1816), so
called from a mosaic in the prothyrum
or porch, representing a wild boar
attacked by two dogs. In the atrium,
also, are some mosaics of great beauty,
one of which is supposed to represent
the walls of the city.

House of the Ac:couchewr (1817),
sometimes called the House of the
Graces, from a picture found on one
of its walls. The instruments dis-
covered in this house abundantly
justify its present title. They were
70 in number, and many of them were
arranged in cases like those now used
for the same purpose. Among them
were different kinds of forceps, cathe-
ters, and the speculum uteri which has
been patented in our day in England
as a modern invention. The numerous
pestles and mortars of various sizes,
the wooden box still containing the
material of pills converted into an
earthly substance, the roll prepared
for cutting into pills, the marble slabs
for rolling it, and others for making
ointments, all proved that the owner
enjoyed an extensive practice in his
branch of the profession. On one of
the walls are the remains of a painting
which affords an instructive example of
thedrawing of the Roman painters: the
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colour has entirely flown, but the out-
line remains, cut into the plaster by
some sharp instrument. The singular
brouze statue of a boy with glass eyes,
and some specimens of lace now in the
Museum, were found in one of the
apartments.

XVI. The street which leads S.
from the corner of this house is called
the Street of the Dii Consentes, from &
painting on the right wall near the
angle, representing the 12 superior divi-
nities, with the tutelary serpents under-
neath. Juno wears a blue robe, Diana
a yellow one, and Venus a pale green
more transparent than the d of the
other goddesses. A few houses have
heen excavated along the line of this
street, which may be briefly noticed : —

Howuse of Hero and Leander (1838),
a small house on the left hand, exca-
vated, like many of the others in this
quarter, at the expense of King Lewis
of Bavaria,

House of Auge and Hercules (1839),
at the rear of the Scuola Pubblica ; so
called from a picture, illustrating &
well-known incident in the history of
the mother of Telephus.

House of Bread (1829), (Casa di
Pane), a small house containing no-
thing now- to call for a description.

House of Apollo and Coronis (18183),
supposed to have been the residence of
a physician, from the painting which
gives it name, representing the fatal
love of the mother of ZEsculapi

House of Adonis (1813), called also
the House of Diana, the former name
being derived from a beautiful painting
of Venus and Adonis; the latter from
a marble statue of the goddess found
in one of the rooms. The whole house
was decorated with great taste ; some
paintings of sea horses gambolling are
full of grace and spirit. In front of
the h waus a public altar, evidently
erected for the purpose of offering sa-
crifice to some deity, whose image was
painted on the external wall.

House of Queen Caroline (1813), the
“ Casa Carolina,” adjoining the one
just described ; a very interesting house
of the second class, with a Corinthian
atrium, the roof supported by square
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pillars which surrounded the court of
the impluvium, and were pmmed with
folisge to represent creeping plants
growing from the court: the kitchen
had windows opening to the street. A
narrow passage leads from the atrium
to another series of apartments, having
a distinct entrance from the street, and
containing in the court, instead of the
ordinary tricliniuro, a semicircular
couch of stone, the sigma of Martial,
the only example which has yet been
discovered. When this double house
was first excavated, its walls were de-
corated with beautiful paintings, many
of which perished immediately after
they were exposed to the atmosphere.
Fortunately, however, Mazois was pre-
sent when they were discovered, and
weare indebted to his ready pencil for
the knowledge of a most curious re-
presentation of a painter’s studio, in
which all the figures were grotesques.

Some of the more permanent paintings
of a higher class, though far less in-
terestlng than this picture of daily life,
are now in the Museum. In the vici-
nity of this house seven skeletons were
found, with 68 gold coins of Nero,
Vespasian, and Titus, 1065 silver
coins, pear] ear-rings, and numerous
other articles of personal ornament or
doniestic use.

Howxse of the Urder-ground Kitchens,
at the extremity of the street beyond
the * Casa Carolina,” the most southern
house yet excavated, remarkable only
for the arrang of the 1
rendered necessary on this site by the
rapid slope of the ground towards the
ancient line of the sea shore.

XVIIL From this point we return
to the E. corner of the Street of
Abundance, where it meets the cross
strect leading to the theatre, to ex-
amine the

House of the Physician, situated at
the 8. W, corner of the Quadrivium,
It derives its name from the objects
found in it, and now contains nothing
which requires a particular description.
The statueof Abundance, already men-
tioned, was found standing in the
centre of this Quadrivium.

House of the Emperor Francis 11,
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(1819), a small bouse adjoining the
one just mentioned, and so called be-
cause it was opened in the presence of
his Imperial Majesty. It has a pe-
ristyle and some wall paintings of no
great interest. Some gold ornaments,
a silver vase, a vase of bronze very deli-
cately worked, and a terra-cotta statue,
were the principal objects discovered
in the apartments.

House of the Emperor Joseph II.
(1767-69).—Following the street of
the theatre, we find at its S, extremity
the house which bears this name, oc-
cupying rather more than half of the W.
side of the Triangular Forum. As it
was one of the first private houses ex-
cavated, the rooms were refilled with
earth as soon as they were examined,
in accordance with the unscientific
practice of that time. It appears,
however, that it was a mansion of great
magnificence, of three stories, and %o
situated on the rising ground which
overlooked the sea, that on entering
the principal door, the visitor must
have commanded a noble view of the
Sorrentine shore, through the whole
perspective of the interior. The S.
side appears to have d upon a
garden sloping gradually down to the
shore, like the villas already examined
in the neighbourhood of the Hercu-
laneum Gate. A skeleton of a woman
was found in the furnace room of the
bath.

House of the Triumphant Hercules
(1847), called also the « Casa della So-
natrice,” from a picture of a young girl
in one of the rooms playing the double
flute. This is the most important dis-
covery made in the excavations of re-
cent years. Itis a doublehouse, of three
stories, with an open atrium bordered
by the usual apartments, a triclinium
of great magnificence, and a reception
room or tablinum, opemng upon a
garden at the back, conmmng an im-
pluvium in perfect preservation, which
bas been allowed to r¢main exactly as
it was found. The atrium is paved
with mosaics, and the walls of the en-
tire building are highly decorated with
paintings. In the small sleeping rooms
at the side are pictures representing




354

Cupid riding on a Dolphin, bearing a
letter from Galatea to Polyphemus;
the favourite subject of Venus fishing;
a Narcissus ; Victory in her car; some
Cupids svnmmmg ; #nd several land-

The triclintum, in which the
feet of the couches were found richly
ornamented with silver, has three large
pictures, of life size, representing Her-
cules at the Court of Omphale, the
latter wearing the lion's skin and hold.
ing the club of her lover; the boy
Bacchus with Silenus on a cart drawn
by oxen, and followed by Bacchantes;
and a bacchanali ion, with
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second and third floors wereapproached
by a broad staircase. Near the foot
of the stairs is a picture, in which a
letter is introduced with the name and
rank of the presumed owner of the
house on the superscription. It is
now scarcely legible, but enough has
been deciphered to show that he was
one of the municipal decurions.

XVIII. Having now completed an
examination of the private houses, we
proceed to the interesting quarter of
the theatres.

The Iha-gular Forum (1764) isa

d,

pr
Victory recording on a shield the ex-
ploits of the triumphant demigod. The
tablinum is paved with coloured mar-
bles, arranged in checquers, and the
charcoal fragments still visible in the
panels of its walls show that it was
decorated with paintings on wood.
The garden contains at one end a foun-
tain adorned with mosaics, and a small
marble statue of Silenus, and in the
centre an impluvium or reservoir, sur-
rounded by statues in bad taste, but
curious from their variety and arrange-
ment ; among them are, Love riding
a dolphin, a bearded satyr, a stag, a
fawn extracting a thorn from a goat's
foot, a goat caressing its young one
lying in the lap of a shepherdess, and
others which we need not particularise.
Attached to this house is a second se-
ries of apartments, including an open
atrium, a kitchen, and other rooms,
apparently intended for the servants.
In the court was found a four-wheeled
waggon, with iron wheels, and adorned
with bronze ornaments. Several ele-
gant vases, candelabra, glass bottles in
the form of animals, some surgical in-
struments, and bronze coins were found
in the different rooms, which were
decorated with pictures of tragic and
comic scenes ; one of them represented
a young actress in & mask playing the
double flute, from which the house,
when first excavated, derived its name.
The kitchen was furnished with nu.
merous culinary vessels in bronze, and
still retained in many parts the traces
of smoke. We have already stated
that the house had three stories. The

tri , with a portico of
90 columns on two of its sides, fonmng
the piazza of the great theatre. It is
about 450 feet long on the eastern side,
and is supposed to be nearly 300 on the
western; the third side had no portico,
and appears to have been lined with
small apartments, but that side has
not been completely cleared. ‘The
area is entered ou the N. by a propy-
leum or vestibule of eight Grecian
Tonic columns, raised upon two steps,
with a fountainin front of one of the
columns. This vestibule leads us into
the colonnade, which is of the Dorie
order, and still retains some fragments
of the iron bars inserted between the
columns to protect it from a sudden
rush of people. In different parts of
this col deare threeent to the
‘Great Theatre, and one to the Barracks
for the Troops, which lie beyond it.
Paraliel to the portico on this side is
a long low wall, extending nearly to
the bhottom of the triangular Forum ;
it is terminated at the N. end by a
pedestal, with the inscription “« M.
Claudio, M. F. Marcello Patrono;"”
and at the S. end by two altars and a
circular building in front of a remark-
able temple, which we shall describe
before we enter the theatre.

Temple of Neptune (1767-69), for-
merly called the Temple of Hercules,
the most ancient building yet disco-
vered, situated on the highest ground
within the circuit of the walls, at a
distance of 400 feet from the old sea-~
line, so that it must have formed s
striking object from every part of the
bay. Its high antiquity is proved by
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the large size of its Grecian Doric co-
lumns, the great depth and projection
of the abacus, and by the general con-
struction of the building, which more
resembles that of the Terples of Pees-
tum, though of course on a much
smaller scale than anything with which
it can be compared elsewhere. It is
therefore supposed tohave been erected
by the earliest colonists. From its
ruined state it is difficult to define its
peculiar features ; but so far as we can
now judge, it appears to have stood
upon a basement or podium of 5 steps,
and to have been 120 feet long, exclu-
sive of the steps, and 70 feet wide. It
had a cella paved with mosaics, and
entirely surrounded by a peristyle of
columns, 3 feet 11 inches in diameter at
their base, and presenting the remark-
able singulurity of having, like the Ba-
silica of Pestum, an odd number of
columns, 7 in fmnt, and 11 at the sides.
The masonry was covered with stueco.
In front of the steps is an enclosure,

pposed to have d the victims
for the sacrifice, and at the side are the
two altars already mentioned, with the
remains of 3 smaller one between them.
Beyond this enclosure are the remains
of a smallcircular temple of eight Doric
eolumns, which covered a puteal or well
pr d by a circular perforated altar.
Its use is doubtful, some supposing
that it supplied the water used in the
sacritices; others that it was an expia-
tory altar marking the situation of a
bidental, a spot on which a thunderbolt
had fallen, and which, it is superfluous
to” add, was always held in peculiar
sanctity. An Etruscan inscription was
found near it recording that Nitrebius,
for the second time Meddixtuticus,
erected it. At the W. angle of the
temple is a small hemicycle, a semi-
circular seat of stone, facing the 8., in
which a sun dial was discovered. It
must have commanded s glorious view,
and have been close to the sea wall of
the city, which explains the absence
of the portico on this side of the Forum.
We have mentioned the small apart-
ments in this part of the enclosure. It
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sepulchral chambers. Several skele-
tons have been found in them, one
wearing two armlets of gold, and ano-
ther wearing on the leg a ring of
bronze and one of silver, linked toge-
ther. Near them were found a sacri-
ficial koife in silver, engraved with
figures of Bacchus and Isis, several
pateree and other vessels used at the
sacrifices, and adorned with bas-reliefs
of Isiac subjects. From these dueo-
veries the two skeletons are supp

to be those of the high priests.

The Great (or Tragic) Theatre
(1764), a very large and imposing
structure, conveniently placed on the
southern slope of a hill of tufs, in
which the seats were cut without the
necessity of extensive substructions.
It was, of course, semicircular and
open to the air, and was lined in every
part, seats, stairs, walls, orchestra, and
stage, with plates of Parian marble.
The seats faced the sea, so that the
audience must have commanded an
uninterrupted view of the bay during
the whole performance. The elevated
position of the building cousiderably
above the general level of the city, and
the great height of the external wall
appear to have preserved it in some
measure from the fate which befell the
houses in the plain. The upper part
was not huried at all by the ashes, and
even the stage was covered with so
slight a deposit that the citizens were
able, after the eruption, to remove all
the scenic decorations, the furniture of
the stage, the principal statues, and a
large quantity of the marble lining.
Many of these were no doubt compa-
ratively new, as Nero's interdiction of
theatrical amusements expired only ten
years befure the destruction of the city,
and hence there was the stronger reason
for recovering them. In spite, how-
ever, of these spoliations, the interior
is still sufficiently perfect to explain
itself far better than the most elaborate
description unaccompanied by draw-
ings. The general audience, or the
plebeians, entered the theatre by an
arched corridor on a level with the

is not clearly ascertained whether they
were the residences of the priests or

1 de of the Triangular Forum,
and descended thence into the body of
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the house, called the caves, by six
flights of stairs, which divided the seats
into five wedge-shaped portions, ap-
propriately called cunei. The doors
of the corridor at the head of these
stairs, were called the vomitories.
Many of the seats still retain their
numbers and divisions; we are thus
enabled to ascertain that the space
allowed to each person was 1 foot 3}
inches. By making th:s the basis of
his lculation, Mr. D 1d esti-
mated the theatre as capable of con-
taining 5000 persons. A separate en-
trance and staircase led to the women's
gallery, which was placed above tbe
corridor we have deicribed, and was
divided into compartments, precisely
like the boxes in a modern theatre.
It appears also from the fragments of
iron still visible in the coping, that
they were protected from the gaze of
the audience by a light screen of iron
work. Below, in what we should call
the pit, a semircular passage, bounded
by a tall wall, called the prmnctlo,
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upon a pivot, and thet the ancient
drama was unassisted by those illusions
of perspective which constitute the art
of the modern scene painter. The
wall at the back of the stage was called
the scena; it has three doors, the cen-
tral one circular and flanked by co-
lumns. the two side ones tectangular.
Behind it is the post m, in-
ing the ;partxnenu for the actors. It
remaius only to add that the exterior
of the upper wall of the cavea still
retains the projecting stone rings for
receiving the poles of the velarium or
awning, by which, on special occasions,
the audience were protected from the
heat of the sun. Several inscriptions,
greatly mutilated, were found in dif
ferent parts of this theatre, some of
which are preserved in the colonnade
near the Tavern, where the gallery has
been restored by S. Lavega, the archi-
tect, in accordance with the ipdications
left upon the wall by the carbonised
fragments of the ancient wood work.
Many of the inscriptions are conjec-

separated the seats of the p
from the privileged seats reserved for
the equestrian order, the Augustals,
the tribunes, and other important per-
sonages. These seats were entered by
a separate passage, communicating
with an area behind the scenes. The
level semicircular platform in front of
the privileged seats, was called the
orchestra, and upon it were placed the
bisellii, or bronze seats for the chief
magistrates. On each side of the or-
chestra are Taised seats, entered from
the stage, supposed to have been ap-
propriated, like private boxes, to the
person who provided the entertain-
ment, or to the suite of the magistrates,
In the proscenium, or the wall which
supported the stage, are seven recesses,
in which probably the musicians were
stationed. The stage, or pulpitum,
appears from the pedestals and niches,
which remain, to have been decorated
with statues. It is a long and narrow
pluform. quite disproportionate to the
size of the house uccordmg to our
notions of stage effect ; but it must be
remembered that the scenes of a Roman
theatre were very simple and revolved

tural restorati but enough of the
ancient letters remained to show that
Holconius Rufus, sonof Marcus Rufus,
a duumvir, erected the theatre, and that
the colony acknowledged his services
by dedicating a statue to his honour.
This latter fact appears from the re-
mains of an inscription in bronze let-
ters on the first step of the orchestra,
with a space in the middle for the
statue; the metal has been removed,
but the apertures which contained it
are still visible in the marble,

The Small Theatre,or Odeum (1796).
—From the E. end of the stage of the

"Great Theatre a covered portico led

into the orchestra of the small one,
which is supposed to have bLeen used
for musical performances. It is similar
in its general arrangement to the larger
theatre, but is different in form, the
semicircle being cut off by straight
walls from each end of the stage, an
innovation which proves that it is a
more recent building. The general
style and execution of the work also
shows an inferiority, the causes of
which may possibly be explained by
an inscription recording that it was
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erected by contract. It appears, how-
ever, to have had an advantage not
enjoyed by the other, in having been
permanently roofed, the same inserip-
tion describing it as the ¢ ‘Theatrum
tectum.” The seats of the audience
i this theatre were separated, by a
przcinetio or passage, from the four
tiers of benches which held the bisellii
or chairs of state. This passage was
bounded on the side of the cavea by a
wall, the ends of which were orna-
mented with kneeling figures which
are supposed to have sustained lights.
‘The parapet on the stage side of the
passage, forming the back of the pri-
vileged seats, terminated at each end
in a griffon’s leg. The pavement of
the orchestra is of giallo antico, African
breccia, and purple marble. A band
of grey and white marble runs directly
across it, bearing the following in-
seription in large inlaid bronze let-
ters: — “ M. Oculatius, M. F. Verus,
1L Vir, pro. ludis.,” but the letters
bave heen so ofien loosened and mis-
placed, that some have read the name
4 M. Olconius.” ‘The inscription pro-
bably means that he presented the
pavement to the theatre. In the cor-
ridor which runs round the buck of
the house to give access to the seats,
several inseriptions in rude Oscan let-
ters were found upon the plaster of the
walls, the work probably of some ple-
beian idler who could not find a seat.
The stage presents nothing to require
notice. In the postscenium were
found some fragments of a bisellium
decorated with ivery bas-reliefs, and
portions of its cloth cushion. The
theatre is estimated to have held 1500
persons.

Th: Iseon (1765), is a small, but
exceedingly interesting and perfect
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from its foundations by Numerinus
Popidius Celsinus, at his own cost,
after it had been thrown down by an
earthquake; and his elevation by the
Decurions to their own rank as an
acknowledgment of his liberality. The
word AEdes is here used to distinguish
the building from a ‘I'emple, which was
always a consecrated edifice, whereas
the worship of Isis had been forbidden
by a decree of the Roman Senate, ». .
57, and was therefore only tolerated.
The court presents all the arrange.
ments of the Isiac worship. In one
corner is an sediculum with a vaulted
roof and pediment over the door, cover-
ing the sacred well of lustral purifica-
tion, to which there was a descent by
steps. It was st d and painted
throughout in the most grotesque style.
Near it is un altar, on which were
found the burnt bones of victims which
had just been sacrificed; and several
other altars are placed in different
parts of the court. In a niche of the
wall facing the Zdes was a figure of
Harpocrates, with his finger on his lip
to enjoin silence upon the worshippers
in regard to the wysteries they might
witness. In another part was a figure
of Isis in purple drapery, partly gilt,
holding a bronze sistrum and a key.
On the south side were the chambers
for the priests, and a kitchen for cook-
ing the meats they were permitted to
eat. In one of the rooms a skeleton was
found holding a sacrificial axe, with
which he had cut through two walls,
in the vain attempt to escape from the
eruption, but perished before he could
penetrate the third. In a larges room
behind the /Edes another skeleton was
found with bones of chickens, egg-
shells, fish-bones, bread, wine, and a
garland of flowers, as if he had been

building, standing on a | t or
podium, in tlie centre of a court sur-
rounded by a Corinthian portico of
small columns only 10 feet high, with
puinted shafts. The two which flank
the entrance had attached to them the
lustral basins which are now in the
Museum, and a wooden money-box.
Over the entrance is an inscription
recording the erection of the .Edes

at di when the building was over-
whelined. Many other skeletons were
found in other parts of the enclosure :
showing that the hierophants of Isis,
unlike the priests of the other temples
we have described, did not desert her
« fane so long divine,” but remained to
the last in the coufident belief that the
goddess would come to save them. The
Zdes, which consists of a single cella,
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stands, as we have said, on an elevated
basement, the front of which is broken
in the centre by a narrow projecting
flight of steps, lanked by two altars,one
for the votive offerings, the other pro-
bably for the sacred fire. In front of
the cella is a Corinthian portico of six
columns, having at each angle a small
wing with a niche between two pilasters
supporting & pediment. In these
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scription was found on the wall which
separates the court from the Iseon,
stating that the Curia was used by the
priests of Isis, as a place of instruction
for the novitiates.

Temple of Esculapius (1766), a
name given to it by Winckelmann, but
subsequently changed, with very little
reason, for that of Jupiter and June.
It is a diminutive but evidently very

niches the celebrated Isiac tables of
basalt, now in the Museum, were dis-
covered. Behind one of these were
secret steps and a side door leading to
the cella. The exterior of the build-
ing and the portico were covered with
stucco ornaments of a very ordinary
character. ‘The interior of the cella
is small and shallow, the entire width
being occupied with a long hollow
table or pedestal for statues, having
two low doorways at the end near the
secret stairs, by which the priests could
enter unperceived, and deliver the ora-
cles as if they proceeded from the statue
of the goddess hersclf. Besides this
statue, several small ones of Venus,
Bacchus, Osiris, and Prispus, were
discovered in the cella or its precincts,
all of them being close imitations of
Egyptian art. ‘The walls, also, were
covered with pictures of the same cha-
racter, many of which were of great
interest as illustrating the Isiac mys-
teries: but as the most valuable have
long since been removed, it would be
tedious to describe them. Fontana's
aqueduct ran directly under this court,
a cir which renders it almost
incredible that the foundations he must
have met with, did not induce him to
institute an investigation which would
have led to the discovery of the city
before the close of the 16th century.
Isiac Curia (1769), formerly called
the Tribunal, the School, and the Lec-
ture Room. It is an oblong open
court, 79 feet by 57, surrounded on
three sides by a portico of Doric co-
lumns, and having two small rooms at
one end. In front of the portico is a
stone pulpit, with a pedestal in front
and a flight of steps behind, from which
the lecturer is supposed to have ad-
dressed his audience. An Oscan in-

ple, of good proportions,
standing on a low basement or platform
ascended by nine steps from the courtin
front. The cella contained terra-cotta
statues of Asculapius and Hygeia. In
the centre of the court is a large altar,
the frieze of which is composed of
triglyphs with volutes at the corners,
bearing a stiong resemblance to the
Tomb of Scipio in the Vatican.

Homse of the Sculptor (1798 ), a small
house between the temple just de-
scribed and the two theatres, derivi
its name from the numerous articles it
contsined, not only identifying the
building as the studio of a sculptor,
but affording a most instructive insight
into the practice of his art in Roman
times. Nearly all the important ob-
jects are now in the Museum; but in
order to connect the house with its
title, we may meution the discovery of
half finished statues, blocks of un-
worked marble, in one of which the
saw remained, a sun dial, a hen's egg
of marble, pots of resin for making the
cement, jacks and levers, chisels and
saws, compasses, calipers, and no less
than 32 mallets.

RBarracks of the Troops (1766-69), a
large and nearly square enclosure, 183
feet long by 148 wide, filling up the
space between the great theatre and
the city wall, and bordered by a Grecian
Doric portico of. 22 columns on the
longer, and of 17 columns on the
shorter sides. It was formerly called
the Forum Nundinarium, or the
Market-place, — a misnomer which no
one could have sanctioned who had ex-
amined the Preetorian Camp at Rome,
or had reflected that a market place
must necessarily have had ample ap-
proach and  spaci entrances,
whereas there were only two mmodes of
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access to this area in ancient times,
the one by & cul-de-sac at the back of
the theatre, the other by a stair commu-
nicating with the Triangular Forum.
The columns of the portico or colon-
nade are covered with stucoo, the lower
third plain and painted red, the upper
portion fluted and painted alternately
red and yellow. Under the portico
are numercus apartmehts of uniform
size for the lodgment of the svldiers, a
mess-room, a guard-house or prison, a
kitchen, supplied with the necessary
eonveniences for cooking for the mess,
stables for horses, an oil-mill, a room for
making soap, and other mincr offices.
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ing apartments numerous helmets of
bronze and iron, richly ornamented
sword-belts of bronze, greaves for the
legs, shields, bolts for the arcbers,
lances, swords, strigils, leather belts,
household utensils, silver and copper
coins, and various minor articles which
it would be tedious to enumerate, were
discovered. In the officers’ rooms on
the upper floor were found helmets of
various kinds, somne with vizors, others
inlaid or covered with exquisite bas-
reliefs, greaves adorned with sculptures
of the same kind, swords of superior
workmanship with ivory handles, and
numerous articles of female dress and

Above was a second floor, approached
by three narrow staircases, and by one
of better construction leading to the
chambers which were evidently occu-
pied by the officers and their families.
This upper floor had a hanging wooden
gallery under the roof of the portico,
of which so many indieations remained
upon the walls that 8. Lavega has re-
stored it on the side now used as a
tavern. When first excavated, every
part of these barracks exhibited remi-
niscences of military life. On the sur-
face of the 9th column of the eastern
portico various inscriptions and draw-
ings were found, rudely scratched upon
the stucco, including the figure of a
fighting gladiator, with his name “ Va-
lerius,” and the numcrals to denote
that he had been 20 times victorious.
Other scribblings and rude sketches,
with several unfinished sentences, were
observed in some of the pubkic rooms;
and on the wall near the small theatre
the names of the three principal gladi-
ators, Pomponius Faustinus, Amplia-
tus, and N. Popidius Rufus, were
found inscribed. On the walls of the
principal apartment on the ground-
floor, which we have called the mess-
roowm, were paintings of two trophies,
one of which still exists in the Museum,
but the other perished b:fore it could
be removed. In the guard-roomn were
found four skeletons with their legs
fastened into iron stocks; the latter
bave been removed to Naples and re-
placed by a model; but the skulls have
been allowed to remain. In the sleep-

d tion, of the richest kind, proving
that the families of the officers lived in
the barracks with them. Among the
personal ornaments were two necklaces
of massive gold, one of which was set
with twelve emeralds, several gold
rings, ear-rings, and bracelets contain.
ing precious stones, gilt pins for the
hair, and chests of fine linen and cloth
of gold. Onue of these upper rooms
ined 18 skeletons of men, ,
and children, one of a mere infant, and
several of dogs. In a stable near the
foot of the staircusc was found a skele-
ton of a horse, the remains of harness
with bronze ornaments, and the bay
stuffing of a saddle. Under the stair-
case was found the skeleton of a man
carrying two cups and & saucer of silver.
Inside one of the entrance gates S4
skelctons were found together, those,
doubtless, of the guard who had been
called out on the fatal night. The total
number of skeletons found in the bar-
racks was 63, a remarkable and affect-
ing proof of the disciplineof the Roman
soldier, who knew that it was his duty
to die at his post, and whose death in
this instance was shared by those who
were dearer to him than life itself.
XIX. At the distance of 600 yards
from the Barracks and the Theatres is
the Amphitheatre (1748-1816), in the
S.E. angle of the city walls, near the
Gate of the Sarno. This isa very in-
teresting example of the Roman Am-
phitheatre, more recent and less perfect
in the substructions of the arena than
that of Capua, but more ancient than
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the Coliseum of Rome, which was not
completed till the year after the de-
struction of Pompeii. Its form, as
usual, is elliptical. The major axis,
including the walls, is 430 feet, being
190 less than that of the Coliseum;
the minor axis is 335 feet, 178 less
than that of the Coliseum. Like the
great theatre it is cut out of a hill, so
that it has fewer substructions than
usual in such edifices, and is altogether
wanting in that regular and massive
masonry which forms so imposing a
feature in the Coliseum and in the
Amphitheatre of Nismes. Such ma-
sonry as we sce here is the rough work
called opus incertwm, with quoins of
squared stone; the marble plates, asin
the theatre, must have been removed
after the eruption, and nothing of a de-
corative kind is now visible except a
few sculptured key stones of little in-
terest. The interior contained 24 rows
of scats, separated as usual into dif-
ferent ranges, according to the rank of
the occupants, each range being ap-
proached by a distinet entrance from
two different galleries, of which the
large one had no less than -40 vomito-
ries, communicating with as many
flights of stairs which divided the seats
into cunei. To facilitate this arrange-
ment, the arches of entrance were num-
bered; and the tickets of admission, as
may be seen in two examples in the
Museum which Sir W, Gell has en-
graved, bore corresponding rs,
50 that the spectators eould proceed at
once to their appointed seats without
difficulty or confusion. The lower
range, containing the privileged seats
of the Magistrates, was entered by the
arcade of the arena; the second, con-
taining the seats for the middle clasves,
was reached by stairs placed between
them and the outer wall; the third, ap-
propriuted to the plebeians, was ap.
prodched likewise by stairs, as was also
a gallery placed above all and divided
into boxes for the womén. Outside the
wall of this gallery are the perforated
stones for the poles of the velarium.
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inscriptions were found, recording the
names of the Duumviri who had pre-
sided over the games, together with
several paintings of gladiatorial scenes,
all of which have perished or been re-
moved. The entrances at each end of
the arena, for the admission of the gla-
diators and wild beasts and for the
removal of the dead, are still perfect.
Of the games practised in this arena
it is unnecessary to give any account,
for the bas-reliefs on the tomb of
Scaurus, described at p. 329, afford so
complete an idea of the gladiatoriel
exhibitions that it would be impossible
in the space at our command to add to
their instructive details. From a care-
ful measurement of the seats of this
amphitheatre, it is calculated that it
could accommodate 10,000 persons, ex-
clusive of the standing room. This
fact, taken in connection with the state-
ment of Dion Cassius, that the citizens
were assembled here at the outbreak of
the eruption, will explain the small
loes of life, compared with the extent
of the population, which the catastrophe
ppears to have ioned. The audi-
ence, on quitting this amphitheatre,
finding themselves cut off from the rest
of the city by the falling ashes, appear
to have made their way to the Sarno
which ran at a short distance from the
adjoining gate, and either embarked in
the boats and vessels which they found
there, or escaped to the hills about
Nola, Nocera, and Avellino. It will
be re bered that the amphitheatre,
20 years defore, had been the scene of
thatsanguinary fight between the people
of Nocera and the Pompeians, which
induced Nero to deprive the latter of
theatrical amusements for 10 years,
Forum Boariwm (1754), a large
square area N. of the Amphitheatre,
supposed, as its name indicates, to
have been a cattle market; but it
was covered up as soon as it was
excavated.
Villa of Julia Felir (1754-55), a
square enclosure adjoining the Forum
Boarium, one of the first objects ex-

The privileged seats tere sep |
from the arena by a high parapet, on
which, when first excavated, numerous

ca d, but i diately covered up
again according to the practice of that
time. It is said to bave contained



